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1. general information

1.1. General Information
Registered Name
Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency

Registered Office Address
28 Alexandra Road
King Williams Town
5600

Registered Postal Address
P O Box 495
King Williams Town
5600

Contact Telephone Number:
043 604 7000

Contact Fax Number
043 642 5824

Email Address
info@ecrda.co.za

Website Address
www.ecrda.co.za

External Auditors
The Auditor General, South Africa

Bankers Information
First National Bank
Standard Bank of South Africa

Company Secretary
Mr Luvuyo Thomas



1.2. List of Abbreviations/Acronyms

APP   Annual Performance Plan 

ARDA   Agrarian Research and Development Agency

AsgiSA-EC  AsgiSA Eastern Cape

CASP   Comprehensive Agricultural Support Programme

CEO   Chief Executive Officer

CFO   Chief Financial Officer

CHDM   Chris Hani District Municipality

COE   Centre of Excellence

COO   Chief Operating Officer

CPA   Communal Property Association

DAFF   Department of Forestry and Fisheries

DEDEAT   Department of Economic Development, Environmental Affairs and Tourism

DRDAR   Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform

DTI   Department of Industry

ECDC   Eastern Cape Development Corporation

ECRDA   Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency

ECRFC   Eastern Cape Rural Finance Corporation

EIA   Environmental Impact Assessment

FOB   Free on Board

Ha   Hectares

HDI   Historically Disadvantaged Individual

HIPPS   High Impact Priority Programmes

ICT   Information and Communication Technology

IDC   Industrial Development Corporation

IDP   Integrated Development Plan

ISRDS   Integrated Sustainable Rural Development Strategy

IT   Information Technology

IDT   Independent Development Trus

JFA   Jobs Fund Agreement

LMS   Loan Management System

LRAD   Land Redistribution for Agricultural Development

MAFISA   Micro Agriculture Finance Institute of South Africa

MOU   Memorandum of Understanding 

MPL   Member of the Provincial Legislature

NCA   National Credit Act

NCR   National Credit Regulator

PFA   Project Funding Agreement

PFMA   Public Finance Management Act 

PMU   Programme Management and Operations Unit

SCM   Supply Chain Management

SDF   Spatial Development Framework

VCS   Video Conferencing System

WSU   Walter Sisulu University



1.3. Strategic Overview
The Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency (ECRDA) 
resulted from an integration of the Eastern Cape Rural 
Finance Corporation (ECRFC) and AsgiSA-EC. The 
overarching reason for the integration of these entities was 
to achieve synergistic results and get greater efficiencies 
and effectiveness in the implementation of an integrated 
and holistic rural development programme in the province.  

The Vision of the ECRDA is to be a leading and vibrant 
organisation that improves livelihoods and develops 
sustainable rural communities and development initiatives 
in the Eastern Cape.

While the Mission of the Agency is to accelerate 
implementation of identified high impact priority rural 
development programmes and unlock dormant potential 
or resources through partnerships with the village as the 
centre of operation.

The new rural development agency has a dedicated 
focus on consolidating, promoting and ensuring the 
implementation of a comprehensive integrated rural 
development strategy for the Eastern Cape Province.

The medium-term focus areas are to:
•	 increase	sustainable	public	and	private	 investment	 in	

rural areas;
•	 To	 improve	 the	 provision	 of	 rural	 development,		

financial services, and investments to unlock local 
economic development potential;

•	 increase	rural	household	income	by	generating	decent	
work opportunities;

•	 contribute	towards	food	security;		and
•	 stimulate	 sustainable	 economic	 opportunities	 and	

economic activity in rural communities.
 
Towards these ends, the core functions of the ECRDA are 
organised to embrace high level programme implementation, 
stakeholder relations, rural finance and investments. 

In the short-term, a significant focus area will be the 
alignment and development of existing skills to ensure 
that the available resources are adequately equipped to 
implement the strategy of the ECRDA. The ECRDA will re-
engineer and streamline the business processes of the 
integrated institutions in order to support an efficient and 
effective development organisation. 

In the previous financial years, the integrated entities made 
significant strides towards food security by continuously 
ensuring that cropping is facilitated by own and private 
sector funding for at least 10 000 hectare. 

In addition, the ECRDA will continue to accommodate 
initiatives that were commenced during the operations 
of the ECRFC and AsgiSA-EC, particularly with respect to: 
Agriculture with special reference to the livestock and 

cropping programmes and Agro-Processing; Forestry and 
Timber Development, Renewable and Alternative Energy.

Other ECRDA Strategic 
Considerations
The strategic considerations of the ECRDA during the year 
under review reflected the revised approach that has been 
adopted and are outlined in the set of strategic goals and 
strategic objectives that are directly linked to the Vision 
and Mission of the Agency. It is important to state that the 
most significant challenge for ECRDA during the 2012/13 
financial year was to ensure that adequate resources are 
secured to enable the Agency to undertake the activities 
indicated in the five-year strategic plan.

As stated elsewhere in this report, the White Paper for 
Agrarian Transformation in the Eastern Cape confirms the 
vision for rural development that is articulated in the National 
Integrated Sustainable Rural Development Strategy (ISRDS) 
namely “sustainable growth and development for improved 
quality of life”. This vision is elaborated as follows, “to attain 
socially cohesive and stable communities with viable 
institutions, sustainable economies and universal access to 
social amenities, able to attract skilled and knowledgeable 
people, equipped to contribute to their own and the nation’s 
growth and development.”

In practice, this means rural communities having access 
to: quality physical, social and economic infrastructure; 
land and other natural resources becoming viable assets 
in the hands of the rural poor; indigenous knowledge 
and cultural value systems being harnessed for human 
and social development; a vibrant arts and cultural life 
being encouraged; and rural communities having access 
to information, communication and technology. Rural 
communities must be involved in a process of regeneration 
and there should be no obstacles to the full development 
of human potential. 

The above vision served as a motivation for the Agency 
in implementing the 2012/13 Operational Plan and will 
continue to inspire the Agency to work tirelessly towards 
transformed rural areas that are socially and economically 
developed, as well as to establish an institutional 
environment conducive to rural development.

Values and Guiding Principles
The Agency subscribes to key values that are embedded 
in its day-to-day operations. Among the key values 
are: transparency; excellence; honesty and integrity; 
innovation; commitment to empowerment of the rural 
poor; and Ubuntu.



Strategic Goals
The Agency crafted four strategic goals that were approved 
by the Board during the year under review. The Agency’s 
energy was directed towards the following strategic goals 
and respective strategic objectives:

Strategic Goal 1:  Competent and Sustainable Rural 
Development Organisation
Strategic Objectives: Corporate Governance, Risk Management 
and Compliance Promotion

The ECRDA recognises that in order to build a strong, 
accountable and reputable Agency, ECRDA must vigorously 
implement good governance principles and maintain 
compliance to all applicable policies and legislation.

Strategic Goal 2:   Researched, Viable and Sustainable 
Rural Clusters and Nodes:
Strategic Objective: Community Clusters and Nodes Identified 
and Developed

The ECRDA recognises that in order to impact upon the 
livelihood of the communities within a specific geographical 
space, nodes and clusters will have to be identified and 
developed.  Therefore, the Agency will need to research and 
spatially map comparative advantages of such nodes and 
clusters and to align these with municipal level Integrated 
Development Plans (IDPs), Local Area Based Plans and Spatial 
Development Frameworks (SDFs). Local area research will be 
coupled with market and value-chain research to identify 
markets with limited barriers to entry.

Strategic Goal 3:  Effective Programme Management 
and Implementation 
Strategic Objective: Viable and Sustainable Programmes 
Identified and Implemented

The ECRDA recognises that there are numerous rural 
development interventions. Therefore, in order to maximise 
the economic and social benefit to rural communities in the 
Eastern Cape, programmes must be effectively planned, 
co-ordinated and implemented, as well as monitored, 
controlled and evaluated, with adequate feedback into 
successful or non-successful implementation.

Strategic Goal 4:  Stakeholder Management and 
Functional Partnerships
Strategic Objective: Functional Partnerships Established

The ECRDA recognises that in order to implement and 
galvanise support for projects, appropriate partners must be 
attracted. Therefore, the ECRDA target is to have functional 
partnerships in villages, farms and all nodes where ECRDA 
operates, with Centre of Excellence (COE) supported by 
the necessary infrastructure, such as strategic partnerships 
with financial institutions and other governments.

The implementation and outcome of each above strategic 
goal and corresponding key strategic objective has been 
narrated and reported upon in the section dealing with 
Performance Information.

1.4. Legislative and Other 
Mandates
The ECRDA is a Schedule 3C entity in terms of the Public 
Finance Management Act (PFMA).  It was established as 
a result of an integration of two public entities, namely 
the Eastern Cape Rural Finance Corporation (ECRFC) and 
AsgiSA-Eastern Cape (Pty) Ltd.  ECRDA has a dedicated 
focus on formulating, promoting and ensuring the 
implementation of a comprehensive integrated rural 
development strategy for the Eastern Cape Province. 

Legislative Mandate
•	 The	 legislative	mandate	of	 the	ECRDA	 is	 informed	by	

Section 3 of the Eastern Cape Rural Finance Corporation 
Amendment Act of 2012 (Act No. 1 of 2012).

•	 The	 White	 Paper	 for	 Agrarian	 Transformation	 in	 the	
Eastern Cape confirms the vision for rural development 
that is articulated in the national Integrated Sustainable 
Rural Development Strategy (ISRDS) namely, “sustainable 
growth and development for improved quality of life.”  
The ECRDA bases its activities on the above.

 Given the complexity of the existing operating 
environment and the history of fragmented approaches 
to rural development that have resulted in a plethora 
of organisations engaged in dealing with rural 
improvement, some more successfully than others, 
the process of amalgamation and integration was 
seen as a first step in addressing the current challenges 
facing the implementation of rural development in the 
Eastern Cape Province.

 In order to come to grips with these challenges, the 
approach adopted by the ECRDA is based on effective 
collaboration with existing institutions that will 
eventually result in an ideal end-state that is based on 
a systematic consideration of the following:

•	 Alignment	to	the	Provincial	Rural	Development	Strategy.
•	 Alignment	 to	 the	 Provincial	 Development	 and	

Growth Plan.
•	 Lessons	learnt	from	current	and	past	attempts	at	rural	

development. 
•	 How	a	single	entity	may	learn	from	these	lessons	and	

improve on past attempts.
•	 Key	 focus	 areas	 for	 achieving	 sustainable	 rural	

development.
•	 A	desired	business	model	for	a	single	rural	development	

entity designed to optimally meet these focus areas.
•	 The	 strategic	 and	 operational	 capacity	 of	 existing	

rural development entities in aligning to the current 
provincial imperatives.

Mandate of the ECRDA
The objectives of the Agency are to promote, support and 
facilitate rural development in the province by:
(a) mobilising financial resources and providing financial 



and supportive services to persons domiciled, ordinarily resident or carrying on business within the province;
(b) promoting and encouraging private sector investment in the province and the participation of the private sector in 

contributing to economic growth;
(c) acting as the government’s agent for performing any development-related tasks and responsibilities that the 
(d) government considers may be more efficiently or effectively performed by a corporate entity;
 driving and co-ordinating integrated programmes of rural development, land reform and agrarian transformation in 

the province;
(e) project managing rural development interventions in the province; 
(f ) promoting applied research and innovative technologies for rural development in the province; 
(g) planning, monitoring and evaluating rural development in the province;  and
(h) facilitating the participation of the private sector and community organisations in rural development programmes. 

Other Legislative Mandates
The Agency is impacted upon by other strategies and legislation with which there has to be alignment, compliance and 
consistency. These include, but are not limited to, the following:

a) Eastern Cape Rural Finance Corporation Amendment Bill, 2010.  
b) Public Finance Management Act, 1999,Act No.1 of 1999.
c) Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 1997, Act No.75 of 1997.
d) Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 2000 Act No. 5 of 2000.
e) Skills Development Act, 1998,Act No. 97 of 1998.
f ) Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993, Act No. 85 of 1993.
g) Employment Equity Act, 1998, Act No. 55 of 1998.
h) Promotion of Access to Information Act, 2000, Act No. 2 of 2000.
i) Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, 2000, Act No. 2 of 2000.
j) Eastern Cape Rural Development Strategy “Ilima Labantu” 2010.

1.5. Transitional Organisational  Structure
PA
Receptionist
(x2 from Asgisa)
Assisant
General Coordinator

BOARD

CEO

Legal Manager (Company Secretarial)

Performance Manager

PR & Comm Manager

Internal Auditor

Legal Manager (Company Secretarial)
Legal Support Officer
GIS Specialist
Admin Support

COO PA CFO
PAAsgisa-EC CFOProject Admin Coordinator

Data Capturers (2)
Office Coordinator (Asgisa CEO PA)
General Coordinator

General Manager: Projects

Admin Controller
Project Adminstrator
Interns (3)

Project Manager: ED (vacant)

Project Manager: Forestry

Project Manager: Farm Capacitation (vacant)

Project Manager: Alternative Energy

New Business Opportunity Manager

IPSM Manager Unit Admistrator
Marketing & Comm Manager
Events Coordinator
Comm Devp Manager

Registry & Supplier
Administartor
Finance Utility 
Assistant

Accountant Supervisor

Accountant Assistants (x6)
1 vacant - Asgisa Pastel Clerk

Data Verification Clerk

Accountant

Manager 
Finance

Management Corporate
Services

Chief HRD Officer

HRD Officer

Chief Personnel Officer
Personnel Officers

HR Administrator

General Coordinators (x5)
Driver

Management Supply 
Chain (Supp Services)

Senior Admin Officer

Admin Clerk (2)
Fleet Mnagement 
Officer (vacant)

Uvimba Structure

Project Manager: Livestock

Project Manager: Crop Production

Project Accountant

Management Accountant

HR Practitioner

EAP Officer

Management
IT

Data Captures (x2)

System 
Administrators (x2)

ICT Practitioner

Management Supply 
Chain (Projects & 
Subsidaries



1.6. Foreword by the Chairperson

Rural development is one of the five key priorities of 
Government.  In the Eastern Cape rural development 
did not receive the attention that it deserved as it was 
dispersed through many agencies.

In order to prioritise rural development in the Province, the 
Eastern Cape Legislature decided to amalgamate some of 
these agencies. ECDRA was established on 1 May 2012 as a 
result of the amalgamation of AsgisaSA-EC and ECRFC.

The newly formed ECRDA is wholly owned by the 
Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform 
(DRDAR). The mandate of the ECDRA is contained in its 
founding legislation, which is the Eastern Cape Rural 
Finance Corporation Act No 1 of 2012 as amended.

The objectives of the ECRDA are to promote, support and 
facilitate rural development in the Eastern Cape Province. 
The Agency is responsible for formulating, promoting and 
ensuring the implementation of a comprehensive integrated 
rural development strategy for the Eastern Cape. 

The strategy is informed by the following key focus areas: 
•	 Knowledge	management	and	information	analyses
•	 Rural	financing
•	 Project	packaging
•	 Project	management
•	 Stakeholder	relations
•	 Linking	production	processes	to	markets
•	 Skills	transfer	and	training

It is based on the assumption that the rural areas of the 
Eastern Cape have a great deal of potential, especially for 
agriculture and livestock production, which can be used to 
uplift people living in these areas.

The ECRDA is still in the process of finalising a strategy for 
the organisation. The draft strategy is based on four pillars:

1. A Competent and Sustainable Rural    
Development Organisation

The strength of ECRDA is the knowledge and experience 

from the implementation of the crucial programmes of 
both AsgisaEC and ECRFC , which together have become 
the building blocks for the ECRDA which we want to be a 
fit for purpose organisation.

2. Focus on Viable, Sustainable Rural Clusters or 
Nodes

We wish to embrace excluded communities who have the 
potential for self-sufficiency and assist them to take care 
of themselves, develop themselves, create jobs, create 
opportunities for themselves and for their children.

3. Efficient Project Management and 
Implementation 

We have started to implement the high impact priority 
projects including the cropping programme focussing 
on maize and beans in the District Municipalities of Alfred 
Nzo, O R Tambo, Chris Hani and Amathole as well as the 
sugar beet for bio-fuels in the Cradock area. However, 
implementation was not only limited to high impact 
projects, we also targeted communities working with 
them to make an impact on households, to use their land 
and resources in a productive way for agriculture, livestock 
production and tourism. The vision is to ensure that rural 
people do not live off subsistence farming forever but that 
they eventually produce beyond subsistence for markets, 
to the benefit of themselves and their communities.

4. Stakeholder Management
We worked closely with communities and relevant 
institutions within this context, namely traditional 
institutions, the churches and schools, to ensure maximum 
participation and buy-in.  We will also collaborate with all 
spheres of government and the NGO sector in order to create 
integrated strategies and to co-ordinate implementation. 
The past financial year has been a particularly difficult one 
for an organisation in transition. However, since the new 
Board has been appointed we have all worked hard to put 
the necessary policies in place in order to provide for the 
conclusion of the merger of the former ECRFC and AsgiSA-
EC, especially relating to the merging of staff. We wish to 
proceed with this with speed as it is extremely important 
to end the uncertainty that a transition brings as soon as 
possible and to create stability in the organisation. 

There is a huge task ahead for all of us and the last thing we 
need is to lose key staff because of instability. 

I would like to thank the Board as well as the staff for their 
patience and determination during this difficult time and it 
is my wish that we work together in the new financial year 
to put this organisation on a solid foundation in order to 
achieve the goals we have set for ourselves. 

.

..........................................................................................   

Dr V Mkosana
Chairperson
August 2013



1.7. Director’s Report

Introduction
The Members of the Board have pleasure in presenting 
their report, which forms part of the first annual report 
of the ECRDA and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 
March 2013. ECRDA, established under Section 3 of the 
Eastern Cape Rural Finance Corporation Amendment 
Act of 2012 (Act No. 1 of 2012), is a product of the 
merger between ECRFC and Asgisa-EC.

Nature of Activities
A general overview of the activities and operations of 
the Agency during the year under review appears in 
the annual report. The activities of the Agency during 
the period were mainstreamed and aligned to the four 
strategic goals identified and approved by the Board.  The 
Agency played both the role of a development agency 
for its own programmes and an implementing agent 
for a number of the projects of the Department of Rural 
Development and Land Reform.

The Agency’s report also incorporates the results and 
financial position of the activities and operations of its 
subsidiaries, namely Kangela Citrus Farms (Pty) Ltd, North 
Pondoland Sugar (Pty) Ltd, Agrarian Research and Rural 
Development Agency (ARDA) - formerly Sugar Beet RSA (a 
bio-fuels research and development agency). 

One of the refocused mandates of the Agency is to 
continue to provide loan finance for seasonal agricultural 
inputs, livestock purchases and other incidental economic 
activities of historically disadvantaged individuals (HDIs), 
mainly in the rural sector. Agricultural infrastructure such 
as land, farm machinery and implements were financed to 
the extent allowed by financial resources under the control 
of the new Agency as these required large capital outlays 
often beyond the resource capabilities of the Agency. Most 
of the funding for loan disbursement came mainly from 

the Micro Agricultural Finance Institution of South Africa 
(MAFISA) as the Agency had less than R4.5 million of its 
own funds for loan financing.

As reported elsewhere in this report, grant funding of 
programmes initiated by the department, local municipalities 
and other benevolent organisations continued to impact 
negatively on the Agency’s target market, as the trend 
hampers effective and successful loan repayments and/or 
recoveries and thus impacts on our lending as most loans 
become impaired.  As reported in the previous annual 
report, the credit policy was revised with the aim of aiding 
clients who have challenges in raising the needed collateral 
or security when applying for a loan. However, it is still a 
challenge to balance the need for developmental finance 
against prudent lending practices. 

Programmes Management and 
Operations Unit
The former Vulithuba Division has been transformed into 
the Programmes Management and Operations Unit (PMU). 
This transformation is the result of consolidating the legacy 
programmes of both Vulithuba and former Asgisa-EC.  

The unit is now intended to consolidate the programmes 
management and implementation activities and expand 
this function through association with the financing 
division of the entity and other external development 
financing institutions, such as the Eastern Cape 
Development Corporation (ECDC), Industrial Development 
Corporation (IDC), Masisizane Fund, etc., whilst at the same 
time fulfilling the legislative mandate of the Agency to 
expand its management and implementation capacity.  
This transformation has provided the farming community 
with the necessary combination of grant and debt funding 
to optimise the viability of the Agency in light of the 
continued challenge it faces in mobilising the resources 
required to fulfil its mandate.

Back (left to right): Mr X George; Ms F Mkile; Mr A Le Roux; Mr CJ Pietersen; Mr W Mbalekwa; Mr M Tonga; Mr V Jarana

Front (left to right): Ms B Kali; Ms Z Semane; Dr V Mkosana; Dr L Mrwebi; Prince Z Burns-Ncamashe



As was the case with the former Vulithuba Division, the new PMU also has the mandate and capacity to contract with other 
third parties such as government departments and private institutions committed to agricultural and rural development. 
The administration of project funds by PMU on behalf of other third parties was significantly reduced during the 2012/13 
financial year following the surrender of all administered funds to the Provincial Revenue Fund.

Financial Results

The consolidated results of the Agency and its subsidiary are set out in the accompanying financial statements on page 71.

The Board and its Sub-Committees
Full particulars pertaining to Board members and members of its sub-committees are detailed on page 42, but it is 
important to mention that following the merger between ECRFC and the Asgisa-EC Board, sub-committees were 
reconfigured and aligned to the Agency’s development imperatives and vision.  The new sub-committees are:

•	 Governance	Committee
•	 Audit	and	Risk	Committee
•	 Finance	and	Investment	Committee
•	 Human	Capital	and	Remuneration	Committee
•	 Programmes	and	Projects	Committee

Corporate Governance
During the year under review, the Board complied with all the principles regarding corporate governance as recommended 
by the King Commission report.  In addition, the Board aimed to observe and comply with the relevant provisions of the 
Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and any other prevailing statutory arrangements that govern the entity.

Meetings of the Board

Board 
Meetings

Audit 
Committee

Finvest
Committee

HR 
Committee

P&P 
Committee

Portfolio, 
SCOPA and 

Other Special 
Meetings

Governance
Meeting Total

Member Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended

Burns-Ncamashe 
Z, Prince

6 1 90 3 100

Kali B, Miss 6 6 3 38 53

Manjezi SN, Mr 1 6 7

Mkile FF, Ms 6 2 10 1 2 38 3 62

Ranuga M, Mr 2 6 17 25

Tseka XN, Ms 1 7 5 20 33

Swana, MM 1 1 2 11 15

Mhlauli, ND 3 7 15 25

Saziwa M, Mr 1 5 9 15

Pietersen C J, Mr 6 3 3 18 2 32

Nobatana M,  Adv. 2 2

Sparg C, Mr 6 8 7 21

Mkosana VM, Dr 5 39 2 46

Mrwebi L, Dr 3 4 1 6 1 12 2 29

Jarana V,  Mr 4 1 7 12

George X,  Mr 4 2 4 6 3 19

Semane Z, Ms 5 3 2 9 19

Le Roux A, Mr 5 4 4 11 24

Mbalekwa SW, Mr 5 4 3 8 2 22

Tonga M, Mr 3 3 2 11 19



Introduction
The period April 2012 to March 2013 was very hectic for 
ECRDA, as it grappled with the amalgamation of two 
separate entities, AsgiSA-EC and ECRFC.

ECRDA Strategic Focus
The ECRDA seeks to consolidate all rural development 
initiatives in the Eastern Cape under one umbrella. 
Recognising the underutilised potential of the province, 
the ECRDA has consciously put agriculture at the centre 
of rural development.  Approximately 70% of all rural 
development initiatives revolve around agriculture. 

ECRDA has adopted a two-pronged approach to the 
implementation of its programmes.  Firstly it seeks to 
implement high impact priority projects (HIPPs) that are 
meant to change, for the better, the lives of the rural people of 
this province and, secondly, it seeks to provide credit finance 
to the unbankable so that they may improve their lot and 
become active participants in the mainstream economy. 

The agricultural HIPPs revolve around firstly, resuscitation 
of major irrigation schemes (Bilatye, Keiskamma, Ncorha, 
Qamata, Zanyokwe etc.) secondly, the promotion of dry 
land cropping of large tracts of land that have hitherto 
been lying fallow in the communal areas of this province 
and, thirdly, livestock development for the benefit of LRAD 
and communal farmers. 

The Service Delivery Model 
is Informed by the Following 
Paradigm:
Our services were provided through the municipalities for 
ease of social mobilisation as the municipalities are closest 
to the people. The focus of delivery will be on the village/ 
community, as opposed to an individual. The beneficiaries of 
our services will be at the centre of their own development 
so that they take charge of their own destinies. Special 
attention will be given to the involvement of women and 
youth in our programmes for the sake of sustainability. 
ECRDA will collaborate with institutions of similar orientation, 
in both the public and private sector, to synchronise service 
delivery so that duplication is kept to a minimum. 

External Environment
The Eastern Cape is a rural province and has unfettered 
access to land with potential that remains largely 
untapped. This is a low hanging fruit upon which our 
thrust can be based. The public and the private sector 
stand ready to partner with the ECRDA to develop this 
potential. Collaborative partnerships are being developed 
to leverage funding for projects. 

Internal Environment
The new ECRDA Board took over control from an interim 
board in November 2012. The ECRDA has been without a 
permanent CEO since its inception in March 2012. There was 
an acting CEO who was seconded from DRDAR in July 2012. 

At the beginning of the financial year the ECRDA had a 
complement of 140 staff members. This was reduced to 137. 
While this is attributable to natural attrition, it can also be said 
that uncertainty has contributed to some of the resignations. 

The ECRDA, as would be expected of an institution in 
transition, was going through a difficult phase during 
the year under review. The organisational was finalized 
in March 2013: job grading was still to be  done; there 
is no confirmation yet that the existing skills base will 
be sufficient to fulfil its mandate; and there remains 
salary disparities between former AsgiSA-EC and 
ECRFC employees.

1.8. Chief Executive Officer’s Overview



The agency has a significant footprint in all the District 
Municipalities , with offices in each district; where we do 
not have offices we use the offices of the DRDAR precisely 
to ensure access to our services.

Constraints

Despite the huge challenges and the expectations that it 
has created, the ECRDA remains grossly underfunded. A 
huge financial injection is required for the Agency to make 
any meaningful progress in the rural development backlog 
that it faces. To mention but a few: the Kangela Trust (citrus 
production); the Agrarian Research and Development 
Agency (beetroot bio-fuel production); and Magwa Tea 
Estate (tea production); are crippled by gross underfunding 
resulting in a struggle to survive as going concerns.

Challenges
During the course of the year the ECRDA implemented 
the Cropping Programme on behalf of the DRDAR. The 
programme was well publicised and well received by the 
communities. It was, however, faced with serious cash 
flow challenges that made it very difficult to manage.  It is 
worth noting that despite all the challenges the Cropping 
Programme managed to cover in excess of 8700 hectares. 
With proper planning, much more can be done. 

Programme Performance 

During the year under review, ECRDA was guided by both 
the national political and policy developments regarding 
the formulation of appropriate and sustainable strategies 
for socio-economic improvement and growth in the rural 
areas of the Eastern Cape. To this end, the implementation of 
our Operational Plan for the year 2012/13 had strategically 
been skewed towards land and agrarian reform. The 
realignment of our oversight department, DRADR, gave 
impetus to the implementation of the strategic goals that 
were identified to be critical in responding to the needs of 
the rural poor, whilst at the same time repositioning the 
ECRDA in the rural development space.

It is important to state that funding for the 2012/13 
operations was only received at the close of the second 
quarter and this impacted negatively on the successful 
operations of the ECRDA for most of the programmes in 
the Programmes and Operations Unit.

During the period under review, the ECRDA operational 
plans focused on the implementation of identified 
strategies. As a significant proportion of the Eastern Cape’s 
population lives in rural areas and as most of them are 
poor, the questions that were asked were: can agriculture 
and agrarian reform play a role in poverty alleviation? 
How can agriculture’s role in poverty alleviation be 
enhanced? What role can be played by smallholder 
agricultural initiatives in improving livelihoods? What 

should be the role of government initiatives aimed at 
promoting smallholder agricultural development?  What 
should the rationale be for such initiatives? What needs 
to be done to maximise agriculture’s contribution to 
poverty alleviation?

The answers to these questions, which were later 
incorporated into the ECRDA’s response, came  through 
the partnerships that were created to stimulate agricultural 
production mainly in the former Transkei where intensive 
cropping programmes were implemented through the 
funding made available by the Department of Agriculture 
Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF) and the Department of 
Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR). Areas with 
ample arable land were targeted and the final results 
demonstrated that these areas have great potential for 
improved agricultural production if stakeholders and the 
ECRDA plan adequately and operate in close partnership 
with these institutions.  

Access to finance enabled access to inputs, particularly 
agricultural inputs, in the form of fertiliser; seeds; tractor 
mechanisation services; access to rural markets; and so 
on.  This provided the means by which the ECRDA could 
contribute to the broader rural development and agrarian 
transformation of the Eastern Cape Province.

ECRDA understands that knowledge, enhanced capacity, 
adequate resources and strong partnerships, as well as 
good planning, are required to implement strategies 
and programmes that will convert current development 
challenges into development opportunities for the benefit 
of the rural poor in the Eastern Cape Province.

ECRDA is therefore motivating for the mobilisation and 
development of a broader team of stakeholders in the 
areas of sustainable rural development, aiming not only 
at enhanced food production and food security, but also 
at enhanced rural livelihoods and an improved quality of 
life for rural people. This is so necessary during the current 
era which is characterised by continuously increasing 
prices and diminishing incomes; a time of overwhelming 
uncertainty, anxiety, anger, frustration and hopelessness 
among the rural poor, especially the youth who are losing 
hope of a better future; a time when one can expect an 
escalation in crime, violence and retaliations as a direct 
result of this state of hopelessness and helplessness.  With 
a vibrant rural economy, the trend can be reserved and it 
is our hope that ECRDA’s Programme Management Unit 
(PMU) will contribute towards the alleviation of poverty 
and create jobs and skills through the implementation of 
High Impact Priority Programmes (HIPPs). 
We believe that it is within our means as partners in rural 
development to develop conducive conditions for rural 
prosperity or, at least, conditions for decent rural livelihoods 
for both young and old, men and women. 
During the past twelve months the ECRDA pursued the 
following strategic goals with great commitment, despite 
being in a state of transition during which a number of 
teething problems were experienced:



•	 Establishment	 of	 viable	 and	 sustainable	 rural	
clusters and nodes: 

 The ECRDA recognises that in order to impact positively 
on the livelihoods of the communities within a specific 
geographical space, nodes and clusters will have to 
be identified and developed. Therefore, the Agency 
will need to conduct research and spatially map 
comparative advantages of such nodes and clusters 
and align these with municipal level Integrated 
Development Plans (IDPs), Local Area Based Plans and 
Spatial Development Frameworks.

•	 Effective	programme	management	and	
implementation: 

 The ECRDA recognises that there are numerous rural 
development interventions. Therefore, in order to 
maximise the economic and social benefit to rural 
communities in the Eastern Cape, programmes must 
be effectively implemented, co-ordinated, monitored, 
controlled and evaluated, with adequate feedback of 
successes that can be replicated in the planning of 
future programmes.

•	 The	 ECRDA	 recognises	 that	 rural	 communities	
lack access to finance, which is evidenced by the 
low levels of investment by the private sector in 
productive assets in the rural areas of the Eastern 
Cape. The Agency further recognises that it lacks the 
required capacity with regards to investment and 
fund management and will therefore have to build 
internal capacity in the future.

•	 Stakeholder	management	and	functional	
partnerships: 

 The ECRDA recognises that in order to implement and 
consolidate support for projects, appropriate partners 
must be attracted. Therefore, the ECRDA’s target is to 
enter into functional partnerships with appropriate 
stakeholders at villages, farms and nodes wherever the 
ECRDA operates.

Performance of Specific 
Programmes

1. Loan Finance
The ECRDA continued to provide loan finance to 
historically disadvantaged individuals for the financing 
of agricultural inputs, livestock purchases and other rural 
economic activities.
 
During the period under review, 557 loans amounting to 
R24 911 316 were investigated and approved.  The bulk of 
these loans, namely 98%, related to agricultural projects 
while the remaining 2% was in respect of non-agricultural 
rural development loans. 
The crucial elements of food security and job creation 
were supported by offering smaller agricultural loans not 
exceeding R50 000 to applicants. Approximately 494 of 

loans to this target market were approved, 90.4% of the 
total number of agricultural loans.

The severe cash flow constraints resulting from the 
late receipt of quarterly tranches and the fact that the 
entity had to surrender its reserves to Treasury impacted 
negatively on the outreach. The bulk of the loans approved 
during the year under review will be disbursed during the 
2013/14 financial year.  

The ECRDA disbursed loans to clients during the year 
under review as follows:  

•	 R1	436	482	-	MAFISA	loans
•	 R3	891	161	-	ECRDA	agricultural	loans
•	 R2	431	954	-	ECRDA	non-agricultural	loans

Highlights 
The draft ECRDA credit policy was comprehensively work-
shopped with agricultural commodity groups as well as 
civic stakeholders throughout the province in an attempt 
to make affordable developmental finance available to the 
previously disadvantaged market. The Interim Board of 
Directors approved the credit policy, which led to a larger 
number of applications for loans being received during 
the latter half of the financial year.

A National Credit Regulator ( NCR ) compliant language 
policy was developed and adopted by the Interim Board 
of Directors. 

Challenges

The delay in the finalisation of the proposed organogram 
of the new ECRDA and the population thereof impacted 
negatively on the staff morale.

The surrendering of funds to the provincial Treasury drastically 
reduced the outreach initiatives/marketing initiatives during 
the first and second quarters of the financial year.  

The MAFISA programme was temporarily suspended 
due to Provincial Treasury’s demand to surrender funds. 
This impacted negatively on the marketing of MAFISA 
loans. The delayed receipt of the entity’s grant, negatively 
affected service delivery during the 2012/3 financial year. 

The Micro Agriculture Finance Institute of South Africa 
(MAFISA) programme was made available to support 
the other five legs of the Comprehensive Agricultural 
Support Programme (CASP) programme. It is an integral 
part of CASP and a tool made available to the Eastern Cape 
DRDAR to provide a comprehensive agricultural support 
programme to farmers. Eastern Cape DRDAR officials are 
required to fulfill their crucial role to identify economically 
viable agricultural projects and link the farmer with ECRDA 
to access MAFISA loan finance. 
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The unco-ordinated grant programmes initiated by various 
provincial as well as national government departments, 
local municipalities, and other benevolent organisations 
continued to impact negatively on the entity’s target 
market. 
Finalisation of the budget was delayed until late in the 
second quarter when the first tranche of grant funding was 
received. This resulted in decreased marketing initiatives.

The National Credit Act (NCA), whilst being designed to 
protect borrowers from undue risk as well as to create a 
fair and non-discriminatory lending market, prescribes 
that the entity must ensure that a realistic balance is struck 
between the demand for developmental finance and 
prudent lending practices.

Related Challenges
A delay in the finalisation of the Jobs Fund Agreement 
(JFA) has significantly impeded the potential for progress. 
DAFF reluctance to implement its policy of transferring 
ownership or use right’s of its plantations to communities 
is negatively affecting the scale of implementation. The 
Land Bank has made loan funding available at 4% per 
annum to emerging farmers and this also impacted 
negatively on the number of loan applications received 
from the traditional target market, as the ECRDA is lending 
at 7% per annum and Mafisa at 8% per annum.

2. Cropping

Highlights of Key Successes

A total planted area of 8885ha was achieved on a total 
planned land area of 12905ha as follows:
•	 DAFF cropping programme: Planned area 2829 ha vs 

2473ha planted
•	 DRDAR cropping programme: Planned area 9481 ha 

vs 6232ha planted
•	 DRDLR-Irrigation schemes: Planned area 595 ha vs 

180ha planted

Key Challenges

•	 Departments	did	not	 release	 funding	 to	 the	 ECRDA	
on time. This resulted in the ECRDA not being able 
to pay service providers on time, causing delays with 
the implementation of the cropping programmes. 
For instance, the late deliveries of production inputs 
like fertiliser and agro-chemicals resulted in a reduced 
crop yield. 

•	 Small	 scattered	 fields	 diminish	 the	 interest	 of	
mechanisation contractors to participate in the 
programmes.

•	 The	available	mechanisation	contractors	with	required	
experience and capacity to provide the required 
amount and type of machinery and implements are 
limited. 

•	 Some	maize	crops	are	damaged	by	livestock	due	to	a	
lack of fencing

•	 Progress	 reports	 from	 some	 districts	 are	 not	 received	
consistently on time. This impacts negatively on the 
image and reputation of ECRDA. We are continually 
receiving complaints from the Independent 
Development Trust ( IDT ) about a lack of  reporting on 
the number of projects, the  number of contractors, and 
the amount of hectares under cultivation.  

•	 Some	 farmers	 do	 not	 honour	 their	 contributions	
required in terms of agreements, which results in a 
shortage of funding for certain projects.

•	 The	unexpected	outbreak	of	army	worms	that	attacked	
some maize fields.

Technical Report 

The DAFF Programme
About 87.4% of available land has been planted. Only three 
projects have not been planted: the Qotirha (101ha) and 
Nyanisweni (155ha) areas in Qumbu and Mvezo (100ha) 
in the Mthatha area.  The plan for these two areas was to 
plant dry beans before the end of February 2013 but, due 
to the unavailability of seeds, these areas were not planted. 
The Mvezo community has made a proposal that it wishes 
to plant a winter crop such as oats which will provide food 
for its livestock. The maize crop in the area was generally 
good. However, in some areas the crop is competing with 
weeds that had to be sprayed with insecticide. The maize 
crop on approximately 60ha of land at Hegebe in the 
Mqanduli area was  completely destroyed by livestock due 
to a lack of fencing.

The DRDAR Programme
There were two tranches of funding for this programme: 

•	 The	first	funding	tranche	came	from	the	DRDAR	District	
Office and farmer contributions in the amount of R20.9 
million. Production inputs were bought for 2373ha in 
four district municipalities, namely Amathole, Alfred 
Nzo, Chris Hani and Joe Gqabi (see table 1). The total 
planted area was 1631ha, of which 1461ha was planted 
with maize and 170ha with dry beans.

•	 The	 second	 tranche	 of	 funds	 in	 the	 amount	 of	 R38	
million came from the IDT and farmer contributions.  
Production inputs were procured for 7108ha, which was 
spread over four districts, namely Amathole, Alfred Nzo, 
Chris Hani and OR Tambo. The total planted area was 
4601ha of which 3485ha were planted with  maize and 
1116ha with  dry beans.



The DRDLR-Irrigation Schemes
Production inputs were procured for maize production at Qamata irrigation scheme (415ha) and Bilatye irrigation scheme 
(180ha). A number of problems were experienced in cultivating this land ranging from: hot and dry weather conditions 
during December 2012 that delayed soil preparation; the frequent breakdown of tractors supplied by both private 
contractors and the DRDAR which resulted in a smaller than expected cultivated area; and the late delivery of production 
inputs that resulted in late planting. In spite of these problems, 180ha were planted with maize at Qamata Irrigation 
scheme. Famers at Bilatye Irrigation scheme had opted for winter wheat because it was by then too late to plant maize.

Table 1:  Planted land size from the first tranche funds
DISTRICT 

MUNICIPALITY
CROP NAME LAND SIZE

(Ha)
PLANTED LAND

(Ha)
Amathole Maize 593 342

Amathole Dry beans 170 170

Chris Hani Maize 844 766

Joe Gqabi Maize 693 353

Alfred Nzo Maize 73 0

TOTAL 2373 1631

Table 2:  Planted land size from the second tranche funds
DISTRICT 

MUNICIPALITY
CROP NAME LAND SIZE

(Ha)
PLANTED LAND

(Ha)
Amathole Maize 465 430

Amathole Dry beans 98 98

Chris Hani Maize 214 134

Alfred Nzo Maize 2308 1597

Alfred Nzo Dry beans 63

OR Tambo Maize 2866 1324

OR Tambo Dry beans 1157 955

TOTAL 7108 4601



Recommendations to Address 
Challenges

The following recommendation are made to address the 
challenges experienced during the financial year:

•	 The	 planning	 of	 the	 cropping	 programme	 should	
commence earlier in order to allow time for  activities 
such as: soil sampling and testing; the development 
of business and  production plans; the procurement 
of production inputs; and mechanisation contractors 
in order to ensure that crops are planted within their 
planting window period. 

•	 The	funds	for	implementing	cropping	programmes	on	
behalf of certain departments should be transferred 
to ECRDA before any implementation can commence 
in order to avoid delays with the payment of service 
providers.

•	 Smaller	 pieces	 of	 land	 (1–l30ha)	 make	 it	 difficult	
to negotiate affordable mechanisation rates, 
which increases the price of production inputs to 
unacceptable levels. We have to consider projects with 
minimum of at least 50ha.

•	 The	 cropping	 programmes	 should	 extend	 to	 at	
least three to five years so that contracts based 
on the duration of a programme can be issued to 
mechanisation contractors. This will allow contractors 
to expand their fleet of machinery and implements 
and will hopefully lead to the emergence of new 
young contractors.

•	 The	planted	areas	should	be	prioritised	for	fencing	by	
the CASP programme to secure  planted crops.

•	 The	ECRDA	should	be	allocated	 some	projects	 to	plan,	
implement and monitor on its own in order to avoid the 
consistent poor reporting from some of DRDAR districts.

•	 A	 contingency	 amount	 should	 be	 included	 in	 the	
budget to cater for unexpected price escalation on 
goods, services and the outbreak of pests and diseases.

 3. Forestry    
The year under review was characterised by inevitable 
headwinds faced within an organisation in transition 
and bureaucratic hurdles which severely affected the 
forestry unit’s ability to achieve its intended momentum 
of implementation. Notwithstanding these, good results 
were achieved in the areas that matter most, namely 
the establishment of forestry plantations, the creation of 
employment in rural areas and the development of skills, 
capacity and experience.

A further 268ha were planted during the year, bringing 
the total area planted over three years to 873ha. In doing 
so R4.7 million was spent, of which 50% was on project 
salaries and wages for 190 employees.  R1.6 million of this 
amount was sourced from DRDLR and the balance of R3.9 
million was from revenues generated by timber sales.

These projects are fully owned by the communities 
which have rights to the land, either through Communal 
Property Associations (CPAs) or Trusts. They are managed 
and administered by people from the communities, 
directed by trustees and supported by private sector 
companies which have an interest in purchasing portions 
of the timber in future. The role of ECRDA’s forestry unit is 
to support the community representatives in planning, 
resourcing, partnering and implementing the project, 
addressing gaps which may exist between capacity within 
the communities and support provided by the private 
sector companies. The rapid development of capacity for 
both the execution of responsibilities and performance of 
operational requirements is encouraging and a tribute to 



rural people and the ever increasing developmental role 
played by private sector companies. In this regard, both 
Sappi and PG Bison have appointed staff specifically to 
provide technical, administrative and managerial support. 
Both have embraced the challenge of shifting from the 
traditional functions of “management of resources” to 
“provision of support for others to manage resources”.

As another financial year draws to an end, there is a 
high level of anticipation regarding the finalisation of an 
agreement in terms of which the JFA will grant R83 million 
over three years on condition that matched funding of R30 
million can be obtained. The finalisation of the agreement 
has been affected by the transition to the ECRDA and 
unexpected pre-conditions, resulting in unfortunate 
delays. Fortunately, DRDLR’s funding has been able to 
support ongoing project activities, albeit at lower levels.

Much interest has been shown in our active projects, with 
fact finding missions including Members of the Provincial 
Legislature ( MPL’s ) from the Agriculture and Economic 
Affairs Portfolio Committee and officials from the DRDLR, 
the ECDC, the DAFF Head Office and Region as well as 
officials from the DAFF Ministerial Forestry Advisory Council 
visiting our projects from time to time.

With so many issues and such a wide area in which 
the projects are located, the involvement and support 
of stakeholders from the  traditional leadership, local 
governments,  DAFF,  ECDC, DTI, Forestry South Africa, 
DRDLR, IDC, DEDEAT, and  DRDAR have been invaluable 
in the planning, initiation and implementation of forestry 
projects in the Eastern Cape.

4. Information Technology

Introduction

The mission of the Information Technology Division is to 
build a solid and comprehensive technology infrastructure, 
maintain an efficient and effective operational environment 
and deliver high quality and timely services that support 
ECRDA’s mission to become the leaders in project and 
finance development.  The IT division provides for long-
range planning, implementation and maintenance of 
information technology for the ECRDA. 

Hardware Status

The ECRDA servers (Application, Domain, Pop and MS 
Exchange and Test Servers) provide adequate support 
to all the client workstations and centralised software 
applications such as ACCPAC, Human Resource System 
(VIP), Old LMS, New LMS and SQL. Two servers (Application 
and Fraxion) were purchased during this financial year. 

Board members were equipped with iPads to be used 
mainly to run the Board Application System (BAS). The 

BAS will provide an alternative to paper, meaning that 
both producing and carrying cumbersome board packs 
will be a thing of the past. The BAS is not simply just 
another web-based portal, but a powerful application 
designed to simplify and enhance the management of 
Board meetings.

The IT technicians continue to be of assistance to end-
users as and when they experience technical problems. 

In this current financial year ECRDA’s hardware resources 
remained robust and resilient.

Software Status

The Win 7, Linux and Win 2008 Operating Systems are 
currently in place. 
The following application software is currently in place:  
Loan Management System (LMS), VIP-Salaries (BIM), 
Sage ERP 300 (Fraxion, Job Costing, Electonic Document 
Management System, General Ledger, Inventory, Purchases, 
Cashbook, Assets Management System, RecExpress), ESET 
Nod 32 Antivirus System, Banking Software (FNB, Standard 
Bank), Masifo (Vulithuba Project Development System) and 
Telephone Management System (Teltrace).

Microsoft Office applications (Word, Excel, Outlook, 
Publisher, Access, PowerPoint, Visio) have been 
standardised.

Databases MS SQL 2005, MS SQL 2008, MS Access and 
Firebird are currently in place.

Operational Plan Update and Other IT Activities/Highlights/
System Integration Activities

The following system integration activities were completed 
during the financial year:

•	 The	upgrading	of	the	Old	Loan	Management	System	
(LMS) to New Loan Management System (NLMS) 
was completed in February 2012. Training of all the 
stakeholders was completed.  The data migration 
process was hailed as a success by an independent 
auditing firm, Grant Thornton. 

•	 The	 Sage	 ERP	 300	 implementation	 is	 currently	
underway. The ERP system integrates modules such as 
Fraxion, Spend Management, Job Costing, Electronic 
Document Management, General Ledger, Inventory, 
Purchases, Cashbook, Assets Management, and 
RecExpress. 

•	 A	Video	 Conferencing	 System	 (VCS)	 has	 finally	 been	
installed at King William’s Town. The process of 
transferring Mthatha VCS from the former Asgisa-EC 
office in East London to the former ECRFC office in King 
Williams Town is underway. The three VCSs (EL, KWT, 
and Mthatha) will go a long way towards improving 
communication and saving costs within ECRDA.



Compliance 

The IT Division endeavours to comply with all laws, 
regulations and policies pertaining to the unit. The 
following is a list of laws, regulations and policies found to 
be applicable to the ECRDA:

•	 Electronic	 Communications	 and	 Transactions	 Act,	
2002
•	 To	 provide	 for	 the	 facilitation	 and	 regulation	 of	

electronic communications and transactions; 
•	 to	 provide	 for	 the	 development	 of	 a	 national	

e-strategy for the Republic; 
•	 to	 promote	 universal	 access	 to	 electronic	

communications and transactions and the use of 
electronic transactions by SMMEs; 

•	 to	 provide	 for	 human	 resource	 development	
in electronic transactions; to prevent abuse of 
information systems; to encourage the use of 
e-government services and to provide for matters 
connected thereto.

•	 Broadband	Capacity
 The merger of ECRFC and Asgisa-EC has revealed some 

shortcomings in our broadband capacity and general 
connectivity and the following processes are therefore 
underway:

  a)  Linking the EL office with the KWT   
  head office via a high speed data line.

  b) Upgrading the MS Exchange Server   
  to accommodate both legacy   
  institutions.

  c) Upgrading the Virtual Network   
  Connectivity and Active Directory. 

The Current Capacity of the IT Division 

There is a need to build the capacity of the IT Division of 
the ECRDA specifically in areas such as network controlling, 
help desk management, data capturing and system 
administration and support.

5. Supply Chain Management (SCM)
During the period under review the SCM unit strived to serve its 
clients efficiently and effectively by adhering to procurement 
policies and procedures. The SCM officials and other officials 
taking part in the procurement process attended various 

training courses in order to keep up to date with the latest 
changes and developments in procurement procedures. 

The usual problems that the merging of two entities creates 
were overcome by the establishment of a new and single 
SCM unit. Demand management appears to be a challenge 
for some of the business units; this shall be addressed 
through forward planning and effective communication.

During the period under review, the ECRDA has procured 
a service provider to develop an Enterprise Resource 
Planning system for the organisation. The installation of 
this system is to facilitate the flow of information among 
all business functions within the organisation and 
also to manage connection with outside stakeholders. 
This system will improve the quality of our reports and 
eliminate delays.

The year under review has been exciting for the unit and 
the challenges that emerged tended to bring the unit 
closer together.

6. Report on the Performance of Subsidiaries
The ECRDA has three subsidiaries, namely Kangela Citrus 
Farms in the Sunday’s River Valley, ARDA, a bio-fuels 
project near Cradock in the Karoo, and Pondoland Sugar 
in the former Transkei. The first two are separate and fully 
operational entities whilst the latter is currently dormant.

Kangela Citrus Farms

During the financial year ended 31 March 2013, Kangela 
yielded a crop that was above expectations, producing 
208 979 export-grade citrus cartons, which is in excess 
of the 153 766 budgeted for. Citrus prices were also 
higher than expected, with an average Free on Board 
( FOB ) price of R72.92 per carton versus an anticipated 
budget price of R67.52.

Unfortunately, while the carton volume was higher than 
projected, the farming costs of Kangela remain excessive.  
Kangela’s production cost per hectare is R54 456 for the 
current financial year, which is in excess of the target of 
R49 480 budgeted for and in excess of the regional norm of 
R47 000 per hectare - as is clear from the following table: 



Description Kangela Industry

Chemicals and Fertilisers -15 000 -19 136

Insurance -288 -288

Fuel, Oil and Lubricants -2 042 -2 139

Payroll Expenses -26 000 -17 839

Repairs and Maintenance -3 500 -1 735

Water and Electricity -3 030 -4 000

Other Productive Costs -2 906 -2 100

 -52 766 -47 237

The end result is that Kangela suffered a loss of approximately R3 million in the current financial year and will not be 
sustainable in the long-term at the current levels.

The higher production costs are a direct result of the salary bill of the 30 beneficiaries of the farm which totals R1.2 million per 
annum.  Should the Trust not plant more trees and increase production, the maintenance of this salary bill and, in fact, the farm 
as an operating business, will not be sustainable.

This situation was communicated to the ECRDA Board in December 2012.  In the report to the Board we motivated 
strongly for the release of approximately R6 million in grant funding, which has since been allocated to Kangela. 

The Recapitalisation of the Kangela Farm

The budget for the recapitalisation of Kangela Farm in the amount of R6.2 million was accepted by the Board at a meeting 
held on 03 May 2013. To date no expenditure has taken place. However, other actions such as procuring quotations and 
the clearing of the process with ECRDA have been taken care of.

Labour Disputes

In addition to the funding concerns noted above, there have been problems with staff, partly inspired by farming strikes 
in the Western Cape region. Three beneficiaries were involved in stealing and destroying farm property, but fortunately 
there was no violent mass action, such as has occurred in the Western Cape.

A letter of demand was released on 22 January to ECRDA and Kangela by the workers requesting, among other demands:
 a) An increase in  wages and dividends.
 b) Changes to the current management structure.
 c) A back-to-school allowance of R1500 per beneficiary.
d) More information about the ECRDA’s involvement in the farm and why they have Trustee representation on the 

Kangela Trust.

 In dealing with this matter, the following should be noted: 

a) Kangela is currently operating at a loss and pays R28 000 per hectare in payroll whilst the norm for the region is 
R20 000, therefore increased wages are not possible.  Grant requests to revitalise the farm, which would improve 
profitability, have not yet been paid. 

b) Back-to-school allowances were in fact paid before the letter’s release.
c) ECRDA’s involvement and the structure of the Kangela situation were explained to the beneficiaries at various 

meetings.



Agrarian Research and Development Agency (ARDA)

ARDA is a bio-fuels and agrarian transformation development agency which forms part of the Eastern Cape Rural 
Development Agency (ECRDA)

The original focus of ARDA was on a sugar beet-based ethanol production planned to extend across an integrated value 
chain from land purchasing, preparation, cultivation, crop planting and harvesting.  It is now in the process of moving 
towards a wider involvement in agrarian transformation, such as the research and development into the cost reduction of 
feedstock input cost for bio-fuels production and providing consulting and supportive services in a broad field of agrarian 
transformation and bio-fuels development.

ARDA received only 28% of the approved budget for the 2012/13 financial year. This lack of funding has placed restrictions on the 
extent to which the ARDA has been able to meet its objectives as set out in its strategic plan and has resulted in:
•	 Unfilled	vacant	positions.
•	 Limited	assets	being	procured.
•	 Only	basic	maintenance	being	done	on	assets.
•	 Training	not	taking	place.
•	 Infrastructure	maintenance	not	taking	place.

During February 2013, the DRDLR approved 35 beneficiaries for the 25 farms bought by the Department under the land 
reform programme. These farmers have signed a five year lease with the Department. The ARDA has a partnership agreement 
with the DRDLR to provide support to these farmers. The ARDA has therefore provided an orientation programme for the 
farmers and implemented the necessary accounting systems to ensure compliance with the Strategic Partnership Agreement 
signed with the DRDLR, and individual banking accounts have been opened.

Farms plans have been developed for three farms during this financial year and a further ten will be rolled out in the first 
quarter of the next financial year.

Maximum profits on the 25 farms could not be obtained during this financial year as it was an exceptionally dry season 
which placed tremendous strain on the irrigation systems and crops.

North Pondoland Sugar
 
This subsidiary has remained dormant throughout the period under review.

...........................................................................................   

Dr L Mrwebi 
Interim Chief Executive Officer
Eastern Cape Development Corporation 
August 2013





2.1. Statement of Responsibility for Performance   
Information for the Year Ended 31 March 2013

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for the preparation of the public entity’s performance information and for 
the judgements made in this information.

The CEO is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of performance information.

In my opinion, the performance information fairly reflects the actual achievements against planned objectives, 
indictors and targets as per the strategic and annual performance plan of the public entity for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2013.

The Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency performance information for the year ended 31 March 2013 has been 
examined by the external auditors and their report is presented on page 64. 

The performance information of the entity set out on pages 26 to 37 were approved by the Board.
 

........................................................................................... 
  
Dr L Mrwebi 
Interim Chief Executive Officer
Eastern Cape Development Corporation 
August 2013

2. performance information  



2.2. Auditor General’s Report : Predetermined Objectives
The Auditor General of South Africa currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance information 
submitted by the ECRDA for the 2012/2013 financial year to provide reasonable assurance in the form of an audit 
conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance against predetermined objectives is included in the report to 
management, with material findings being reported under the Predetermined Objectives heading in the Report of the 
Auditor General in 5.3 of this Annual Report.

2.3. Overview of Performance 
The entity has five broad programmers across which various performance targets are distributed. Programme 1 constitutes 
the office of the CEO and support services (Human Capital and Finance). Programme 2 focuses on research, nodes and 
cluster development. Programme 3 is about implementation of high impact priority programmes. Programme 4 is about 
stakeholder management and the last Programme 5 focuses on rural finance and investment.

The annual performance identified a total of 40 performance targets, of which 67.5% of total indicators were funded 
whilst the remainder of 32.5% was unfunded.  47.5% (19 indicators) of the total number of targets have been achieved 
and in some cases exceeded expectations, whilst 52.5 % could not be achieved due to delays in transfers, as the entity 
received the first tranche only at the end of the second quarter and actual work commenced in the third quarter.

Whilst overall performance does not reflect a high standard, recognition must be given to the fact that the entity is 
currently in a transitional state and, once finalised, a high level of performance is indeed expected.

Financial and Human Capital
The total funding allocation for the ECRDA was R155 million for the outgoing financial year 2012/2013.  Provision for 
subsidiaries has been made as follows:

ARDA - R  5 million
Magwa - R34 million
Kangela - R   6 million
Majola Tea Estate - R   5 million

The rollover amounts that were surrendered to Provincial Treasury have not been refunded, despite all attempts made to 
recover the monies. 

The Board of Directors approved the organisational structure. A placement strategy is underway for the population 
process. The key organisational policies have been completed and subsequently approved by the Board of Directors, these 
include the human resources policy manual. The Agency managed to comply with Treasury regulations with respect to 
the submission of the annual report, annual financial statements, five-year strategy and the annual performance Plan.

Challenges
The lengthy process of populating the organogram poses a threat as it may result in low staff morale and further 
resignations of personnel with much needed skills. Uncertainty in finalising the transitional phase of ECRDA threatens 
programme implementation.

Programme Implementation: Key Output Programmes
The Cropping Programme

The Cropping Programme has taken off with planting of more than 12 000 hectares of maize, dry beans and fodder crops 
in CHDM, OR Tambo and Alfred Nzo areas. ECRDA has managed to identify areas with potential for rural development 
initiatives in the OR Tambo, CHDM, Alfred Nzo and Joe Gqabi areas.  Consolidation of existing internal capacity with that of 
the Department (DRDAR) has enhanced implementation of these programmes. The ECRDA co-hosted the Provincial Food 
Security Seminar in partnership with Social Development and other stakeholders working on the anti-poverty strategy. 
Securing capable mechanisation contractors and suppliers of production inputs for the cropping programme has been 
challenged by time constraints and inadequate funding has resulted in non-implementation of the some of the planned 
and targeted programmes.



The Livestock Programme

High mortalities occurred previously and the ECRDA intervention resulted in a dramatic reduction in mortality rate in the 
Sakhisizwe Livestock programme.

The Forestry Programme 

Additional funding was secured from DRDLR to maintain momentum in forestry projects in the face of delays in finalising 
an agreement with the Job Fund. A new project was implemented in the Bizana district area, the Izinini Community Forest 
Plantation. A field manager has been contracted for the three year period of the Jobs Fund. An additional 240 hectares 
have been planted in the Mkhambathi and Sinawo forest plantations.  An average of 190 jobs has been created in the 
year under review.  The completion of EIA’s for a batch of license applications opens opportunities for new projects in the 
future.  However, the uncertainty of the ECRDA budget tends to constrain operational capacity for the implementation 
of forestry programmes.

The Rural Finance Programme 

The ECRDA is making inroads into the rural development finance by way of loans advanced to rural entrepreneurs. Several 
opportunities have been identified for collaboration with DRDAR on project production loans for rural communities and 
access to communal lands. The state of flux that currently exists in the ECRDA results in delays in the finalisation of the 
branch structures and appointment of staff. 

Related Challenges
A delay in the finalisation of the JFA has significantly impeded the potential for progress. DAFF reluctance to implement 
its policy of transferring ownership or use right’s of its plantations to communities is negatively affecting the scale of 
implementation. Late payment of tranches from the department (DRDAR) impacts negatively on service delivery as a 
result of severe cash flow challenges. The Land Bank has made loan funding available at 4% per annum to emerging 
farmers and this has had an adverse affect on the number of loan applications received from the traditional target market, 
as the ECRDA is lending at 7% per annum and Mafisa at 8% per annum.

2.4. Strategic Outcome Orientated Goals
The strategic outcome orientated goals of the ECRDA are as follows:

Programme 
Number

Programme Goal

1 Corporate governance, risk management and 
compliance

A competent and sustainable rural development 
organisation

2 Researched, viable and sustainable clusters and nodes Well researched, viable and sustainable clusters and 
nodes

3 Implementation of high impact priority programmes 
(HIPPS )

Effective programme management and implementation

3.1 Agriculture and ago processing Food security and job creation

3.2 Infrastructure development Local economic development and access

3.3 Forestry development Timber production and job creation

3.4 Alternative energy Contribute to the green economy

4 Stakeholder relations Stakeholder management and functional relations

5 Rural finance and investment Effective programme management and implementation



2.5. Performance and Financial Information by Programme 
Programme 1 : Corporate Governance, Risk Management and Compliance

Sub-Programme 1.1:  Office of the CEO
Purpose: The Office of the CEO is responsible for overall high level management, corporate governance and strategic 
planning, and has an oversight responsibility for administrative management including marketing, communications, 
office support services, monitoring and evaluation.

Programme 1: Corporate Governance, Risk Management and Compliance

Sub-Programme 1.1: Office of the CEO

Strategic Goal 1: Competent and Sustainable Rural Development  Organisation

 Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation 
from Planned 
Target 

Comment on 
Deviations

Establishment 
and 
maintenance 
of corporative 
governance,
risk 
management 
and 
compliance

Three-year 
annual 
performance 
plan approved 
and reviewed 
annually.

One APP 
document 
developed 
and approved.

The annual performance plan was developed 
in the first quarter, approved by the Board and 
then submitted to the DRDAR.
APP for 2013/14 financial year was developed, 
approved by the Board and then submitted to 
the DRDAR and the Provincial Treasury in March 
2013.

No variance None

 One-year 
operational 
plan approved 
and reviewed 
annually.

One 
operational 
plan 
developed 
and approved.

The annual operational plan was prepared and 
approved in the first quarter of the year.

No variance None

Annual report 
finalised and 
approved by 
the Board 
annually.

An approved  
annual 
report for the 
financial  year 
2012/13.

The annual report was developed, finalised and 
approved within the prescribed period, then 
submitted to authorities and distributed to all 
relevant stakeholders.

No variance None

Subsidiary 
performance 
monitored 
and reported 
on a quarterly 
basis.

Four quarterly 
reports on 
performance 
of each 
subsidiary. 

Four reports were obtained from the following 
subsidiaries:
1x Magwa
2x ARDA
1x Khangela
1x Majola

Eleven reports  
outstanding.

Lack of direct 
co-ordination 
between the 
entity and 
subsidiaries.  
All entities 
must submit 
quarterly 
reports.

Shareholder 
compact 
concluded 
and signed 
annually.

A signed 
shareholder 
compact.

This shareholder compact was submitted to 
the Board for its consideration and approval.

The 
shareholder 
compact has 
not been 
approved by 
the Board.

The Board 
had to get 
guidance from 
a legal input 
to approve the 
Shareholder 
Compact



Programme 1: Corporate Governance, Risk Management and Compliance

Sub-Programme 1.1: Office of the CEO

Strategic Goal 1: Competent and Sustainable Rural Development  Organisation

 Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation 
from Planned 
Target 

Comment on 
Deviations

Five-year 
strategic plan 
approved 
and reviewed 
annually.

An approved 
strategic plan 
document.

The five year strategic plan document for the 
establishment of the ECRDA was developed 
and approved by the Board and the DRADR, 
then submitted to Treasury and the Legislature. 

The newly appointed Board of Directors 
initiated the first strategic session in December 
2012, with a view to revising the strategy.
The revised strategy will be submitted for the 
2014/15 financial year.

No variance None

Five-year 
strategic plan 
approved 
and reviewed 
annually.

An approved 
strategic plan 
document.

The five year strategic plan document for the 
establishment of the ECRDA was developed 
and approved by the Board and the DRADR, 
then submitted to Treasury and the Legislature. 

The newly appointed Board of Directors 
initiated the first strategic session in December 
2012, with a view to revising the strategy.
The revised strategy will be submitted for the 
2014/15 financial year.

No variance None

Performance 
agreements 
concluded 
with senior 
manage-ment 
(annually).

100% signed 
performance 
agreements 
with 
management.

Performance agreements have not yet been 
signed.

Performance 
agreements 
not yet n 
place.

Formal 
appointments 
have not been 
concluded 
with staff 
and no job 
descript-tions 
are in place.
Placement of 
staff is due for 
completion 
in the next 
financial year.

Number 
of entity 
performance 
reports issued 
to Board and 
shareholder 
(quarterly).

Four quarterly 
reports.

Three quarterly reports have been submitted to 
the shareholder and the Provincial Treasury.
For the first quarter an explanatory memoran-
dum was generated and approved by the 
board for submission to the authorities.

One report 
could not be 
developed 
due to delays 
in the transfer 
of funds. 

Delays in the 
transfer of 
funds to be 
avoided at all 
times. 

Audited 
financial 
statements 
approved 
annually.

Annual  
financial 
statements
(AFS).

AFS were completed and approved in the first 
quarter of the year.

No variance None

Sub-Programme 1.2:  Support Services (Finance and Human Capital Development)
Purpose: The Support Services Management Divisions (Finance and Human Capital Development) are responsible 
for managing all financial functions, including: budget planning; procurement, supply chain and asset management; 
consulting services and procurement; PFMA and legislative compliance; human resources management; legal support 
services; information and technology enablers; as well as community technology development.



1.2.1. Strategic Objectives, Performance indicators and Annual Targets- Support Services (Finance and Human Capital 
Development)

Programme 1:  Corporate Governance, Risk Management and Compliance

Sub-Programme 1.2: Support Services (Finance and Human Capital Development )

Strategic Goal 1: Competent and Sustainable Rural Development Organisation

 Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation 
from Planned 
Target

Comment on 
Deviations

Corporate 
governance, 
risk 
management 
and 
compliance

Develop, 
manage and 
implement a 
risk register.

Risk register. Risk register is in a draft stage and is currently 
being presented for Board approval

Risk register 
compiled 
but not yet 
formally 
adopted.

The Board 
must first 
review the risk 
register and 
risk appetite.

Investment 
fund capability 
and growth 
established 
(Board report 
and annual 
review).

One report. Investment fund capability and growth has not 
yet been pursued.

Investment 
fund 
capability not 
established.

ECRDA is in 
a process of 
reviewing 
the strategy 
and seeks to 
reconsider 
priorities, 
which 
included the 
investment 
fund.

Organisational 
set of policies 
formulated, 
approved 
and reviewed 
annually.

100% The human resource and credit policies have 
been approved.

Review and 
approval 
of changes 
in financial 
policies 
underway.

Review of 
policies is 
aligned to 
the ECRDA 
mandate 
and new 
structures.

Population 
of the 
organisational 
structure 
(% of staff 
complement 
in place for 
imple-menting 
ECRDA 
strategy)

50% of the 
approved 
organisational 
structure 
populated.

Organisational structure has been approved by 
the Board but no placement has taken place.

Organisational 
structure has 
not been 
populated yet.

The 
transitional 
process 
has taken 
longer than 
expected with 
delays in the 
appointment 
of the 
Board and 
subsequent 
delays in the 
placement of 
staff.
The target will 
be achieved 
in the next 
financial year.



Programme 1: Budget

2012/2013

Sub-Programme Budget Actual Expenditure (Over) Under Expenditure

 Office of the CEO R1 685 000 R1 161 751 R523 249

Support Services R1825 000  R760 490 R1 064 510

Total  R3 510 000 R1 922 241 R1 587 759

Programme 2:  Researched, Viable and Sustainable Clusters and Notes

Purpose: The EC-RDA recognises that in order to impact upon the livelihood of the communities within a specific 
geographical space, nodes and clusters will have to be identified and developed.  Therefore, the Agency will need to 
research and spatially map comparative advantages of such nodes and clusters and align these with municipal level IDPs, 
Local Area Based Plans and Spatial Development Frameworks (SDFs).  Local area research will be coupled with market- 
and value-chain research to identify markets with limited barriers to entry.

The ECRDA also recognises that in order for rural communities to be uplifted, capacitated local and nodal institutions and 
people will be needed.  Therefore, legal institutions must be developed and communities capacitated. 

2.1. Strategic Objectives, Performance Indicators and Annual Targets - Researched, Viable and Sustainable 
Nodes and Cluster Development

Programme2:  Researched , Viable and Sustainable Clusters and Nodes

Strategic Goal 2: Researched , Viable and Sustainable Clusters and Nodes

 Strategic Objective Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual 
Achievement

Deviation from 
Planned Target 

Comment on 
Deviations

Develop Nodes and 
Clusters

Number of nodes 
and clusters 
identified with 
their development 
interventions.

0 Development forums 
established in Cacadu, 
Chris Hani, Joe Gqabi and 
OR Tambo.

Two district forums 
have not been 
concluded.

Internal capacity 
need to be 
improved.

Institutional and 
human capacity 
developed

Develop and 
implement 
institutional and 
human capacity 
programme linked 
to nodes and 
clusters.

One plan An institutional capacity 
development plan 
completed.

The plan has 
not yet been 
implemented.

Limited internal 
capacity. ECRDA 
needs to build 
internal capacity 
to roll out skills 
development 
programmes.



Programme 2:  Budget

2012/2013

Programme Budget Actual Expenditure (Over) Under Expenditure

Researched, viable and 
sustainable clusters and nodes 

R1 100 000 0.00 R1 100 000

Total R1 100 000 0.00 R1 100 000

Programme 3:  Implementation of High Impact Priority Programmes (HIPP)
Purpose: The ECRDA programme implementation focuses on nodal and institutional capacity development, agricultural 
and agro-processing, infrastructure and mechanisation support, forestry development and alternative energy.

The Agency will also have a dedicated focus and the management and monitoring of the work of the existing subsidiaries, 
these include Kangela Citrus Farms, Sugar Beet RSA, and the soon to be acquired Magwa and Majola Tea Estates. The main 
aim is to look at optimising the opera-tins of these entities with the possibility of diversifying the operations in order to 
make them sustainable. It will therefore be prudent that the Agency facilitate an extensive review of the funding models 
and turnaround strategies in conjunction with the mother department (DRDAR).

Sub-Programme 3.1:  Agriculture and Agro Processing
Purpose: Agricultural production is a core pillar of agrarian transformation and food production that is specifically 
highlighted in the EC-PGDP and is associated with dry-land and irrigated cropping, new irrigation schemes, partnership-
based cluster crop development and livestock market development through partnering with stakeholders to facilitate 
itinerant cattle auctions and the provision of over-wintering support.

3.1.1. Strategic Objectives, Performance Indicators and Annual Target - Agriculture and Agro-Processing

Programme 3:  Implementation of High Impact Priority Programmes

Sub Programme 3.1: Agriculture and Agro Processing

Strategic Goal 3: Effective Programme Management and Implementation

Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation 
from Planned 
Target

Comment on 
Deviations

Viable and 
sustainable 
programmes 
identified and 
implemented

Dry land 
cropping 
programme 
implemented 
(number of ha 
planted)

6000  (Unfunded) Programme not implemented due lack 
of funding.

6000ha could 
not be planted

The programme 
was unfunded  
due to limited 
budget allocated 
to ECRDA

High Value 
Cropping 
programme 
under irrigation  
implemented 
(number of  ha 
planted)

100 
(24ha KKH)

60ha 
(Highbury)

Implementation was held back as a 
result of the new model proposed for 
Highbury irrigation scheme.
KKH  funds were disbursed for 
stipends of project beneficiaries as 
there was inadequate funding for 
implementation.

100ha not 
planted.

Programme was 
inadequately 
funded.
More budget 
must be 
allocated to assist 
implementation.

Livestock 
development 
programme 
implemented 
(number of 
livestock units 
managed)

5000 Technical support provided to 150 
farmers, who own more than 5000 herd 
of cattle.
(Supplementary feed, vaccinations, 
dipping, de-horning, branding, mating 
etc.)

107 farmers 
could not be 
supported 
with female 
breeding 
stock.

Budget 
constraints 
denied 
opportunity to 
107 farmers for 
female breeding 
stock.



Programme 3:  Implementation of High Impact Priority Programmes

Sub Programme 3.1: Agriculture and Agro Processing

Strategic Goal 3: Effective Programme Management and Implementation

Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation 
from Planned 
Target

Comment on 
Deviations

Value chain 
development 
strategy 
completed and 
approved.

2 Initiatives have been undertaken to 
review the governance structures of the 
subsidiaries (Khangela and ARDA).
Terms of reference for due diligence 
reviews of  Khangela (Pty) Ltd and ARDA 
have been developed.

Value chain 
development 
strategies not 
yet developed.

Magwa Tea (Pty) 
Ltd is not yet a 
subsidiary as the 
sale of the shares 
of agreement 
was put on hold 
pending the 
resolution of the 
debt owed by 
Magwa to ECDC. 

ECRDA 
Implementing 
cropping 
programmes on 
behalf of other 
institutions-
agency 
function(number 
of ha)
-DAFF
-DRDLR
-DRDAR

6500ha 
(administered 
funds)

A total of 8835ha been planted under 
the following programmes:
2473ha planted of maize under DAFF 
programme.
6232ha planted for maize and dry beans 
(5044 ha and 1188ha) under DRDAR 
programme.
130ha of maize planted under RDLR 
programme.

An additional 
2335ha 
achieved. 

DRDAR increased 
the budget 
which resulted in 
an additional ha 
planted.

Sub-Programme 3.2:  Infrastructure Development
Purpose: Support sought to develop mechanisation capability in the province by leveraging funding, including 
the provision of small farmer and community support by making available, as loan funding, a minimal contribution 
required from the farmers and communities when  applying for mechanisation financing.  The programme will facilitate 
mechanisation loans exceeding R40 million through increasing co-ordinated mechanisation availability in the province to 
increase economic activity and decrease production costs in the long run,  and to increase overall hectare planted.

Infrastructure development provides access to quality physical, social and economic infrastructure by rural communities 
which acts as the catalyst to turn land and natural resources into viable assets in the hands of the rural poor.  Infrastructure 
development includes refurbishing grain silos at Butterworth and erecting a mill in the vicinity through a public private 
partnership arrangement.  



3.2.1. Strategic Objectives, Performance indicators and Annual Targets - Infrastructure Development

Programme 3:  Implementation of High Impact Priority Programmes

Sub-Programme 3.2: Infrastructure Development

Strategic Goal 3:  Effective Programme Management and Implementation

Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation from 
Planned Target

Comment on 
Deviations

Viable and 
sustainable 
programmes 
identified and 
implemented

Regional silo 
development 
programme 
implemented  
(number  
of silos 
established)

2
(Target Jobs 
Fund pro-
gramme)

Two project applications approved for 
funding by the Jobs Fund. The tripartite 
agreement has been signed by ECRDA 
and ECDC but not yet signed by DBSA 
Jobs Fund.

Implementation 
has not 
commenced due 
to finalisation of 
the agreements.

Delays in signing 
of the tripartite 
agreement 
and related 
administration.

Infield 
Irrigation 
Infrastructure 
development 
(number of ha 
developed).

300ha Programme could not be 
implemented.

300ha could not 
be planted.

The programme 
was unfunded 
due to limited 
budget allocated 
to ECRDA. 

Establishment 
of local 
storage 
facilities 
(number of 
sheds, buffer 
silos).

Programme could not be 
implemented.

Three storage 
facilities could not 
be implemented.

The programme 
was unfunded 
due to limited 
budget allocated 
to ECRDA.

Sub Programme 3.3:  Forestry Development
Purpose: Forestry development aims to facilitate the development and implementation of a forestry plan that will enable 
development within rural communities, the improved management of existing forests, and the improvement of existing 
and establishment of new downstream manufacturing opportunities in the timber industry.

3.3.1. Strategic Objectives, Performance indicators and Annual Targets- Forestry Development 

Sub-Programme 3.3: Forestry Development

Strategic Goal: Effective Programme Management and Implementation

Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation from 
Planned Target

Comment on 
Deviations

Viable and 
sustainable 
programmes 
identified and 
implemented 

Identification 
of land suitable 
for forestry 
development 
(ha).

20 000ha 18 000ha identified as suitable for 
targeted forestry development.

Target fell short of 
about 2000 ha.

Delays in 
Jobs project 
implementation 
reduced the need 
for new target 
areas.

Packaging and 
resourcing 
of  5000ha 
of additional 
projects for 
resourcing 
proposals (ha).

5000ha No additional projects have been 
packaged and resourced.

5000ha not 
packaged and 
resourced due to 
uncertainty on 
budget availability. 

It was decided not 
to package new 
projects until the 
current projects 
are implemented 
through the Jobs 
Fund.

Facilitate, 
support and 
monitor 
implementation 
of new 
plantation 
projects as well 
as programme 
management 
and support(ha).

7000ha 9000ha are currently being supported 
and implemented.

2000 additional 
hectares achieved. 

EIA records of 
decision for two 
projects resulted 
in higher than 
expected hectares 
approved.



Sub Programme 3.4:  Alternative Energy
Purpose: The Alternative and Renewable Energy Programme seeks to facilitate the identification and implementation of 
an appropriate renewable energy strategy to meet the short, medium and long term needs of rural communities within 
the Eastern Cape. 

The South African government has set a target of 10 000GWh or 10TWh of electricity to be produced by renewable 
energy by 2013.  The provision of energy has been identified as a critical enabler to facilitate rural development in the 
Eastern Cape. Active partnerships will drive the implementation of this portfolio. Potential of up to 4950MW for hydro 
power generation in Thukela and Mzimvubu basins to Keiskamma catchments combined is available.1 

3.4.1. Strategic Objectives, Performance Indicators and Annual Targets - Alternative Energy 

Programme 3: Implementation of High Impact Priority Programmes

Sub: Programme 3.4:  Alternative Energy

Strategic Goal 3: Effective Programme Management and Implementation

Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation from 
Planned Target

Comment on 
Deviations

Viable and 
sustainable 
programmes 
identified and 
implemented

Facilitate new 
projects on 
alternative 
energy 
(number of 
programmes 
facilitated).

1 Pre-feasibility studies could not be 
performed due to budget constraints.
The project concerns changing Umtata/ 
OR Tambo Municipal waste into bio-gas.

 Project not 
implemented.

The project has 
been inadequately 
budgeted for.
ECRDA will 
have to partner 
with potential 
stakeholder to 
implement the 
project.

1 The bio-gas project could not be 
implemented due to lack of funding 
and related technical capacity.

Project could not 
be implemented.

The challenge of 
technical capacity 
with desired 
technology needs 
to be addressed. 

Establish 
partner-ships 
with potential 
investors and 
stakeholders 
in the sector 
(number of 
investors 
secured in the 
alternative 
energy sector).

Potential partners identified following 
the EC international conference on 
renewable and alternative energy 
hosted by ECDC.

Formalisation of 
partnership will be 
undertaken in the 
following year.

Programme 3: Budget and Expenditure

2012/2013

Sub-Programme Budget Actual Expenditure (Over) Under Expenditure

Agriculture and Agro 
Processing

R3 130 000 R298 343 R2 831 343

Infrastructure Development 0.00 0.00 0.00

Forestry Development R1 135 000 R630 257 R504 743

Alternative Energy 500 000 0.00 R500 000

Total R4 765 000 R928 600 R3 836 400



Programme 4: Stakeholder Relations

Purpose: Stakeholder relations and management seeks to build and empower community enterprises and maintain 
networks within the sector, at provincial, national and international levels.

4.1. Strategic Objectives, Performance Indicators and Annual Targets - Stakeholder Relations

Programme 4: Stakeholder Relations

Strategic Goal 4: Stakeholder Management and Functional Partnerships

Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation from 
Planned Target

Comment on 
Deviations

Branding, 
marketing and 
communication 
strategies 
developed

Develop 
and review 
communication 
strategy 
annually.

1 
Communication 
Strategy

Communication strategy has been 
developed.

Target achieved, 
communi-
cation strategy 
developed.

None

Functional 
Partnerships 
established and 
maintained

Functional 
partnerships 
established 
(number of 
MoUs signed 
with strategic 
partners).

5 MOU signed with WSU on research and 
development programme.
DTI Presidential intervention 
programme implementation.
PFA	–	Project	funding	agreement	with	
ECDC on DEDEAT Local and Regional 
Economic Development Fund.
DRDAR and ECRDA on the cropping 
programme. 

One MOU 
has not been 
concluded.

One MOU with 
Agri-Seta is at 
a draft stage to 
be concluded 
in the next 
financial year.

Stakeholder 
(customer) 
expectations 
mapped and 
met

Map 
stakeholders 
involved in rural 
development 
programmes 
(stakeholder 
matrix).

40 One stakeholder matrix developed with 
60 stakeholders registered.

Target was 
exceeded with 
20 additional 
stakeholders.

None

Stakeholder 
customer 
awareness 
promoted

Stakeholder 
awareness 
(number of road 
shows and radio 
talk shows)

6 Road shows undertaken in three areas, 
Ntabankulu, Qamata and Amathole.

Three road 
shows 
unattended.

ECRDA 
transitional 
process led 
to delays in 
programme 
implementation.
The remaining 
road shows will 
be conducted 
in the next 
financial year.

Stakeholder 
engagement 
process 
developed

Develop 
stakeholder 
engagement 
guideline.

1
Stakeholder engagement guideline 
draft document developed.

The guideline is 
still in the draft 
stage.

The document 
needs to be 
aligned with 
current policies. 



Programme 4:  Budget and Expenditure

2012/2013

Programme Budget Actual Expenditure (Over) Under Expenditure

 Stakeholder Relations R1 400 000 R841 065 R558 935

Total R1 400 000 R841 065 R558 935

Programme  5:   Rural Finance and Investment

Purpose: The primary aim is to develop effective mechanisation capability by leveraging funding and the provision of 
support to small farmers and communities through loan funding.

The Agency recognises that access to finance is one of the key catalysts to sustainable rural development and agrarian 
reform.  In this regard the Agency will play both a direct and facilitative role in ensuring improved access to finance by 
communities at village and farm level.  The Agency also recognises the need for co-ordinated rural fund management 
whose objective will be to ensure improved funding of rural focused programmes.  

Building fund management capability will be one of the core focus areas of the Agency.  The financial products to be 
developed by the Agency will be primarily aligned to the core programmes.  

Programme 5: Rural Finance and Investment

Strategic Goal 3:  Effective Programme Management and Implementation

Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation from 
Planned Target

Comment on 
Deviations

Investments 
and fund 
growth

Provision of 
Mafisa loans 
of < 25 000 to 
farmers.

240 farmers 
administered 
funds (R4.8m).

A total of 574 farmers have been 
reached and assisted.

Target was 
exceeded by 334 
farmers who were 
supported with a 
variance of R 3420 
982

ECRDA loans have 
lower interest rates 
on loans than the 
Mafisa interest 
rates.
Farmers tend to 
take ECRDA loans.
Land bank 
launched a 
product with far 
lower interest rates 
than Mafisa and 
ECRDA loans.
Mafisa programme 
was suspended for 
two quarters.
Mafisa programme 
is considering a 
review of the rates.



Programme 5: Rural Finance and Investment

Strategic Goal 3:  Effective Programme Management and Implementation

Provision of 
Mafisa loans 
of > 25000 to 
farmers

60 farmers 
Administered 
funds (R6m)

45 Farmers have been reached and 
assisted

Target not 
achieved, 15 
farmers could not 
be reached with a 
variance of 5942 
535

ECRDA loans have 
lower interest rates 
on loans than the 
Mafisa interest 
rates.
Farmers tend to 
take ECRDA loans.
Land bank 
launched a 
product with far 
lower interest rates 
than Mafisa and 
ECRDA loans.

Mafisa programme 
was suspended for 
two quarters.

Mafisa programme 
is considering 
reviewing the rates

Strategic 
Objective

Performance 
Indicator

Annual Target Actual  Annual Achievement Deviation from 
Planned Target

Comment on 
Deviations

Provision of 
loan finance 
to small 
scale farmers 
(rands).

75 farmers 180 Farmers have been reached and 
supported.

Target was 
exceeded by 
105 famers with 
a variance of 
R1 320 354.

Land bank 
launched a 
product with far 
lower interest rates 
than ECRDA loans.
DAFF cropping 
programme 
has impacted 
negatively on 
ECRDA target 
market due to 
communities that  
would normally 
get loans from 
ECRDA now 
having access to 
grant funding.

Provision of 
loan finance 
to emerging 
farmers 
(rands).

15 farmers 44 farmers were reached and 
supported.

Target was 
exceeded by 29 
farmers with a 
variance of       R1 
777 515.

ECRDA increased 
its marketing drive 
towards emerging 
farmers who did 
not benefit from 
other sources/ 
grants.

Provision of 
loans to rural 
enterprises 
(rands).

20 
entrepreneurs

110 rural entrepreneurs have been 
reached and assisted.

Target was 
exceeded by 90 
famers with a 
variance of R1 597 
954

Increased 
demand for rural 
development 
loans.

Facilitate  
workshops  
on  borrower 
education

Four  train-
the-trainer 
sessions.

Training could not be undertaken. Target not 
achieved, training 
sessions not 
conducted.

 Budget 
constraints limited 
opportunities for 
training.



Programme 5: Rural Finance and Investment

Strategic Goal 3:  Effective Programme Management and Implementation

Develop, 
adopt and 
implement 
a com-
prehensive 
loan recovery 
strategy.

1 strategy 
document

The strategy development was initiated 
but could not be finalised.

A draft strategy has 
been developed.

The draft 
document will be 
finalised in the 
next financial year.

Programme 5:  Budget and Expenditure

2012/2013

Programme Budget Actual Expenditure (Over) Under Expenditure

Rural Finance and Investment R4 718 000  R6 846 728 -R2 128 728

Total  R  4 718 000       R 6 846 728     -R2 128 728





3. governance

3.1. Introduction
Corporate governance embodies processes and systems by which public entities are directed, controlled and held to 
account. In addition to legislative requirements based on ECRDA’s enabling legislation, and the Companies Act, corporate 
governance with regard to ECRDA is applied through the precepts of the Public Finance Management Act ( PFMA ) and run 
in tandem with the principles contained in the King’s Report on Corporate Governance.

The Eastern Cape Provincial Legislature , the Executive and the Board of the ECRDA are responsible  for corporate governance.

3.2. Portfolio Committees
During the year under review, the Agency only interacted with the Portfolio Committee on Agricultural and Rural 
Development.
 
The Agency met and presented reports to the Portfolio Committee on Agriculture and Rural Development on the 
following dates:

23 May 2012: Presentation of Annual Performance Plan
31 May 2012: Presentation on the state of ECRDA subsidiaries
30 August 2012: Presentation of Annual Report
27 November 2012: Confirmation of Budget allocation

The Agency appreciates the support and guidance it has received from the Portfolio Committee. The Committee fully 
understands the background and challenges of the Agency in fulfilling its legislative mandate. This is evidenced through 
the continuous and unwavering support as well as guidance received from the Committee in shaping the Agency’s quest 
and vision of reaching out to the rural poor. 

Furthermore, the Agency made written submissions to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA) as a response 
to specific questions of clarity during the 2011/12 financial year. SCOPA was satisfied with the submissions thus there was 
no need for a meeting with SCOPA.

3.3 Executive Authority
The ECRDA has performed to its utmost best and has been compliant with all laws and regulations relevant to its 
space of operation. Performance information and monitoring thereof has become one of the priority pillars in the 
entity’s operations.

All reports due for submission to the shareholder and the other authorities have been developed and submitted accordingly.



3.4. The Accounting Authority/The Board
3.4.1. The Board of Directors and composition of the Board
The ECRDA is governed by a Board of Directors which is appointed by the MEC of DRDAR.  The Board is comprised of 11 non-
executive members and two ex officio representatives (The CEO and Company Secretary).  The current Board of Directors 
was appointed in November 2012.  The inauguration of this Board took place on the 14th of November 2012 in the Blue 
Lagoon Hotel.  It then held its first Special Board meeting on the 19th of November 2012 in East London.  This was followed 
by a strategic session of the Board which was held at Mpongo Park Game Reserve on the 11th of December 2012.

The Directors have the requisite skills, knowledge and experience to provide strategic leadership to the organization. 
However 1 member of the Board who is Mr M. Tonga resigned and this vacancy has not been filled yet.

3.4.2. Meeting attendance of the Board

The meetings of the Board of Directors are regulated in terms of an approved annual calendar of meetings.  This calendar 
provides for quarterly Board meetings to deliberate issues as per a formal agenda. Detailed minutes are recorded of such 
meetings.  A register of attendance and disclosure of interest is kept and maintained at every Board meeting.  Besides the 
scheduled Board meetings, provision has been made for additional special Board meetings as well as ad hoc engagements 
with stakeholders that are pursuant to the mission and objectives of the ECRDA. Attendance of the Directors to meetings 
is excellent and currently stands at 99%.  

3.4.3. Board Committees 

The ECRDA Board of Directors has four functional Board Committees, mainly human capital and remuneration, risk and 
audit committee, programs and project committee, credit finance and capital investment committee and governance 
committee respectively.  These committees meet before Board meetings, to review matters and to take appropriate 
decisions that are to be tabled before the Governance Committee for oversight purposes.  The meetings of the committees 
are also regulated in terms of an approved calendar and deliberations are minuted and implemented once they have 
been deliberated upon by the Governance Committee and ratified by the Board. 

The Governance Committee is the penultimate governance structure of the Board of Directors to which all the Board 
Committees report for oversight and to get guidance on their respective deliberations. 

The Committees have been constituted as follows:

1. Human Capital & Remuneration Committee (i.e. HC & R)
The Chairperson of this board committee is Mr Xolile George.

The rest of the members are:
•	 Mr	Abraham	Le	Roux	-	Member
•	 Ms	Zanele	Semane	-	Member
•	 Mr	Vuyani	Jarana	-	Member
•	 Mr	Luvuyo	Malcolm	Thomas	-	Company	Secretary
•	 Dr	L	Mrwebi	-	Interim	CEO

2. Risk & Audit Committee
The Chairperson of this is Mr Sabatha Mbalekwa

The rest of the members are:
•	 Mr	Abraham	Le	Roux	-	Member
•	 Ms	Bongiwe	Kali	-	Member
•	 Internal	Auditor	-	Internal	Auditor
•	 External	Auditor	-	External	Auditor
•	 Dr	L	Mrwebi	-	Interim		CEO
•	 Mr	Luvuyo	Thomas	-	Company	Secretary



3. Programmes & Project Committee
The Chairperson of this committee is Mr Cornelius Pietersen

The rest of the members are:
•	 Ms	Bongiwe	Kali	-	Member
•	 Ms	Zanele	Semane	-	Member
•	 Ms	Fezeka	Mkile	-	Member	 	 	
•	 Dr	L	Mrwebi	-	Interim	CEO
•	 Mr	Luvuyo	Malcolm	Thomas	-	Company	Secretary

4. Finvest Committee
The Committee has the overall responsibility for the effective formulating, implementation, monitoring and reviewing of 
the credit policy, as well as formulating and monitoring the implementation of the ECRDA Credit, Finance and Investment 
policies. The Committee also monitors inflows and outflows of the Agency’s finances and carry out other duties that are 
determined by the Board from time to time.

Membership composition of the Committee is as follows:
•	 Ms	F.	Mkile	-	Chairperson
•	 Mr.	CJ	Pietersen	-	Member
•	 Mr.	V	Jarana	-	Member
•	 Mr.	W.	Mbalekwa	-	Member

5. Governance Committee
The Governance Committee of the Board of Directors of Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency (ECRDA) provides assistance 
to the Board in fulfilling its responsibility to the entity considering the fact that the entity derives its value by efficiently acquiring 
and productively applying the required resources controlled by its stakeholders, including its board members.

Membership composition of the Governance Committee is as follows:
•	 Dr.	V.	Mkosana	-	Chairperson
•	 Prince	Z.	Burns	-	Ncamashe	-	Member
•	 Mr.	X.	George	-	Member
•	 Mr.	CJ	Pietersen	-	Member
•	 Mr.	W.	Mbalekwa	-	Member
•	 Ms.	F.	Mkile	-	Member
  

3.4.4. Functioning of Board Committees and Risk Management

The attendance of members of the various committees remains excellent at 99%.  The functioning of all Board Committees 
when deliberating on matters, is governed by its charter which also contains its terms of reference.  The ECRDA endeavors 
to incorporate the ethos of excellence in corporate governance as well as the Board Charter and the Charters of the 
various Board Committees, the following  policies were approved during the year under review; 
•	 Collections	policy
•	 Supply	Chain	policy	
•	 Investment	policy
•	 Human	Resource	policy

The delegations of authority as well as risk management and fraud prevention plans are currently under review.

The term of Mazars who provided internal audit services to the ECRDA has been renewed for a further period while a 
permanent appointment for the position of internal auditor is sought.

The ECRDA has drafted its strategy and business plan for the next five years.  This included the drafting of specific, 
measurable,	identifiable	and	time	–	bound	strategic	objectives	and	performance	indicators.		The	strategy	and	business	
plan was approved by the Board of Directors and is currently under review by the shareholder department.



Composition of the Board

ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# Surname Name Email Employment Directorships & Shareholdings Education Professional 
Development

Experience

1 Burns-Ncamashe Zolile burns.ncamashe@eclgta.gov.za - Political Office Bearer - House of Traditional Leaders (since 
1996) 
- Previously teacher

- Dream Weaver 
- Continuous Trade 
- Eagle Fishing 
- Ezirhwexu Investments 
- Indibano to Harvest 
- Indyebi Transport & Projects 
- Renflex Trading 
- Wild break 238 
- Cisco Fishing 
- Eyethu Fishing 
- Saco Fishing

BA HDE (UFH, 1994) - Member of SADC Council of 
Traditional Leaders 
- Chair of ECRFC Board of Directors 
- Board member of Eyethu Fishing 
- King Sandile Development Trust 
Trustee

2 Jarana Vuyani vuyani.jarana@vodacom.co.za - Executive Director Vodacom Business - Vodacom 
- previously Chairman - Stortech

- Chairman - Vodacom Nigeria 
 -  Executive Director - Vodacom South 
Africa

- Advanced Executive 
Programme (UNISA, 2004) 
- MBA (Uni of Stellenbosch, 
2004) 
- B. Comm (Uni of Transkei, 
1996) 
- Dip Telecommunications 
(Olifantsfontein 
Telecommunications 
College, 1990) 

- founding chairperson of Nelson 
Mandela National Museum Council 
(6 yrs) 
- Non -exec director of Legal Aid 
Board (4 yrs) 
- Executive director & Board Member 
of Vodacom South Africa (4 yrs) 
- Chairman of Stortech (1 yr) 
- Chairman of Vodacom Nigeria (4 
months) 
- Board member of Vodacom Lesotho 
(3 yrs) 
- Board member of Vodacom 
payment services (2 yrs)

3 Kali Bongiwe bkali2001@yahoo.com - CEO Notefull 1190cc t/a  Kali Poultry Services - Notefull 1190 cc 
- Lelam Consultants 
- ECRFC Board member 
- ARDA Board member

- currently enrolled: B.Comm 
(UNISA) 
- Business Management 
(Leadership Development 
Institution, 2006) 
- IT (IT Training Centre, 2001) 
- Microsoft Certified System 
Engineering (IT Training 
Centre, 2001)

- EC Female Farmer of the Year (2008) 
- Involvement in National Youth 
Development 
- Implementing strategy to facilitate 
entry of emerging farmers into 
mainstream agricultural economic 
- Board member - ECRFC  
- Board member - ARDA



ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# Surname Name Email Employment Directorships & Shareholdings Education Professional 
Development

Experience
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Composition of the Board

ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# Surname Name Email Employment Directorships & Shareholdings Education Professional 
Development

Experience

4 Le Roux Abraham abraham@lrxi.co.za - Managing Director - Le Roux Inc (since 1995) 
- previously Candidate Attorney 
 

- Le Roux (PE & Uitenhage)  Inc 
- Woodlands Safaris (Pty) Ltd 
- Le Roux (East London) Inc 
- GVRM Investments (Pty) Ltd 
- Taiz Risk Management (Pty) Ltd 
- Pascal Management Company (Pty) Ltd 
- Orkhon Investments (Pty) Ltd 
- Kelly Risk Management (Pty) Ltd 
- Nechako Capital (Pty) Ltd 
- Sharbot Treasury (Pty) Ltd 
- Southern Palace Investments 209 (Pty) 
Ltd 
- Southern Palace Investments 205 (Pty) 
Ltd 
- Quick Leap Investments 315 (Pty) Ltd 
- Quick Lead Investments 307 (Pty) Ltd 
- Sizanani Sport Skill Development  

- LLB (Uni of Stellenbosch, 
1993) 
- BA (Law) (Uni of 
Stellenbosch, 1991) 

- Cape Law Society 
(1995 - present)

Member of: - Glenconnor Farmers 
Association;  SANParks Honorary 
Rangers of the Addo Region 
(past Chairperson); SA Wildlife 
Management Association; Noordhoek 
Ski Boat Club;  SA Hunter;  
ANC (Ward 2, NMB) 
 
Admitted as an attorney, specialised 
in commercial law including 
property law (17 yrs), municipal 
law (14 yrs), public law including 
regulatory compliance, supply chain 
management, project management 
support, contracts, legal opinions and 
litigation (8 yrs) 
 
-Director of Ntinga Africa Business 
Investments (BEE Entity) (3 yrs) 
- Director of Woodlands Safaris (6 yrs) 
- Independent Director of 7 
investment companies & 4 mining 
companies (5 yrs) 
- Legal & regulatory compliance 
support to ECGBB (2.5 yrs) 
- Oversee Board secretariat function 
of ECGBB (1 yr) 

5 Mbalekwa Wiggett Sabatha smbalekwa@
mustardseedconsulting.co.za

- CEO - Mustard Seed Management Consulting CC ( since 
2012) 
- previously Divisional CEO Prov & Local Govt & Educational 
Institutions - FNB 
- previously - Loans manager - Agricultural Bank of the 
Transkei 
- Regional Director - FNB 
- Bantu Postal Assistant - Dept Posts & Telegraphs

- Laman (Pty) Ltd 
- Mustard Seed Management Consulting 
CC

- Masters (Business 
leadership) (UNISA, 2000) 
- B.Comm Hons (UNISA, 
1990) 
- B. Comm (RU, 1986)

- Institute of bankers -Banking- Prov & local govt, 
universities (15 yrs) 
- Agricultural advisory board (3 yrs) 
- Tracor Board Secretary (3 yrs) 
- Audit Comm experience - DPLG, 
Nyandeni, Mbashe, Ndlambe 
municipalities (2 yrs) 
- Premiers Project of Hope Trust ( 5 yrs)
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- previously - Loans manager - Agricultural Bank of the 
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- B.Comm Hons (UNISA, 
1990) 
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Composition of the Board

ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# Surname Name Email Employment Directorships & Shareholdings Education Professional 
Development

Experience

6 Mkile Fezeka fezz@vodamail.co.za - CEO - MSN Networking Services t/a Mthatha Airport 
Agricultural Services (MAAS) ( since 2007)

- Abaphumeleli Trading 126 
- Golden Pond Trading 640 
- ECRDA 
-  Khanyiso Children's Home 
- NSM Networking Services 
- OR Tambo Farmers Association

- Intro to Corporate 
Governance & Board 
Effectiveness (Institute of 
Directors, 2012) 
- Certificate of attendance 
in management training for 
women entrepreneurs (2012) 
- Certificate of competence 
in leadership & team building 
(2011) 
- Dip in Office Management 
& Compute skills (1999) 
- B. Admin (Uni of Durban 
Westville, 1997)

- Chair of farmers union, CEO of 
district union (OR Tambo) (5 yrs) 
- previously Prov Secretary of National 
African Farmers Union 
- National Social Innovation Award 
from SAB (2011) 
- 1st runner up - Top Entrepreneur 
Commercial EC Provincial Female 
farmer of the year (2011/12) 
 
Experience: 
- Agriculture & rural development 
(5 yrs) 
- Board of ECRFC / ECRDA ( 6 mnths) 
- Board of OR Tambo Farmers Assoc 
( 8 yrs) 
- Board of Golden Pond Trading (4 yrs) 
- Board of Khanyisa Children's Home 
(4 yrs) 

7 Mkosana Vanguard Mbuyiseli van@ziziconsulting.co.za - Self employed - Zizi Consulting (since 2010) 
- previously - Special advisor to the Minister - Dept of Labour 
- previously - Dir Gen - Dept of Labour 
- previously - dep Dir Gen - Dept of Labour 
- previously - Head of Dept - EC Dept of Transport 
- previously- HOD - Office of the Premier

- Zizi Consulting 
- Human Capital Group 
- Aspire 
- Thezi-Langa Proprietary Ltd

- snr Exec Prog for SA (Wits 
Business School, Harvard 
Business School 1998) 
- Dip HR Management 
(Damelin Management 
School, 1993) 
- certificate in Public 
Management & 
Development (UFH School 
of Govt, UWC School of Govt, 
1997) 
- MA (Charles University, 
Prague, 1987) 
- PhD (Charles University, 
Prague, 1988)

- creation of People's Forum in Office 
of the Premier 
- championed skills development 
interventions in rural areas 
- skills development as strategic 
intervention to reduce poverty & 
unemployment (10 yrs) 
- transport planning in EC (3 yrs) 
 
Board experience: 
-Aspire 
- SARCC (Metrorail) (1 yr) 
- Alga Bus service (1 yr) 
- Mayibuye bus service (1 yr) 
- Compensation Fun (4 yrs) 
- Occupational Health & Safety (4yrs) 
- Nedlac (3 yrs) 
- Proudly South African (2 yrs) 
- African Regional Labour Centre (ILO) 
(2 yrs)



ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Governance & Board 
Effectiveness (Institute of 
Directors, 2012) 
- Certificate of attendance 
in management training for 
women entrepreneurs (2012) 
- Certificate of competence 
in leadership & team building 
(2011) 
- Dip in Office Management 
& Compute skills (1999) 
- B. Admin (Uni of Durban 
Westville, 1997)

- Chair of farmers union, CEO of 
district union (OR Tambo) (5 yrs) 
- previously Prov Secretary of National 
African Farmers Union 
- National Social Innovation Award 
from SAB (2011) 
- 1st runner up - Top Entrepreneur 
Commercial EC Provincial Female 
farmer of the year (2011/12) 
 
Experience: 
- Agriculture & rural development 
(5 yrs) 
- Board of ECRFC / ECRDA ( 6 mnths) 
- Board of OR Tambo Farmers Assoc 
( 8 yrs) 
- Board of Golden Pond Trading (4 yrs) 
- Board of Khanyisa Children's Home 
(4 yrs) 

7 Mkosana Vanguard Mbuyiseli van@ziziconsulting.co.za - Self employed - Zizi Consulting (since 2010) 
- previously - Special advisor to the Minister - Dept of Labour 
- previously - Dir Gen - Dept of Labour 
- previously - dep Dir Gen - Dept of Labour 
- previously - Head of Dept - EC Dept of Transport 
- previously- HOD - Office of the Premier

- Zizi Consulting 
- Human Capital Group 
- Aspire 
- Thezi-Langa Proprietary Ltd

- snr Exec Prog for SA (Wits 
Business School, Harvard 
Business School 1998) 
- Dip HR Management 
(Damelin Management 
School, 1993) 
- certificate in Public 
Management & 
Development (UFH School 
of Govt, UWC School of Govt, 
1997) 
- MA (Charles University, 
Prague, 1987) 
- PhD (Charles University, 
Prague, 1988)

- creation of People's Forum in Office 
of the Premier 
- championed skills development 
interventions in rural areas 
- skills development as strategic 
intervention to reduce poverty & 
unemployment (10 yrs) 
- transport planning in EC (3 yrs) 
 
Board experience: 
-Aspire 
- SARCC (Metrorail) (1 yr) 
- Alga Bus service (1 yr) 
- Mayibuye bus service (1 yr) 
- Compensation Fun (4 yrs) 
- Occupational Health & Safety (4yrs) 
- Nedlac (3 yrs) 
- Proudly South African (2 yrs) 
- African Regional Labour Centre (ILO) 
(2 yrs)



Composition of the Board

ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# Surname Name Email Employment Directorships & Shareholdings Education Professional 
Development

Experience

8 Pietersen Cornelius corlou@510.co.za Self employed farmer - ECRDA 
- ECRFC

- Agricultural Development 
Programme (Uni of Pretoria, 
2005) 
- Directors training (IOD, 
2012) 

-Agri Eastern Cape 
Farmer Union

- Agric EC Farmers Assoc General 
Council 
- Cockscomb water scheme 
- commercial farmer (38 yrs) 
- organised agriculture (17 yrs) 
- business coop (4 yrs) 
- marketing livestock and butchery 
(9 yrs) 
- Uvimba /ECRFC and EC-rDA Board (5 
yrs) - Chair of Vulithuba and marketing 
committee

9 Semane Rosemary Zanele zanele@brc21.co.za
zanele.semane@gmail.com

- Programmes Manager - Border Rural Committee (since 
1999) 
- Assistant Director - DEDEAT 
- Head of Dept and  lecturer - Fort Cox College of Agriculture

- Qulathisa Trading Enterprise CC 
- Border Rural Committee

- Advanced Tourism 
certificate (UNISA, 2009) 
- BA Hons (UNISA, 1996) 
- B Home Economics (Uni of 
Zululand, 1990) 
- Snr Home Economic 
Teachers Certificate (LL Sebe 
College, 1983)

- Home Economics 
Assoc in South Africa 
(1993 - present)

- experience in EC: land rights 
campaigns, promotion of rural 
development 
- presented papers & sat in panels 
on poverty reduction strategies & 
interventions 
- international educational tour for 
rural development &land reform 
- worked as community development 
officer 
- trained students to become 
community extension officers 
- experience in NGOs - strategic 
planning, reports, budgets, 
fundraising 
 
Board experience: 
- Board of Governors - Fort Cox 
College (4 yrs) 
- Board of Directors - Border Rural 
Committee (7 yrs) 
- EC Consumer Tribunal (4 yrs)



ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# Surname Name Email Employment Directorships & Shareholdings Education Professional 
Development

Experience
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(9 yrs) 
- Uvimba /ECRFC and EC-rDA Board (5 
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- Programmes Manager - Border Rural Committee (since 
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- Qulathisa Trading Enterprise CC 
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- Advanced Tourism 
certificate (UNISA, 2009) 
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- B Home Economics (Uni of 
Zululand, 1990) 
- Snr Home Economic 
Teachers Certificate (LL Sebe 
College, 1983)

- Home Economics 
Assoc in South Africa 
(1993 - present)

- experience in EC: land rights 
campaigns, promotion of rural 
development 
- presented papers & sat in panels 
on poverty reduction strategies & 
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- international educational tour for 
rural development &land reform 
- worked as community development 
officer 
- trained students to become 
community extension officers 
- experience in NGOs - strategic 
planning, reports, budgets, 
fundraising 
 
Board experience: 
- Board of Governors - Fort Cox 
College (4 yrs) 
- Board of Directors - Border Rural 
Committee (7 yrs) 
- EC Consumer Tribunal (4 yrs)



Composition of the Board

ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# Surname Name Email Employment Directorships & Shareholdings Education Professional 
Development

Experience

10 George Xolile xolile.george@gmail.com CEO - SALGA 
- previously Executive Director: Economic Development, City 
of JHB 
- previously Acting Executive Director: Community 
Development, City of JHB 
- previously Regional Director, City of Johannesburg 
- previously Director: Executive Support, Amathole District 
Municipality 
- previously Acting Director, Amathole District Municipality

-MBA (Grad School of 
Business, Netherlands, 2002) 
- Master Devp Economics 
(1 project outstanding) 
(University of Pretoria, 1996) 
- Devp Economics Hons (Uni 
of Pretoria, 1994) 
- B. Econ (UFH, 1992) 
 
other certificates - see CV

-sits on Presidential Co-ordinating 
Council 
- represents local government in the 
Cabinet Annual Programme Planning 
and Policy and Programme evaluation 
of Government Performance 
- Represents Local Government in the 
sector Ministerial IGR Structures 
- Member of the forum of South 
African Director Generals

11 Tonga Mbalisi tongam60@gmail.com - FAWU Official - FAWU  Dip in Practical Law (NMMU, 
2006) 
Nat Dip in Law (UJ, 2009) 
Extracurricular Postgrad Dip 
in Labour Law (UJ, 2010)

Board experience: 
 ECRFC Board member (6 years) 
Wild Coast training centre (2 years)



ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ECRDA BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# Surname Name Email Employment Directorships & Shareholdings Education Professional 
Development

Experience
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Council 
- represents local government in the 
Cabinet Annual Programme Planning 
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of Government Performance 
- Represents Local Government in the 
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- Member of the forum of South 
African Director Generals

11 Tonga Mbalisi tongam60@gmail.com - FAWU Official - FAWU  Dip in Practical Law (NMMU, 
2006) 
Nat Dip in Law (UJ, 2009) 
Extracurricular Postgrad Dip 
in Labour Law (UJ, 2010)

Board experience: 
 ECRFC Board member (6 years) 
Wild Coast training centre (2 years)



3.4.6. Remuneration of the Board
The remuneration of Board members are benchmarked against the fees paid by other public entities in the Eastern Cape 
Province and approved by the Member of Executive Council.  The Board members are remunerated at a flat rate per 
meeting and are re-imbursed for kilometres travelled in terms of the ECRDA’s subsistence and travel policy.  The board 
members do not claim preparation fees and do not receive retention allowances.

Board members are remunerated as follows:

Name Remuneration, including re-imbursements Other allowances Total

Burn-Ncamashe Z., Prince 1 000 329 - 1 000 329

Kali B., Ms 447 439 - 447 439

Pietersen C.J., Mr 214 064 - 214 064

Mkile F.F., Ms 422 836 - 422 836

Mkosana V.M., Dr 320 697 - 320 697

George X., Mr 121 708 - 121 708

Jarana V., Mr 73 046 - 73 046

Le Roux A., Mr 144 914 - 144 914

Mbalekwa S.W., Mr 140 134 - 140 134

Semane Z., Ms 114 380 - 114 380

Tonga M., Mr 115 558 - 115 558

3.5. Risk Management
The ECRDA defines risk as the possibility that an event will occur and adversely affect the achievement of the Agency’s 
objectives.  Risk management is the identification and evaluation of actual and potential risk areas applicable to the 
business, followed by a process of mitigation, acceptance, transfer or avoidance of each risk. It is a continuous, proactive 
and systematic process, effected by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), management and  personnel across the organization.  
The ECRDA’s risk management process is designed to identify potential events that may affect the Agency and to manage 
risks within its risk tolerance standards in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of the 
Agency’s objectives.

The Risk Management Process and strategy is geared towards:
•	 Achievement	of	strategic	objectives,	
•	 Acting	responsibly	towards	stakeholders,
•	 Reliable	reporting,
•	 Ensuring	business	continuity	under	adverse	as	well	as	normal	conditions,
•	 Compliance	with	regulatory	requirements,
•	 Safeguarding	of	assets,	and
•	 Efficient	and	effective	operations.

A strategic risk workshop with managers and personnel from different spheres within the Agency was held on 14 
February 2013 to identify and assess risks. The most significant risks were then assessed by the Audit Committee and 
Management. The results of the workshop and Audit Committee’s assessment resulted in a risk register which forms 
the basis of management’s risk mitigation efforts and an internal audit plan for the next three years as prepared by the 
internal auditors.



The most significant residual risks identified were the risk of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the 
content of reports, the lack of accountability, insufficient funding of the ECRDA mandate and the pending acquisition of 
the underfunded Magwa Tea Estate (MTE).

The ECRDA is interacting with the Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform (DRDAR) and Provincial 
Treasury (PT) regarding the funding needs for its own mandate and the turnaround of Magwa Tea Estate.  The Provincial 
Treasury  has indicated its willingness to assist with a comprehensive business plan for Magwa Tea Estate which will be 
used to attract funders.  Similarly, the ECRDA is developing a new strategy supporting its rural development mandate 
which will be used to share its vision and lobby for funding from the public and private sectors.  

Risks relating to laws and regulations, content of reports and lack of accountability are managed in-house through 
risk management, use of internal audit, development of reporting templates and lastly, improving the mindset of 
accountability and responsibility amongst all employees.  Risk management is an ongoing process that belongs to the 
ECRDA as a collective.

3.6. Internal Control Unit
The ECRDA does not have an internal control unit.  Internal controls are implemented and managed by the Chief Executive 
Officer with the support of Executive Management.

3.7. Internal Audit and Audit Committees
The internal audit function of ECRDA is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 
value and improve the organizations operations. It assists the organization to accomplish its objectives by bringing 
a systematic, disciplined approach to the evaluation and effectiveness of risk management, control and governance 
processes. Such assurance is based on objective information, in the form of audit opinions, arising from internal audits 
performed. The internal audit function is outsourced to Mazars.

The specific objectives of internal audit are to:
•	 Provide	an	independent	appraisal	function	to	examine	and	evaluate	the	ECRDA’s	activities	as	a	value	added	service.
•	 Review	the	adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	systems	of	control,	governance	and	risk	management.
•	 Assist	employees	of	the	ECRDA	in	the	effective	discharge	of	their	duties	and	responsibilities	via	its	reviews,	reporting	

and recommendations.
•	 Provide	analyses,	appraisals,	recommendations,	counsel,	and	information	concerning	the	activities	reviewed.
•	 Promote	effective	control	at	reasonable	cost.

The internal audit function is operating in terms of an audit plan that was approved in 2013 and specific risks identified by 
management that required audit reviews in 2012.  The internal audit reviewed the internal audit charter, audit committee 
charter and leave balances for the year under review.  Other engagements included the facilitation of the annual risk 
workshop and attendance of the audit committee meetings. 

The objective of the audit committee is to provide an independent oversight of the Agency which increases the assurance 
stakeholders can place on the governance of the Agency.  



The audit committee has the following objectives:
•	 Assist	management	in	their	evaluation	of	the	adequacy	and	efficiency	of	the	financial	reporting	process,	the	system	

of internal control and management of financial risks, the audit process, and the Agency’s process for monitoring 
compliance with laws and regulations and its own code of business conduct.  

•	 Initiate	such	measures	as	in	its	opinion	may	best	serve	to	enhance	the	reliability,	integrity	and	objectivity	of	internal	
and external reporting as well as the adequacy and efficiency of any other aspect of the Agency’s operations.

•	 Maintain	effective	working	relationships	with	the	board	of	directors,	management,	and	the	internal	and	external	auditors.		

The audit committee members changed in November 2013 when a new Board was appointed by the Member of Executive 
Council.  Since the changeover, the audit committee reviewed the internal audit and audit committee charters, participated 
in the annual risk workshop and provided oversight and guidance during the latter part of the financial year.

3.8. Compliance with Laws and Regulations
The ECRDA has performed to its utmost best and has been compliant with  laws and regulations relevant to its space of 
operation. Performance information and monitoring thereof has become one of the priority pillars in the entity’s operations.

All reports due for submission to the shareholder and the other authorities have been developed and submitted 
accordingly.

With respect to quarterly reporting, the Agency experienced delays in the transfer of funds during the first and the second 
quarter of the year under review. Consequentially, this practise negatively affected operations during the first quarter as 
the entity had no financial reserves to carry through due to the surrender of funds to the Provincial Treasury.
 
A memorandum detailing constraints towards implementation of the annual performance plan targets was generated 
and submitted to the Shareholder and the Provincial Treasury on account of the first quarter performance report. 

All other remaining quarters of the year, quarterly reports were developed by the entity and submitted to the shareholder; 
however the gap still remains in the area of a dialogue and feedback so as to create room for improvement, and the 
current engagements with the shareholder have indeed pointed into addressing that challenge going forward.

3.9. Fraud and Corruption  
The ECRDA continued to utilize the fraud prevention policy and measures originally implemented by the ECRFC.  The 
fraud prevention plan requires the immediate reporting of fraud to the Chief Financial Officer for further action or via the 
National Toll-free Fraud Hotline which allows for anonymity. There were no known fraud or corruption instances reported 
during the financial year under review.



3.10. Minimising Conflict of Interest
ECRDA staff is required to declare their interests in other businesses/organisations on a regular basis.  In addition to this 
declaration, all bid evaluation and adjudication committee members are required to declare any potential conflict of interest 
at each committee meeting.  The members are excluded from participating in procurement decisions  where a conflict of 
interest exists or is perceived to exist.  Conflict of interest includes the interest of spouses and close family members.

The ECRDA requires all suppliers registered on its database to declare its shareholders and any conflict of interest upon 
registration to avoid the inadvertent use of suppliers  in an irregular manner.

The Supply Chain Management Unit prevented conflict of interest by ensuring adherence to National Treasury’s Code of 
Conduct for Supply Chain Management Practitioners and other Role Players.  The Code provides, inter alia, that an official 
or other role player involved with supply chain management:  
•	 may	not	accept	any	reward,	gift,	favour,	hospitality	or	other	benefit	directly	or	indirectly,	including	to	any	close	family	

member, partner or associate of that person, of a value more than R350;
•	 must	declare	 to	 the	accounting	officer	details	of	 any	private	or	business	 interest	which	 that	person,	or	 any	close	

family member, partner or associate, may have in any proposed procurement or disposal process, or in any award of 
a contract by the entity;

•	 must	immediately	withdraw	from	participating	in	any	manner	whatsoever	in	a	procurement	or	disposal	process	or	
in the award of a contract in which that person, or any close family member, partner or associate, has any private or 
business interest 

•	 must	declare	any	business,	commercial	and	financial	interests	or	activities	undertaken	for	financial	gain	that	may	raise	
a possible conflict of interest

The above is important to promote and ensure compliance with highest ethical standards in an entity. 

3.11. Code of Conduct 
The ECRDA is continuing to use the approved code of conduct originally from the ECRFC.

3.12 Health and Safety
Health and safety is of paramount to the well-being of the employees and as such ECRDA found it prudent to conform to the 
rules as enshrined in the Occupational Health and Safety Act. 

The entity has an OHS Committee that ensures that no-one are operating in hazardous situations. During the financial year 
2012/13, the entity had ascertained that fire extinguishers are in operation, security operated throughout the year and the 
environment in which the staff operated are conducive for service delivery.   



3.13. Social Responbility
Corporate Social Investment (CSI) is a major cornerstone for good corporate citizenship. The ECRDA recognise its 
responsibility as a corporate citizen towards its stakeholders and the communities within which it operates. ECRDA 
remains committed to sustainable development in aligning its strategic objectives to that of its performance as a 
corporate citizen. We are committed to making positive contributions to the benefit of local communities that strive 
under very hard conditions.

During the year under review, ECRDA was involved in various Stakeholder Relations and as well as in Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) initiatives. ECRDA supported the Dwadwa Public School on the outskirts of East London. The support 
to the school included the painting of the school buildings, the donation of school uniforms, handing out food parcels 
and the donation of clothing to all the school children. This work was part of agency’s social responsibility initiatives 
during Mandela Day in July 2012.  

ECRDA remains committed to enhancing relations with our strategic partners and stakeholders whilst at the same time 
making beneficial contributions to the local communities.



3.14. Audit Committee Report
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2013.

Audit Committee Responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from Treasury Regulations 27(1) (10) 
(b) and (c) to the Public Finance Management Act of 1999 (as amended). It has adopted an appropriate formal terms of 
reference as its Audit Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all 
its responsibilities as contained therein.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control
Our review of the results of the annual risk assessment was performed towards the latter part of the year and has identified 
weaknesses in internal controls relating to regulatory compliance.  

The following internal audit reviews were completed during the year:

•	 Leave	records	and	liabilities.
•	 Data	migration	from	the	old	Loans	Management	System	to	a	new	Loans	Management	System.
•	 Audit	Committee	Charter.	
•	 Internal	Audit	Charter.

In-Year Management and Monthly/Quarterly Report
The public entity has submitted only the quarterly reports to the Executive Authority for the third and fourth quarters as 
funding was received on 28 September 2012.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
We have reviewed the annual financial statements prepared by the ECRDA.
The Audit Board Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of the external auditor on the annual financial 
statements and is of the opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the 
report of the auditor.

........................................................................................................................

Mr S Mbalekwa
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
ECRDA
31 July 2013





4.  human resources and administration

4.1. Introduction
The financial year 2012/13 was characterised by transition with the integration of AsgiSA-EC and ECRFC.  The Board of 
Directors appointed in November 2012 has achieved the following to date:

•	 Approval	of	a	Human	Resource	Policy	to	bring	uniformity	to	the	organisation.
•	 Approval	of	a	Human	Resource	Strategy	enabling	the	organisation	to	commence	with	its	operations	in	accordance	

with the mandate of ECRDA.
•	 Approval	of	the	organisational	structure	to	enable	staff	placement.

The main challenge is the uncertainty that the placement of staff within the approved organogram will bring, during 
which time the ECRDA may lose critical skills due to resignations. 

The total staff complement as at 31 March 2013 was 137.

Skills Development
The ECRDA spent R1 557 893 (2012: R 441 032) on training and development and contributed  R420 843 towards the 
skills development levy (2012: R234 037). 

Labour Relations
While disciplinary action against employees is necessary at times, ECRDA believes disciplinary hearings should be for the 
purpose of correcting behaviour and not as a prelude to dismissal. One disciplinary case is ongoing.

4.2. Human Resources Oversight Statistics

ECRDA Personnel Information
2012 2013

Personnel expenditure for ECRDA R27 999 783 R47 388 147

Total staff complement at year end 142 137

Number of staff members who resigned 4 5

Number of deaths 0 0

Number of dismissals 0 0

Equity Targets and Employment Equity Status
Female Male Total Black Indian Coloured White Total

Skilled 59 37 96 115 0 2 1 121

Unskilled 12 4 16 16 0 0 0 16

Management 9 16 25 22 0 0 3 25

80 57 137 131 0 2 4 137





5. financial information

5.1. Statement of Responsibility for the Annual   
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2013
The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the public entity’s annual financial statements and for the 
judgements made in this information.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control designed to 
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the annual financial statements.

In my opinion, the financial statements fairly reflect the operations of the public entity for the financial year ended 
31 March 2013. 

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the AFS of the public entity. 

The Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 have been 
audited by the external auditors and their report is presented on page 64.

The Annual Financial Statements of the public entity set out on page 72 to page 149 have been approved.

................................................................................................

Dr. L Mrwebi
Interim Chief Executive Officer
Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency
(Date)



5.2. Report of the Chief Executive Officer

The ECRDA Group received and unqualified audit report for the financial year under review.  The Group includes the 
Agrarian Research and Development Agency (ARDA), Kangela Citrus (Pty) Limited (Kangela), North Pondolond Sugar (Pty) 
Limited  (NPS) and the Accelerated Shared Growth Initiative of South Africa - Eastern Cape (ASGISA-EC).  NPS and ASGISA-
EC were dormant in 2012/13.

The asset base of the Group contracted by 21% (ECRDA - 29%) from R316m to R249m year on year.  The main reason for the 
decrease is the surrender of funds to Provincial Treasury which reduced the cash holdings of the Group by 55% (ECRDA -67%) 
from R194m to R87m.  The cash holding includes administered funds held on behalf of Micro Agriculture Finance Institute 
of South Africa (MAFISA) amounting to R48,1m resulting in ECRDA own funds only totalling R15m at year end.  The ECRDA’s 
trade and other payables of R24m at year end included accruals of R17m, resulting in a negative quick ratio of 0.61:1 when 
comparing cash on hand to trade and other payables and 0.73:1 when only accruals are taken into account. The quick ratios 
for the Group were 0.73:1 and 0.81:1 respectively.  The ECRDA did not disclose any funds to be surrendered to Provincial 
Treasury in the current year as its accruals exceed its own cash holdings (excluding MAFISA funds).
Trade and other receivables of the Group increased by 2325% (ECRDA 2992%) from R3m to R62m (ECRDA R2m to R61m), 
comprising mainly of departmental debtors.  This is an indication of the negative impact that the implementation model 
of the 2012/13 year had on cash utilisation for own programmes.  R16,5m owing by the National Department of Fisheries 
and Forestry has been outstanding for more than 180 days. The ECRDA’s working capital was utilised to fund departmental 
programmes at the expense of own initiated programmes as the ECRDA did not have any reserves after the surrenders.  
This is corroborated by the correlation between the surplus, under-spend on the annual performance plan (APP) budget 
and the departmental debtors of R58m.

The surrender of funds to Provincial Treasury also resulted in the decrease of liabilities by 46% (ECRDA - 65%) from R239m 
to R130m (ECRDA from R208m to R73m) year on year.  Administered funds held by ECRDA  at year end decreased by 51% 
from R75m to R37m. 

The performance of the ECRDA loan book continues to deteriorate with 61% (2012: 51%) impairment of its loans.  The 
value of loans and advances to customers, after impairments, thus decreased by 17% from R59m to R49m. The ECRDA 
plans to implement loan after-care services and borrower education initiatives to increase the recovery rate from the loan 
book.  The ECRDA developed new credit and collection policies to enhance the recovery rates, whilst still appreciating its 
developmental mandate and unbankable nature of the majority of its clientele.  The MAFISA loans are granted as per the 
directives of the MAFISA credit policy and are unsecured.  These loans contribute significantly to the impairment rate.

The financial results of the Group indicates a considerable turnaround from a deficit of R100m in 2012 to a R42m surplus in 2013.  
The 2012 deficit arose from a significant impairment of one of the subsidiaries, ASGISA-EC in the prior year as the subsidiary did 
not receive any government funding.

The 2013 surplus is mainly due to a 318% increase in government funding from R37m (2012) to R155m (2013).  R39m of 
the government funding was specifically earmarked as transfers to Magwa and Majola Tea Estates, resulting in an increase 
of funding for the Group of 213%.  Noticeably, the increased funding is still insufficient for the Group to fulfil its mandate 
as both active subsidiaries, Kangela and ARDA incurred losses in the current year.  Kangela showed promising signs of 
improvement as the loss for the year decreased from R6m to R3m, representing a 32% year on year improved cost of sales 
ratio.  ARDA’s losses for the year increased by 37% from R4.2m (2012) to R5.7m(2013), resulting from a further decrease in 
funding from R6.9m(2012) to R5m(2013) and significant write-off of crop values (R4,7m).  ARDA’s audit report received a 
disclaimer of opinion due to the uncertainties relating to validity of the going concern assumption.

The main sources of ECRDA’s income are government grants and own revenue generated from its loan book, investment 
interest and commission earned on implemented projects.  Own generated income decreased by R1.8m (16%) year on 
year.  Investment income decreased by 25% year or year due to the surrender of the ECRDA’s reserves to Provincial Treasury.  
In addition, commission earned decreased by 35% as the funds available as at 31 March 2012 for the implementation of 
national programmes were also surrendered to Provincial Treasury.  Interest earned on the loan book and rental properties 
showed no significant changes.



The expenditure for the Group and ECRDA decreased by 25% and 12% respectively.  As ASGISA-EC was dormant for 
the 2012/13 financial year, the other operating expenditure decreased by R25m.  The trend of decreased expenditure is 
not expected to continue as the ECRDA has now consolidated after the integration.  The Group is aware of the limited 
available budget and the identification of cost saving opportunities is ongoing.

Employee costs decreased by 7% from R60m (2013) to R56m (2012) due to resignations, especially within ECRDA. A 
worrying trend is the write-off of bad debts in 2013 of R5.9m representing a 100% year on year increase.  The write-off, in 
addition to the increased impairment on the loan book value predicts further decreases in own generated income going 
forward.  The ECRDA is continuously looking for other funding sources, including partnering with other public entities to 
implement projects in order to sustain its relevance and continued viability.  It is not anticipated that the Group will be 
able to sustain its operations without government funding for the foreseeable future. 

The cumulative irregular expenditure of R3.6m (2012: R2.7m) relates to the rentals paid for premises leased without 
following open bid processes in 2010 and 2011.  There were no subsequent events after financial statement date.

In summary, the Group has weathered the integration and surrender of funds.  Its strategy has set a new course relating 
to the implementation of projects, its loan book and operations.  The Group is confident that the financial results will 
improve in the future, despite the current economic climate and reduced funding for the Eastern Cape province. Our 
belief is that rural development will become one of the catalytic drivers for economic development within the province.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE EASTERN CAPE PROVINCIAL 
LEGISLATURE ON EASTERN CAPE RURAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Introduction 

1. I have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of the Eastern Cape Rural 
Development Agency and its subsidiaries set out on pages … to …, which comprise the 
consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at 31 March 2013, the 
consolidated and separate statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net 
assets and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
2. The board of directors which constitutes the accounting authority is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of 
the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and for 
such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor-General’s responsibility 
3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial 

statements based on my audit.  I conducted my audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act 
of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the General Notice issued in terms thereof 
and International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that I comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements.  The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements.  

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my audit opinion. 

Opinion 
6. In my opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of the Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency (ECRDA) and 
its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2013, and their financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA. 
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Emphasis of matters 
7. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters. 

Restatement of corresponding figures  

8. As disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated annual financial statements, the corresponding 
figures for 31 March 2012 have been restated as a result of unspent funds being surrendered 
by ECRDA to the provincial treasury, as required by section 38(1)(b) of the PFMA.  The liability 
was accrued in the 2012 balances of the entity. 

Going concern  

9. As disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated and separate financial statements, funds were 
surrendered to the provincial treasury during the year under review. Included in these funds 
were cash balances that related to funds administered on behalf of other entities. The 
operations of the entity are directly affected by the surrendering of these available funds. 

10. Note 9.2.1 to the consolidated and separate financial statements indicates that the auditors of 
the Agrarian Research and Development Agency SOC Limited (ARDA) were unable to 
determine whether or not the company will be able to continue to operate as a going concern 
and expressed a disclaimer of opinion as they were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence to confirm whether it was appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis. 

Material impairments 

11. As disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated and separate financial statements, material losses 
to the amount of R16,6 million (2012: R13 million) occurred as a result of impairments on non-
performing loans. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

12. In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice issued in terms thereof, I report the 
following findings relevant to performance against predetermined objectives, compliance with 
laws and regulations and internal control, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion. 

Predetermined objectives 

13. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the 
information in the annual performance report, as set out on pages … to … of the annual 
report.  

14. The reported performance against predetermined objectives was evaluated against the overall 
criteria of usefulness and reliability. The usefulness of information in the annual performance 
report relates to whether it is presented in accordance with the National Treasury’s annual 
reporting principles and whether the reported performance is consistent with the planned 
objectives. The usefulness of information further relates to whether indicators and targets are 
measurable (i.e. well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable and time bound) and relevant as 
required by the National Treasury Framework for managing programme performance 
information (FMPPI). 

15. The reliability of the information in respect of the selected objectives is assessed to determine 
whether it adequately reflects the facts (i.e. whether it is valid, accurate and complete). 

16. The material findings are as follows: 

Usefulness of information 

17. The National Treasury Guide for the preparation of the annual report requires that 
explanations for variances between the planned and reported (actual) targets should be 
provided in all instances and should also be supported by adequate and reliable corroborating 
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evidence.  Adequate and reliable corroborating evidence could not be provided for 39% of 
major variances, as disclosed in the annual performance report. This was due to limitations 
placed on the scope of my work.  Consequently, I did not obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence to satisfy myself as to the reliability of the reasons for major variances. 

Reliability of information 

18. The FMPPI requires that institutions should have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify 
and store performance information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual 
achievements against planned objectives, indicators and targets.  

19. Significantly important targets with respect to the viable and sustainable programs identified 
and implemented objective were not reliable when compared to the source information and 
evidence provided. This was due to the standard operating procedures for the accurate 
recording of actual achievements and the monitoring of the completeness of source 
documentation in support of actual achievements still being in draft format and not being fully 
implemented. The entity’s records did not permit the application of alternative procedures.  

20. I was unable to obtain the information and explanations I considered necessary to satisfy 
myself as to the reliability of information presented with respect to the investments and fund 
growth objective. This was due to limitations placed on the scope of my work as the institution 
could not provide sufficient appropriate evidence in support of the information presented with 
respect to the objective. The entity’s records did not permit the application of alternative 
procedures. 

Compliance with laws and regulations 

21. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity has complied with applicable laws 
and regulations regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. 
My findings on material non-compliance with specific matters in key applicable laws and 
regulations, as set out in the General Notice issued in terms of the PAA, are as follows: 

Annual financial statements, performance and annual reports 

22. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the 
prescribed financial reporting framework, as required by section 55(1)(b) of the PFMA. 

23. Material misstatements of current assets, revenue and expenditure identified by the auditors in 
the submitted financial statements were subsequently corrected, resulting in the financial 
statements receiving an unqualified audit opinion.  

24. The accounting authority did not ensure that the public entity had and maintained effective, 
efficient and transparent systems of financial and risk management and internal control, as 
required by section 51(1)(a)(i) of the PFMA. 

25. The accounting authority did not establish procedures for quarterly reporting to the executive 
authority in order to facilitate effective performance monitoring, evaluation and corrective 
action, as required by Treasury Regulation (TR) 30.2.1. 

26. Quarterly reports were not prepared and submitted to the executive authority, as required by 
TR 30.2.1.  

Internal audit 

27. The internal audit unit did not have an annual internal audit plan for the first year of the rolling 
three-year strategic internal audit plan in place, as required by TR 27.2.7(b). 

28. The internal audit unit did not evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of controls and did not 
make recommendations for their enhancement and improvement, as required by TR 27.2.10.  

29. The internal audit unit did not evaluate the reliability and integrity of financial and operational 
information, as required by TR 27.2.10(b).  
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30. The internal audit unit did not evaluate compliance with laws and regulations, as required by 
TR 27.2.10(e).  

Revenue management 

31. The accounting authority did not take effective and appropriate steps to collect all money due, 
as required by section 51(1)(b)(i) of the PFMA and TR 31.1.2(a) and 31.1.2(e). 

Procurement and contract management 

32. Invitations for competitive bidding were not always advertised in at least the government 
tender bulletin, as required by TR 16A6.3(c). 

33. Contracts were awarded to suppliers whose tax matters had not been declared by the South 
African Revenue Services to be in order, as required by TR 16A9.1(d) and the Preferential 
Procurement Regulations. 

34. Contracts were awarded to bidders based on preference points that were not allocated in 
accordance with the requirements of the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act and 
its regulations. 

Expenditure management 

35. The accounting authority did not take effective steps to prevent irregular expenditure and 
fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. 

Internal control 

36. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, annual 
performance report and compliance with laws and regulations. The matters reported below are 
limited to the significant deficiencies that resulted in the findings on the annual performance 
report and the findings on compliance with laws and regulations included in this report. 

Leadership 

37. The organisational structure was only finalised on 28 March 2013 and was not in place for the 
year under review.  The updated policies and procedures for the merged entity were still in 
draft format, resulting in a lack of accountability relating to the collecting, co-ordinating and 
compiling of performance information and ensuring compliance with all laws and regulations. 

38. There was a lack of effective oversight over the operations of the entity as well as sufficient 
implementation of corrective action, which was evidenced by the significant audit findings 
relating to performance information and compliance with laws and regulations. 

Financial and performance management 

39. The entity did not have adequate record management processes in place to ensure that 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence was available in support of targets reported in the annual 
performance report.   

Governance 

40. The audit committee and internal audit unit did not adequately monitor and review compliance 
with laws and regulations and the effectiveness of internal controls relating to financial matters 
and reporting on performance information. 

41. The internal audit unit did not have an annual plan in place, and the three-year rolling plan was 
only approved during February 2013, which has resulted in the internal audit unit not being 
effective during the year under review. 
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OTHER REPORTS 

Investigations 

42. An investigation was conducted by an independent consulting firm to review the Highbury 
Irrigation Scheme’s financial information in order to determine instances of non-compliance 
with the requirements of the memorandum of agreement and the loan agreement entered into 
between the two parties.  The investigation recommended that the memorandum of agreement 
between the existing parties be terminated and claims be instituted to recover the outstanding 
loans.  

Agreed-upon procedures engagements 

43. The internal auditors were engaged to perform agreed-upon procedures regarding the leave 
liability and payout for the period 1 April 2012 to 31 October 2012.  

 
 

 

East London 

31 July 2013 
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Statement of board members’ responsibility for 
financial reporting for the year ended 31 March 2013
Statement of board members’ responsibility for financial reporting

The board members are required by the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act No.1 of 1999) (as amended by Act 29 
of 1999) and the Eastern Cape Rural Finance Corporation 
Amendment Act, Act No 1 of 2012, to maintain adequate 
accounting records and are responsible for the content and 
integrity of the consolidated annual financial statements 
and related financial information included in this report. 
It is their responsibility to ensure that the consolidated 
annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs 
of the agency and group as at the end of the financial year 
and the results of their operations and cash flows for the 
year then ended, in conformity with prescribed Standards 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice.

The Auditor-General was appointed in terms of the Public 
Audit Act, 2004, to express an independent opinion on the 
consolidated annual financial statements.

The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with prescribed Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and 
estimates.

The board members acknowledge that they are 
ultimately responsible for the system of internal 
financial control established by the group and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the board members to meet these 
responsibilities, the board members set standards for 
internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in 
a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper 
delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. 
These controls are monitored throughout the group and 
all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in ensuring the group’s business is conducted 
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the group is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the group. While operating risk cannot 
be fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The board members are of the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by management, 
that the system of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the consolidated annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial 
control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The board members have reviewed the group’s cash flow 
forecast for the year to 31 March 2014 and, in the light 
of this review and the current financial position, they are 
satisfied that the group has access to adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. The board members acknowledge that the group 
is dependent on the continued financial support from the 
Eastern Cape Provincial Government.

The agency has incurred a profit for the year, mainly 
due to the fact that the grants to operate activities from 
was received only on 28 September 2012, resulting 
in late spending. To date, the Eastern Cape Provincial 
Government has confirmed funding for the Eastern Cape 
Rural Development Agency for the 2013/14 financial year.

The consolidated annual financial statements set out on 
pages 72 to 149, which have been prepared on the going 
concern basis, were approved by the board members on 
31 May 2013 and were signed on its behalf by:

...........................................................................................

Dr. V. Mkosana
Chairperson
August 2013

.......................................................................................................

Mr. S. Mbalekwa
Board member and Chairperson of the Audit Committee
August 2013

5.4. Annual Financial Statements



Report of the audit committee for the year ended 
31 March 2013
Report of the Audit Committee
Report by the Audit Board Committee in terms of the Treasury Regulations 27(1) (10) (b) and (c) to the Public Finance 
Management Act of 1999 (as amended).

In execution of its duties during the past financial year, the Audit Board Committee has:

•	 Ensured	compliance	with	its	terms	of	reference	and	the	provisions	of	the	audit	committee	charter	during	the	year	
under review; 

•	 Reviewed	 the	 procedures	 for	 identifying	 business	 risks	 and	 managing	 their	 impact	 on	 the	 Eastern	 Cape	 Rural	
Development Agency (ECRDA) including the risk management functions; 

•	 Reviewed	the	effectiveness	and	adequacy	of	the	internal	audit	services	and	adequacy	of	its	annual	work	plan;	
•	 Considered	whether	 the	 independence,	 objectives,	 organisation,	 staffing	plans,	 financial	 budget,	 audit	 plans	 and	

standing of the internal audit function provide adequate support to enable the committee to meet its objectives; 
•	 Reviewed	the	results	of	the	work	performed	by	the	internal	audit	services	in	relation	to	financial	reporting,	corporate	

governance, risk areas, internal control and any significant investigations and management response; 
•	 Reviewed	the	coordination	between	the	internal	audit	function	and	the	external	auditors;	
•	 Reviewed	the	agency’s	compliance	with	significant	regulatory	provisions;	
•	 Reviewed	such	significant	transactions	as	the	committee	deemed	appropriate;	
•	 Reviewed	the	controls	over	significant	financial	and	operational	risks;	
•	 Reviewed	the	adequacy,	reliability	and	accuracy	of	financial	information	provided	by	management	and	other	users	of	

such information; 
•	 Reviewed	the	accounting	and	auditing	concerns	identified	by	internal	and	external	auditors;	
•	 Reviewed	the	annual	report	and	the	consolidated	annual	financial	statements	taken	as	a	whole	to	ensure	they	present	

a balanced and understandable assessment of the positions, performance and prospects of the agency. 
•	 Reviewed	 the	 independence	and	objectivity	of	 the	external	auditors.	The	Audit	Committee	 is	of	 the	opinion	 that	

the internal controls of Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency have operated effectively throughout the year 
under review and, where internal controls did not operate effectively, compensating controls have ensured that the 
agency’s assets have been safeguarded, proper accounting records maintained and resources utilised efficiently in all 
significant respects. This opinion is based on the information and explanations given by management, the internal 
audit services and discussion with the independent external auditors on the results of their audits. 

Following our review of the consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013, we are of the 
opinion that they substantially comply with the relevant provisions of the the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 
1 of 1999)(as amended by Act 29 of 1999). The consolidated annual financial statements comply, in all material respects, 
with Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). The audit committee concurs that the adoption of 
the going concern premise in framing the consolidated annual financial statements is appropriate. The audit committee 
has therefore recommended the adoption of the consolidated annual financial statements by the board members.

.........................................................................................

Mr. S. Mbalekwa
Board member and Chairperson of the Audit Committee
August 2013



Consolidated statement of financial position for the 
year ended 31 March 2013

Notes Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 63 030 958 192 608 430 87 406 965 194 435 074

Trade and other receivables 8.1 61 054 423 1 974 464 61 995 678 2 557 043

Livestock loans receivable 8.2 8 279 462 7 191 178 8 279 462 7 191 178

Receivables owing by the Eastern Cape Department 
of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform

8.3 13 458 - 13 458 -

Inventories 8.6 140 938 227 301 187 727 227 301

Biological assets and agricultural produce 9.1 - 321 987 9 442 684 14 558 164

Deferred tax 17.5 - - - -

Loans and advances to customers 7 49 351 650 59 541 444 49 351 650 59 541 444

181 870 889 261 864 804 216 677 624 278 510 204

Non-current assets

Livestock loans receivable 8.2 - 1 439 819 - 1 439 819

Investment under contingency policy 9.3 7 293 387 6 892 175 7 293 387 6 892 175

Investments 8.4 - - - 398 135

Receivable from Arengo 316 (Proprietary) Limited 8.5 - - 7 410 378 7 380 363

Investment property 10.1 1 913 534 1 951 738 1 913 534 1 951 738

Property, plant and equipment 10.2 10 007 351 13 291 387 12 835 756 17 392 600

Intangible assets 10.3 2 453 017 1 609 806 2 631 517 1 789 715

Investments in subsidiaries 9.2 - - - -

21 667 289 25 184 925 32 084 571 37 244 545

Total assets 203 538 177 287 049 729 248 762 195 315 754 749



Consolidated statement of financial position for the 
year ended 31 March 2013

Notes Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Finance lease obligations 13 151 927 227 585 173 474 245 844

Deferred grant income arising from non-exchange 
transactions

11.2 11 357 943 37 189 369 23 947 565 49 809 005

Deferred tax 17.5 - - 1 909 463 1 541 557

Trade and other payables 11.1 24 360 752 15 523 967 26 121 839 17 377 728

Current portion of unspent conditional grants and 
receipts

28 - 79 169 829 - 79 169 829

Land claim liabilities arising from non-exchange 
transactions

12 28 106 442 35 088 280 28 106 442 35 088 280

Other liabilities arising from non-exchange transactions 12 8 817 316 40 318 159 31 590 601 40 318 158

72 794 381 207 517 189 111 849 385 223 550 401

Non-current liabilities

Finance lease obligations 13 51 118 139 661 119 048 230 790

Provision for insurance contracts 14 70 699 70 699 70 699 70 699

Loan from South African Fruit Exporters (SAFE) 11.4 - - 18 083 542 15 595 015

121 817 210 360 18 273 290 15 896 504

Total liabilities 72 916 198 207 727 549 130 122 675 239 446 905

Total assets less total liabilities 130 621 980 79 322 180 118 639 521 76 307 844

NET ASSETS

Capital contributed 15 41 989 046 41 989 046 41 989 046 41 989 046

Accumulated surplus 88 632 934 37 333 134 76 650 475 34 318 798

Attributable to net asset holder of the agency 130 621 980 79 322 180 118 639 521 76 307 844

Total net assets 130 621 980 79 322 180 118 639 521 76 307 844

Total of
Kangela

Attributable 
to the 
company
(51%)

Attributable 
to the 
minority
share (49%)

Total of the
ECRDA group
(exc Minority)

ECRDA
group (inc.
Minority)

Total assets 10 079 935 5 140 767 4 939 168 243 823 027 248 762 195

Total liabilities -21 249 935 -10 837 467 -10 412 468 -119 710 206 -130 122 675

Total net assets 11 170 000 5 696 700 5 473 300 -124 112 821 -118 639 521



Consolidated statement of financial performance for 
the year ended 31 March 2013

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

Notes R R R R

INCOME 181 621 381 51 026 481 202 569 976 111 251 886

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 171 669 428 39 241 368 172 259 432 52 322 445

Government grant from the Eastern Cape Department 
of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform

155 000 000 37 072 000 155 000 000 37 072 000

Government grant income (conditional) - 511 793 - 889 635

Impairment reversed (deferred grant) 12 800 000 - 12 800 000 -

Impairment of investment in subsidiary reversed - - 14 345 -

National Skills Fund 171 156 143 299 171 156 143 299

Write-off of exit packages accrual 2 954 399 - 2 954 399 -

Other income 17.1 743 873 1 007 074 1 319 532 6 808 044

Revenue from non-exchange transactions - 507 203 - 7 409 468

Revenue from exchange transactions 9 951 953 11 785 112 30 310 544 58 929 441

Interest income on cash and investments 2 037 691 2 734 728 2 091 240 3 196 841

Interest income on loans and advances 2 916 214 4 144 295 2 916 214 5 389 523

Interest income on concessionary loans 1 233 011 - 1 233 011 -

Commission fees for managing projects 2 457 477 3 792 676 2 457 477 3 792 676

Fair value - 8 821 - 10 144 257

Loan initiation fees 47 696 58 600 47 696 58 600

Rental income from investment property 1 044 396 1 045 992 1 044 396 1 174 370

Revenue on sale of asset 9 390 - 9 390 -

Sale of goods - produce 206 078 - 20 511 120 35 173 174



Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

Notes R R R R

EXPENSES 129 482 105 146 924 416 158 966 328 211 019 627

Administrative expenses 17.2 10 104 640 4 198 946 10 808 874 8 211 838

Audit fees 3 024 371 2 843 585 3 304 310 5 104 983

Cost of sales 206 078 - 16 015 050 28 074 375

Credit charge on loans and advances - 3 888 796 - 4 326 049

Farmers’ rehabilitation 151 049 326 307 151 049 326 307

Fee - MAFISA Scheme 614 243 543 952 614 243 543 952

Finance costs 27 980 72 510 238 648 602 592

Marketing and Social facilitation 494 092 588 085 535 672 2 226 902

Other operating expenses 17.3 27 673 141 9 073 539 36 797 769 62 598 126

Project expenses 1 542 342 529 750 1 655 248 2 222 290

Skills levy 420 843 234 037 420 843 234 037

Staff costs 17.4 47 388 147 27 999 783 55 589 445 59 755 797

Grants paid to subsidiaries 35 687 634 30 687 634

- ARDA 5 000 000 - - -

- Majola Tea 5 000 000 - 5 000 000 -

- Magwa Tea 25 687 634 - 25 687 634 -

Social benefit from concessionary loans 766 878 721 360 766 878 721 360

Impairment of inventory - - - 3 332 439

Impairment of receivable owing by Eastern Cape 
Department of Rural Development and
Agrarian Reform

8.3 - 14 610 000 - 14 610 000

Impairment and write off of investment in 
subsidiaries* 

- 66 189 572 - -

Impairment of fees receivable from administered 
funds

- 14 338 939 - 14 338 939

Write off of irrecoverable loans and advances 1 380 666 765 256 1 380 666 3 789 640

NET (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS 52 139 277 (95 897 935) 43 603 649 (99 767 741)

Scrapping of obsolete property, plant and equipment ( 839 478) ( 8 134) ( 847 423) ( 505 604)

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION 51 299 798 (95 906 069) 42 756 226  (100 273 345)

Taxation 17.5 - - ( 390 295) 133 569

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 51 299 798 (95 906 069) 42 365 931  (100 139 777)

Total of
Kangela

Attributable 
to the 

company
(51%)

Attributable 
to the 

minority
share (49%)

Total of the
ECRDA group
(exc. Minority)

Total of the
ECRDA group
(inc. Minority)

Surplus/(deficit) -3 221 576 -1 643 004 -1 578 572 42 365 931 40 787 358

*2012:  Refer to notes 24 and 9.2.1 for the Impairment and write off of investment in subsidiaries.

Consolidated statement of financial performance for 
the year ended 31 March 2013 (continued)



Consolidated statement of changes in net assets for 
the year ended 31 March 2013

Agency
Attributable to net asset holder of the agency

Notes Capital
contributed

R

Accumulated
surplus

R

Total

R

Balance at 31 March 2010 41 989 046 84 776 911 126 765 957

Surplus for the year - 127 632 122 127 632 122

Balance at 31 March 2011 41 989 046 212 409 033 254 398 079

Prior year adjustment: Surrender of funds to Treasury 28 - (79 169 829) (79 169 829)

Deficit for the year - (95 906 069) (95 906 070)

Restated Balance at 31 March 2012 41 989 046 37 333 135 79 322 180

Surplus for the year - 51 299 798 51 299 798

Balance at 31 March 2013 41 989 046 88 632 934 130 621 979

Group

Attributable to net asset holder of the agency

Capital
contributed

R

Accumulated
surplus

R

Total

R

Balance at 31 March 2010 41 989 046 85 960 029 127 949 075

Surplus for the year as previously reported - 129 868 861 129 868 861

Balance at 31 March 2011 as previously reported 41 989 046 215 828 890 257 817 936

Effect of prior year adjustments:

North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited - 73 023 73 023

AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited - (1 944 854) (1 944 854)

Kangela Citrus Farm (Proprietary) Limited - ( 87 539) ( 87 539)

Restated balance at 31 March 2011 41 989 046 213 869 520 255 858 566

Prior year adjustment: Surrender of funds to Treasury 28 (79 169 829) (79 169 829)

Deficit for the year - (100 053 694) (100 053 694)

Balance at 31 March 2012 41 989 046 34 645 997 76 635 043

Prior year adjustments by Kangela Citrus Farm 28 - ( 327 198) ( 327 198)

Restated balance at 31 March 2012 41 989 046 34 318 799 76 307 845

Revaluation adjustment by Kangela Citrus Farm - ( 4 238) -

Surplus for the year - 42 365 931 42 365 931

Reserve of ARDA for Arengo from sale of assets - ( 30 015) ( 30 015)

Balance at 31 March 2013 41 989 046 76 650 477 118 643 761



Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 
31 March 2013

Notes Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts 185 319 396 95 086 021 229 026 931 199 808 913

Grants received 114 300 000 37 215 299 114 300 000 64 215 299

Grants allocated to the ECRDA 155 000 000 - 155 000 000 -

Grant funding reduced by Provincial Treasury during 
surrenders

(40 700 000) - (40 700 000) -

Interest received on cash and cash equivalents (both 
on own funds and on liabilities

6 263 556 9 012 875 6 317 105 11 797 989

Non-exchange transfers arising from administered 
funds 

56 074 337 41 116 526 78 847 622 66 871 585

Taxation - - - -

Net movement in loans and advances to customers 
before credit impairments 

6 468 303 4 344 203 6 468 303 4 344 203

Other receipts from commission and fees 2 213 200 3 397 118 23 093 900 52 579 837

Less: Payments 229 302 607 118 794 085 252 616 753 262 687 063

Employee costs 47 145 651 27 306 721 55 216 407 54 542 699

Disbursements out of non-exchange transactions 
from administered funds (excluding surrender of own 
funds)

51 744 976 76 393 820 51 744 976 110 207 486

Disbursed administered funds from own funds 44 243 132 - 44 243 132 -

Suppliers (excluding accruals) 86 168 848 15 093 544 101 412 239 97 936 878

Cash (outflows) / inflows from operating activities A (43 983 211) (23 708 064) (23 589 822) (62 878 150)



Consolidated cash flow statement (continued) for the 
year ended 31 March 2013

Notes Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment ( 766 843) (1 192 552) ( 833 224) (2 257 073)

(Acquisition)/disposal of livestock (debtors) assets - - - -

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets

9 390 3 397 9 390 317 030

Acquisition of intangible assets (1 844 144) (1 419 391) (1 844 144) (1 492 446)

Cash invested under contingency policy and related 
admin fees on policy

( 165 184) ( 122 798) ( 165 184) ( 122 798)

Cash acquired on business combination 24 - 51 232 953 - -

Proceeds of loan increase from SAFE - - - -

Decrease/(increase) in Investments - - - 6 487 982

Increase in Receivable from Arengo 316 (Pty) Ltd - - - ( 49 240)

Cash inflows / (outflows) from investing activities (2 766 781) 48 501 609 (2 833 162) 2 883 455

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase / (decrease) in finance lease obligations ( 164 202) 913 ( 184 112) ( 74 632)

Finance costs ( 27 980) ( 72 510) ( 238 648) ( 584 428)

Proceeds of loan increase from SAFE - - 2 488 527 5 344 404

Surrender of Administration Funds where the liability 
is retained

(28 322 010) - (28 322 010)

Surrender of other Admin Funds (54 269 510) (54 269 510)

Penalties and Fines ( 43 779) - ( 79 373) -

Cash (outflows) / inflows from financing activities (82 827 481) ( 71 597) (80 605 125) 4 685 344

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (129 577 472) 24 721 948 (107 028 108) (55 309 351)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6 192 608 430 167 886 482 194 435 073 249 744 425

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 63 030 958 192 608 430 87 406 965 194 435 074



Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement for the 
year ended 31 March 2013

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

A. Reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities 
to surplus before taxation

R R R R

(Deficit)/surplus before taxation 51 299 798 (95 906 069) 42 756 226 (100 273 345)

Adjusted for:

Non cash flow items in (deficit) / surplus before taxation - - - -

- Depreciation of investment property and property, plant and 
equipment

4 237 094 1 411 548 5 569 043 4 786 215

- Movement in provision for insurance contracts - ( 11 301) - ( 11 301)

- Discount received ( 107 569) ( 107 569)

- Movement in bad debt impairment 77 667 57 640 103 109 57 640

- (Gain) / loss on scrapping of obsolete property, plant and 
equipment

839 478 8 134 847 423 505 604

- (Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment ( 9 390) - ( 9 390) -

- Fair value adjustment on biological assets 115 909 ( 8 821) 4 854 423 (10 144 257)

- Surrender of funds from disbursed administration funds 15 799 679 - 15 799 679 -

- Surrender of funds where the liability is retained 28 322 010 - 28 322 010 -

- Reduction in grant allocation from Treasury (40 700 000) - (40 700 000) -

- Cost of sales arising from a transfer from biological assets 
(harvesting)

206 078 - 366 116 -

- Increase in credit impairments 5 663 478 3 888 796 5 689 812 4 326 049

- Impairment adjustment in respect of interest recognised on 
loans and advances that are considered uncollectible

11 082 809 9 137 058 11 082 809 9 137 058

- Movement in allowance for bad debt impairment of loans and 
staff debtors, and impairment of subsidiaries

1 380 666 95 903 767 1 380 666 32 669 851

- Social benefit from consessionary loans (Subsidy cost fair value 
adjustment)

766 878 721 360 766 878 721 360

- Unwinding of subsidy cost / Consessionary loans interest (1 233 011) (1 518 513) (1 233 011) (1 518 513)

- Interest received on loan book and staff debtors (13 999 023) (11 821 440) (13 999 023) (13 050 641)

- Net of interest capitalised and expenses/fees on investment 
under contingency policy (non-cash)

( 236 028) ( 334 532) ( 236 028) ( 334 532)

- Penalties and fines 43 779 - 79 373 -

- Interest expense 27 980 72 510 238 648 602 592

Operating cash flows before items on following page 63 578 284 1 600 137 61 571 194 (72 526 220)



Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement for the 
year ended 31 March 2013 (continued)

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

A. Reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities 
to surplus before taxation (continued)

R R R R

Operating cash flows carried forward from previous page 63 578 284 1 600 137 61 571 194 (72 526 220)

Working capital changes

- (Decrease) / increase in deferred grant income (25 831 426) 1 468 081 (25 861 440) (4 547 100)

- (Decrease) / increase in payables 8 836 785 1 582 036 8 744 111 (5 438 835)

- (Decrease) / increase in administered fund liabilities from non-
exchange transfers 

(38 482 681) (30 679 942) (15 709 395) (37 126 437)

- Administered funds received by the agency 57 383 988 - 80 157 273 -

- Administered funds disbursed by the agency (67 544 659) - (67 544 659) -

- Administered funds surrendered (28 322 010) - (28 322 010) -

- Taxation paid - - - 3 332 439

- Increase in trade and other receivables including livestock loans (58 806 091) (1 843 202) (59 009 422) 30 398 029

- Increase in trade and other receivables owed by the Department ( 13 458) - ( 13 458) -

- Increase / decrease in loans with credit balances ( 99 593) ( 28 144) ( 99 593) ( 28 144)

- (Increase) / decrease in inventories 86 363 ( 153 671) 39 574 18 711 477

Cash flows from operating activities before: (50 731 816) (28 054 706) (30 338 428) (67 224 791)

Lending cash flow movements

- New loans granted during the year (9 793 708) (18 364 809) (9 793 708) (18 364 809)

- Loans repaid by customers 16 542 314 22 711 451 16 542 314 22 711 451

Cash (outflows) / inflows from operating activities (43 983 210) (23 708 064) (23 589 822) (62 878 150)

B. Non-cash transactions

Aside from:
-  the acquisition of property, plant and equipment on finance lease arrangements (per Note 10.2.4) and
-  the common control transfer of function from the subsidiary company AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited 

during the 2012 year for no consideration as a contribution of net assets (2011: Nil) (refer to Notes 9.2.2, 9.2.3, and note 
C.), there were no other non-cash based transactions during the year (2012: Nil).



Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement for the 
year ended 31 March 2013 (continued)
C. Non-cash transactions - Common control transfer of function

On 1 March 2012, the functions comprising all operations, employees, assets and liabilities of the wholly-owned subsidiary, 
AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited were transferred to the corporation for zero consideration. The aagency 
received R51 232 953 in cash and cash equivalents as part of the transaction. Refer Note 24.

The following assets / liabilities on 1 March 2012, were acquired / assumed as part of the transfer of functions from AsgiSA 
- Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited:

Corporation

Assets acquired: R

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5 527 086

Intangible assets 205 100

Livestock	loans	receivable	–	non-current 1 439 818

7 172 004

Current assets

Inventories 73 629

Trade	and	other	receivables	–	exchange	transactions 1 039 153

Trade	and	other	receivables	–	non-exchange	transactions 343 374

Biological assets and agricultural produce 313 166

Livestock	loans	receivable	–	current 7 191 179

Cash and cash equivalents 51 232 953

60 193 454

Total assets 67 365 458

Liabilities acquired:

Current liabilities

Finance lease liabilities ( 7 040)

Trade	and	other	payables	–	exchange	transactions (1 811 684)

Trade	and	other	payables	–	non-exchange	transactions (6 519 443)

Operating lease liability ( 268 323)

Administrative funds liability (27 357 713)

Total liabilities (35 964 203)

Net assets acquired 31 401 255

Consideration paid -

Gain from transfer of functions between entities under common control 31 401 255



Nature of Business and Operations
The Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency and its 
subsidiaries forms the group that is reported on. The 
agency was established by Act 1 of 2012 via the Eastern 
Cape Rural Finance Corporation Amendment Act of the 
Eastern Cape Provincial Legislature with the objective to 
promote, support and facilitate rural development in the 
Eastern Cape. The agency’s mandate was reviewed and 
the enabling legislation was upated to form to the Eastern 
Cape Rural Development Agency after amalgamating 
with one of the subsidiaries, AsgiSA-EC. The agency has a 
financial administrative project implementation division. 
The agency has administrative offices in King William’s 
Town and East London and operates from branches in the 
Eastern Cape Province, Republic of South Africa. The sole 
equity holder of the agency is the Eastern Cape Provincial 
Government (through the Eastern Cape Department of 
Rural Development and Agrarian Tansformation). The 
agency is a Schedule 3C Provincial Public Entity and is 
required to comply with the Public Finance Management 
Act (Act No.1 of 1999) (as amended by Act 29 of 1999).

1. Presentation of Consolidated 
Annual Financial Statements
These consolidated annual financial statements are 
presented in the South African currency unit, the Rand (R), 
as that is the currency in which the group’s transactions are 
denominated. All amounts in these consolidated annual 
financial statements are rounded to the nearest Rand.

2. Accounting Policies

2.1. Basis of preparation
The consolidated annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Statements of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board, in accordance with Section 
55 of the Public Finance Management Act (Act no. 29 of 
1999). The consolidated annual financial statements have 
been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in 
accordance with the historical cost basis, and incorporate 
the principal accounting policies set out below.

Accounting policies for material transactions, events or 
condition not covered by the Statements of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice reporting framework, 
have been developed in accordance with paragraphs 7, 11 
and 12 of GRAP 3 and the hierarchy approved in Directive 
5 issued by the Accounting Standards Board. A summary 
of the significant accounting policies, which have been 
consistently applied, are disclosed below.

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses have not been 
offset except where offsetting is required or permitted by 
a Standard of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous 
period, unless explicitly stated. The details of any changes 
in accounting policies are explained in the relevant policy.

The following standards, amendments to standards 
and interpretations, with their estimated effect on the 
consolidated annual financial statements, have been 
issued but are not yet effective as at 31 March 2013:

GRAP	18	–	Segment	Reporting
ASB Issue date: March 2005
Effective Date: To be determined by the Minister
The new standard of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice establishes principles for reporting financial 
information by segments. The impact of implementing 
this standard is expected to be immaterial in the context 
of this agency’s operations as the agency mainly has one 
segment being loans.

GRAP	20	–	Related	Party	Disclosure
Effective Date: 1 April 2013
GRAP 20 details the information required to be disclosed 
on the consoldiated annual financial statements on 
transactions entered into with related parties. The impact 
of applying the requirements of GRAP 20 is considered 
to be immaterial as related party disclosures are already 
made in the notes to the consolidated annual financial 
statements.

GRAP	25	–	Employee	Benefits
ASB Issue date: November 2009 
Effective date: 1 April 2013
The Standard on Employee Benefits details the recognition 
and disclosure requirements on staff related costs. 
Currently the staff expenses are recorded as such in the 
financial records. The proportioned bonus accrual and 
leave provisions are recorded at financial year-end. GRAP 
25 will assist the entity to account for and disclose the 
employee benefits.

GRAP	105	–	Transfer	of	Functions	between	Entities	under	
common control
ASB issue date: November 2010
Effective date: To be determined by the Minister
New standard of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
that will replace IRFS 3 and that deals specifically with the 
transfer of functions between entities under common 
control (i.e. related parties). The standard will prescribe the 
standard practices to be followed where one entity receives 
the function(s) and related assets and liabilities of another 
entity. The standard takes cognizance that the transfer of 
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functions often occurs without any consideration for the 
assets and liabilities and prescribes the recognition and 
measurement thereof.

GRAP	 106	 –	 Transfer	 of	 Functions	 between	 Entities	 not	
under common control
ASB issue date: November 2010
Effective date: To be determined by the Minister
New standard of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice that will replace IFRS 3 ad that deals specifically 
with the transfer of functions between entities that 
are not under common control (i.e. unrelated entities). 
The standard will prescribe the standard practices to 
be followed where one entity receives the function(s) 
and related assets and liabilities of another entity. The 
standard takes cognizance that the transfer of functions 
often occurs without any consideration for the assets 
and liabilities and prescribes the recognition and 
measurement thereof. The standard will impact the group 
figures as the non-controlling interest of the subsidiary 
company Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited will 
share in the net deficit of the company.

GRAP	107	–	Mergers
ASB issue date: November 2010
Effective date: To be determined by the Minister
New standard of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice that will replace IFRS 3 and that deals specifically 
with the combination of entities within the public sector. 
The standard will prescribe the standard practices to be 
followed where entities combine through acquisition of 
one entity by another.

In the current financial year, the entity adopted the 
following standards and interpretations that are effective 
for the current financial year and that are relevant to the 
operations:

Standard/Interpretation Effective date

GRAP 21: Impairment of non-cash generating 
assets

1 April 2012

GRAP 23: Revenue from non-exchange 
transactions

1 April 2012

GRAP 24: Presentation of budget information 1 April 2012

GRAP 26: Impairment of cash-generating assets 1 April 2012

GRAP 104: Financial Instruments 1 April 2012

2.2. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate 
the annual financial statements of the agency and its 
subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the agency has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity in order to obtain economic benefits from 

its activities. The operating results of the subsidiaries 
are included from the effective dates that control is 
acquired and up to the effective dates of disposal or when 
control ceases. Business combinations are accounted 
for in accordance with the purchase method. All intra-
group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation. On acquisition, the group 
recognises the subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities at fair value, except for assets 
classified as held for sale, which is recognised at fair 
value less costs to sell. Premiums or discounts arising on 
the acquisition of subsidiaries are treated in terms of the 
group’s accounting policy for goodwill. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the annual financial statements 
of a subsidiary to align its accounting policy with those of 
the controlling entity.

Common control transactions are business combinations 
in which the combining entities are ultimately controlled 
by the same entity, both before and after the transaction. 
In previous years the group has accounted for acquisitions 
and disposals of business under common control on 
the acquisition method (i.e. applying IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations). During the 2012 financial year the group 
adopted GRAP 105 to account for the transfer of functions 
between entities under common control. The group 
applies a policy of treating transactions with minority 
interests as transactions with equity owners of the group.

The consolidated annual financial statements of the 
agency and the subsidiaries used in the preparation 
of the consolidated annual financial statements are 
prepared as of the same reporting date. When the 
reporting dates of the agency and a subsidiary are 
different, the subsidiary prepares for consolidation 
purposes, additional financial information as of the 
same date as the agency. This adjustment requires of 
the subsidiary to adjust the financial information to 
account for transactions or events that occur between 
that date and the date of the agency’s consolidated 
annual financial statements. The difference between 
the reporting date of the agency and the subsidiaries 
shall be no more than three months. The length of the 
reporting periods and any difference in the reporting 
dates is the same from period to period.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the financial 
statements of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
in line with the GRAP reporting applied by the agency.

All intra-entity transactions, balances, revenues and 
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.3. Investment in subsidiaries
In the agency’s consolidated annual financial statements, 
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investment in subsidiaries is accounted for at cost. The 
carrying amounts of these investments are reviewed 
annually and written down for impairment where 
considered necessary.

2.4. Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary 
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the 
group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary and is 
recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially 
recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently 
measured at cost less any accumulated

The carrying amount of goodwill is assessed, annually or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.

Negative goodwill, which represents the excess of the 
group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities acquired over the cost of acquisition, is recognised 
immediately in the statement of financial performance.

2.5. Taxation
The Income Tax expense represents the sum of the current 
and deferred tax. The tax charge is based on taxable 
income for the year. Taxable income differs from the 
surplus reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
performance as it excludes items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other reporting periods 
and items that are never subject to tax.

Deferred tax is expected to be payable or recoverable on 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated annual financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation 
of taxable profit, and are accounted for using the liability 
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognised when the temporary differences arises 
from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction which affects 
neither the tax profit nor the surplus for the year.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled. Deferred tax is charged or credited in 
the statement of financial performance, except when 
it relates to items credited or charged directly to net 
assets, in which case the deferred tax is recorded in net 

assets. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the group intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

2.6. Revenue
Income is recognised to the extent that the economic 
benefits will flow to the group and the income can be 
reliably measured. Income is measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable.

2.6.1. Revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions refers to revenue 
that accrued to the entity directly in return for services 
rendered/goods sold, the value of which approximates the 
consideration received or receivable.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable and represents the amounts 
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal 
course of business, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates, and value added tax. Interest is recognised, in 
surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:
•	 The	entity	has	transferred	to	the	buyer	the	significant	

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 
•	 The	 entity	 retains	 neither	 continuing	 managerial	

involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; 

•	 The	amount	of	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably;	
•	 It	 is	 probable	 that	 the	 economic	 benefits	 or	 service	

potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and 

•	 The	 costs	 incurred	 or	 to	 be	 incurred	 in	 respect	 of	
the transaction can be measured reliably. When the 
outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of 
services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date. 

Rendering of services

The outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of 
services can be estimated reliably when all the following 
conditions are satisfied:
•	 The	amount	of	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably;	
•	 It	 is	 probable	 that	 the	 economic	 benefits	 associated	

with the transaction will flow to the entity; 
•	 The	 stage	 of	 completion	 of	 the	 transaction	 at	 the	

reporting date can be measured reliably; and 
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•	 The	costs	incurred	for	the	transaction	and	the	costs	to	
complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

When the outcome of the transaction involving the 
rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue 
shall be recognised only to the extent of the expenses 
recognised that are recoverable.

2.6.2. Interest Income
Interest income is recognised in the statement of financial 
performance as it accrues, using the effective interest rate 
method. In terms of GRAP 104, interest is also accrued 
in respect of impaired loans and advances, based on 
the original effective interest rate used to determine the 
recoverable amount. In instances where a loan has been 
impaired in full, the accrual of interest from that date 
is suspended and not recognised in the statement of 
financial performance.

2.6.3. Loan initiation fees
These fees are charged upfront and where significant are 
capitalised into the loan, and are primarily based on the 
cost of granting the loan to the customer. In accordance 
with GRAP 9 Revenue from exchange transactions, these 
origination fees are considered an integral part of the 
loan agreement and therefore recognised as an integral 
part of the effective interest rate and are accounted for 
over the shorter of the original contractual term and the 
actual term of the loan using the effective interest rate 
method. The deferred portion of the fees is recorded in the 
statement of financial position as a provision for deferred 
administration fees. The group does not defer any related 
operating costs, as these are all internal costs which are 
not directly attributable to individual transactions and as 
such are primarily absorbed infrastructure costs.

2.6.4. Commission income
Commission income is recognised on an accrual basis over 
the life of the underlying contracts.

2.6.5. Rental income
Rental income arising from investment properties is 
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
and is recorded in the statement of financial performance.

2.6.6. Fees from administered funds
The group is entitled to fees for administering certain of 
the funds under administration. Such fees are recognised 
in terms of the underlying contracts which most often are 
based on the stage of completion of the administered 
fund. The stage of completion is determined by reference 
to an assessment of work performed to date.

2.6.7. Sale of goods
Sale of goods is recognised on the date of sale when 

significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer. Sale of goods is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

2.6.8. Insurance contracts
An insurance contract is a contract under which one 
party (the insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from 
another party (policy holder) by agreeing to compensate 
the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event 
(the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder. 
The agency issues insurance contracts on its borrowers 
against the payment of an insurance premium (the 
insured event) adversely affect the policyholder. The 
agency issues insurance contracts on its borrowers against 
the payment of insurance premium to cover death, 
insolvency and certain other risks. Given the market that 
the agency services, the only insurance event that triggers 
performance by the Agency is the death of the insured. 
Such insurance contracts comprise those issued on 
loans below R10 000 (Enabling Trust Fund on such loans 
other than Starter Business Entrepreneurial Development 
Programme (SSSBEDP) and the Group Indemnity Fund on 
loans below R10 000 and on loans between R10 000 and 
R100 000 (Credit Life Cover). Loans above R100 000 are 
excluded in total from insurance cover.

There is no cover to the extent that the loan is in arrears. 
In order to build up a reserve to fund future commitments, 
the group entered into a contingency policy through 
Guard Risk Insurance Company Limited (a member of 
the Alexander Forbes Group). This policy is treated as an 
investment (Refer to Note 2.17). The risks under the contract 
remain with the group and the group may utilise funds in 
the contingency policy account to the extent available to 
settle its obligations under the insurance contracts.

Premiums

The group recognises insurance premiums in the statement 
of financial performance when they are due in terms of the 
insurance contracts.

Benefits and claims

Insurance benefits and claims incurred under insurance 
contracts are recognised in the statement of financial 
performance. Claims are recognised when notified. The 
estimate of the expected settlement value of claims that 
are notified, if any, but not paid before the reporting date 
is included in payables.

Movement in the provision for insurance contracts

The agency carries a provision for insurance contracts 
and the movement in the provision at each reporting 
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date is recognised in the statement of financial 
performance reporting date is recognised in the 
statement of financial performance.

2.7. Investment property

Initial Recognition

An investment property includes property (land or a 
building, or part of a building, or both land or buildings 
held under a finance lease) held to earn rentals and/or 
for capital appreciation, rather than held to meet service 
delivery objectives, the production or supply of goods or 
services, or the sale of an asset in the ordinary course of 
operations. Investment property is recognised as an asset 
when it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential that are associated with the investment 
property will flow to the agency, and the cost or fair value 
of the investment property can be measured reliably. At 
initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost 
including transaction costs once it meets the definition 
of investment property. However, where an investment 
property was acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction (i.e. where it acquired the investment property 
for no or a nominal value), its cost is its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition. The cost of self-constructed investment 
property is the cost at date of completion.

Subsequent measurement

Investment property is measured using the cost model. 
Under the cost model, investment property is carried 
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated 
on the depreciable amount (after taking residual value 
into account), using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. Components of assets 
that are significant in relation to the whole asset and that 
have different useful lives are depreciated separately. The 
annual depreciation rates are based on the estimate useful 
lives for each asset and component. In the case of buildings 
classified as investment properties, the estimated average 
asset life is 30 to 50 years. Land is not depreciated.

2.8. Property, plant and equipment

Initial Recognition

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets that are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative 
purposes, and are expected to be used during more than 
one year.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

•	 It	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	or	service	
potential associated with the item will flow to the 
agency; and 

•	 The	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.	

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially 
recognised as assets on acquisition date and are initially 
recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is the purchase price and other costs 
attributable to bring the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by the entity. Trade discounts and rebates are 
deducted in arriving at the cost.

If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The initial 
estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item 
and restoring the site on which it is located is also included 
in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the 
agency is obliged to incur such expenses and where the 
obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it 
for purposes other than the production of inventories.

Where an assets is acquired for no or nominal consideration 
(i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost is deemed to be 
equal to the fair value of that asset on the date acquired. 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment is 
acquired in exchange for non-monetary or monetary assets 
or a combination of both, the asset acquired is initially 
recognised at fair value. If the acquired item’s fair value was 
not determinable, it’s deemed cost is the carrying amount 
of the assets given up.

When significant components of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of 
property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, items of property, plant 
and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite 
useful life.

Where the entity replaces parts of an asset, it derecognises 
the part of the asset being replaced and capitalises the 
new component.

Subsequent expenditure incurred on an asset is capitalised 
when it increases the capacity or future economic benefits 
associated with the asset.
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Depreciation and Impairment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight-line method over their expected useful lives to 
their estimated residual value. The deprecation charge for 
each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is 
included in the total carrying amount of another asset. 
Components of assets that are significant in relation to 
the whole asset and that have different useful lives are 
depreciated separately.

The annual depreciation rates for each category of 
property, plant and equipment are based on the following 
estimated average asset lives:

Item        Useful life
Buildings        30-50 years
Computer equipment      5-9 years
Office furniture and fittings      10-12 years
Leasehold improvements      2-5 years (period of the lease)
Vehicles        4-5 years
Plant and equipment       5-10 years
Equipment under finance lease      Period of the lease term

The residual value, the useful life of an asset and the 
depreciation method is reviewed annually and any changes 
are recognised as a change in accounting estimate in 
the statement of financial performance. Reviewing the 
useful life of an asset on an annual basis does not require 
the agency to amend the previous estimate unless 
expectations differ from the previous estimate.

The entity tests for impairment where there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. An assessment 
of whether there is an indication of possible impairment is 
done at each reporting date. Where the carrying amount 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is greater 
than the estimated recoverable amount (or recoverable 
service amount) it is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) 
and an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of 
financial performance.

Derecognition

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no 
further economic benefits or service potential expected 
from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying value and is recognised 
in the statement of financial performance. The gain or 
loss is included in the surplus or deficit when the asset 
is derecognised.

2.9. Biological assets

Initial recognition

The agency recognise a biological asset that forms part of 
an agricultural activity or agricultural produce only when:
•	 The	agency	controls	the	asset	as	a	result	of	past	events;	
•	 It	 is	probable	that	 future	economic	benefits	or	service	

potential associated with the asset will flow to the 
agency; and 

•	 The	 fair	 value	 or	 cost	 of	 the	 asset	 can	 be	 measured	
reliably. 

Subsequent measurement

Biological assets are measured at their fair value less 
estimated point-of-sale costs. A gain or loss arising on 
initial recognition of agricultural produce at fair value 
less estimated point-of-sale costs is included in profit 
or loss for the period in which it arises. Where market 
determined prices or values are not available, the present 
value of the expected net cash inflows from the asset, 
discounted at a current market-determined pre-tax rate is 
used to determine fair value. Where fair value cannot be 
measured reliably, biological assets are measured at cost 
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

The fair value of livestock is determined based on market 
prices of livestock of similar age, breed and genetic merit.

A biological asset or agricultural produce is derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there is no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the 
use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds 
and the carrying value and is included in surplus or deficit 
when the item is derecognised.

2.10. Intangible assets

Initial recognition

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset 
without physical substance. Examples include computer 
software, licences and development costs. An asset is 
identified as an intangible asset when it:
•	 Is	capable	of	being	separated	or	divided	from	an	agency	

and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged 
either individually or together with a related contract, 
asset or liability; or 

•	 Arises	from	contractual	rights	to	other	legal	rights,	regardless	
whether those rights are transferable or separate from the 
agency or from other rights and obligations.

 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2013



An intangible asset is recognised in the statement of 
financial position only when it is probable that the 
expected future economic benefits or service potential 
that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and 
the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. 
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Internally generated intangible assets are subject to strict 
recognition criteria before they are capitalised. Research 
expenditure is never capitalised, while development 
expenditure is only capitalised to the extent that:
•	 It	is	technically	feasible	to	complete	the	asset	so	that	it	

will be available for use or sale; 
•	 There	is	an	intention	to	complete	and	use	or	sell	it;	
•	 There	is	an	ability	to	use	or	sell	it;	
•	 It	will	generate	probable	 future	economic	benefits	or	

service potential; 
•	 There	 are	 available	 technical,	 financial	 and	 other	

resources to complete the development and to use/sell 
the asset; and 

•	 The	 expenditure	 attributable	 to	 the	 asset	 during	 its	
development can be measured reliably. 

Where an intangible asset is acquired by the entity for no or 
nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the 
cost is deemed to be equal to the fair value of that asset on 
the date acquired. Where an intangible asset is acquired in 
exchange for non-monetary assets or monetary assets, or a 
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset 
acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the 
acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed 
cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, 
customer lists and items similar in substance are not 
recognised as intangible assets.

Subsequent measurement

Intangible assets are subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairments. The cost of 
an intangible asset is amortised over the useful life where 
that useful life is finite. Where the useful life is indefinite, 
the asset is not amortised but is subject to an annual 
impairment test.

Amortisation and impairment

Amortisation is charged so as to write off the cost or 
valuation of intangible assets over their estimated useful 
lives using the straight line method. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for intangible 
assets are reviewed annually. The annual amortisation 
rates are based on the following estimated average 
asset lives:

Item   Useful life
Computer software 3 years

An assessment of whether there is an indication of possible 
impairment is done at each reporting date. Where the 
carrying amount of an item of an intangible asset is greater 
than the estimated recoverable amount (or recoverable 
service amount), it is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) and 
an impairment loss is charged to the statement of financial 
performance.

Derecognition

Intangible assets are derecognised when the asset is 
disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use of the 
asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an intangible asset is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying value and is 
recognised in the statement of financial performance.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at 
each reporting date and any changes are recognised as a 
change in accounting estimate in the statement of financial 
performance. The entity tests intangible assets with finite 
useful lives for impairment where there is an indication that 
an asset may be impaired.

2.11. Inventories

Initial recognition

Inventories comprise current assets held for sale, 
consumption or distribution during the ordinary course of 
business. Inventories are initially recognised at cost. Cost 
generally refers to the purchase price, plus taxes, transport 
costs and any other costs in bringing the inventories to 
their current location and condition. Where inventory is 
manufactured, constructed or produced, the cost includes 
the cost of labour, materials and overhead used during the 
manufacturing process. Where inventory is acquired by the 
entity for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange 
transaction), the cost is deemed to be equal to the fair 
value of the item on the date acquired.

Subsequent measurement

Inventories, consisting of consumable stores and raw 
materials, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value unless they are to be distributed at no or nominal 
charge, in which case they are measured at the lower of cost 
and current replacement cost. Redundant and slow-moving 
inventories are identified and written down in this way.
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Differences arising on the valuation of inventory are 
recognised in the statement of financial performance in 
the year in which they arose. The amount of any reversal 
of any write-down of inventories arising from an increase 
in net realisable value or current replacement cost is 
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
reversal occurs. The carrying amount of inventories is 
recognised as an expense in the period that the inventory 
was sold, distributed, written off or consumed, unless that 
cost qualifies for capitalisation to the cost of another asset. 
In general, the basis of allocating cost to inventory items is 
the first-in-first-out method.

2.12. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present 
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate of the provision can be made.

Provisions are reviewed at reporting date and adjusted 
to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect is 
material, non-current provisions are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the 
market’s current assessment of the time value of money, 
adjusted for risks specific to the liability. A provision is used 
only for expenditures for which the provision was originally 
recognised.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.

Future events that may affect the amount required to settle 
an obligation are reflected in the amount of a provision 
where there is sufficient objective evidence that they will 
occur.

Gains from the expected disposal of assets are not taken 
into account in measuring a provision. Provisions are 
not recognised for future operating losses. The present 
obligation under an onerous contract is recognised and 
measured as a provision.

2.13. Revenue from non-exchange transactions 
(taxes and transfers)
Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction an 
entity either receives value from another entity without directly 
giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value 
to another entity without directly receiving approximately 
equal value in exchange. Revenue from the recovery of 
unauthorised, irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is 
based on legislated procedures, including those set out in 
the Public Finance Management Act (Act n. 29 of 1999) and 
is recognised when the recovery thereof from the responsible 
board members or official is virtually certain.

Government grants and receipts from other parties that 
arise from non-exchange transactions are recognised in the 
statement of financial position once official confirmation 
has been received and the grant can be measured reliably 
and it is likely that the grant will be received.

Transfer of assets from non-exchange transactions

An inflow of resources from non-exchange transactions, 
other than services in kind, that meet all the definitions 
of an asset, other than business combinations which are 
dealt with is recognised as an asset when it is probable 
that it will result in an inflow of economic benefits and the 
fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. An inflow 
of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised 
as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the extent 
that a liability is recognised for the same inflow. As the 
group satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability 
in respect of an inflow of resources from non-exchange 
transactions recognised as an asset, it will simultaneously 
reduce the carrying amount of the liability recognised and 
recognise an amount equal to that reduction. On initial 
recognition, the non-exchange receipt is recognised at its 
fair value, which is taken as the monetary amount, unless 
the grant on initial recognition has extended payment 
terms, in which case the monetary amounts is discounted. 
Delay in receipt of the non-exchange transfer does not 
result in it being discounted, but does result in the grant 
being checked for impairment.

Present obligations arising from non-exchange 
transactions

A present obligation arising from a non-exchange 
transaction that meets the definition of a liability will 
be recognised as a liability when it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
settlement amount. A non-exchange transfer receipt that 
has conditions attaching to it, which has not been fulfilled 
at the reporting date, and the group is obliged to return 
the unspent funds if the conditions are not met, gives rise 
to a liability.

The group receives the following types of non-exchange 
transactions:
•	 Voted	 transfer	 payments	 from	 the	 Government	 for	

operations (these are recognised fully in income); 
•	 Conditional	non-transfer	funding	from	Government	for	

specific projects (these are recognised in income when 
the conditions are met, see above); 

•	 Conditional	 non-transfer	 receipts	 from	 other	
Government organisations for specific projects (these 
are recognised in income when the conditions are 
met). Conditional grants may comprise both transfer 
payments voted by the Government (e.g. Eastern Cape 
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Provincial Legislator) and specific grants initiated by a 
Government Department (e.g. Eastern Cape Provincial 
Department of Agriculture and Rural Development). 
Contributions from the controlling shareholder are 
recognised directly in net assets.

2.14. Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Finance leases: Lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets 
of the group at their fair value, or if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined 
at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability 
to the lessor is included in the statement of financial 
position as a finance lease obligation. Finance charges, 
which represent the difference between the total leasing 
commitments and the fair value of the asset acquired, are 
charged to the statement of financial performance over 
the term of the lease so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the obligations 
for each reporting period.

Operating leases

The Group as lessor -
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on 
a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in the 
statement of financial performance.

The Group as lessee -
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on 
a straight line basis over the term of the lease. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 
contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset or liability in the statement of financial performance.

2.15. Financial instruments
Financial instruments are accounted for under the new 
GRAP 104. The agency only recognises a financial asset or a 
financial liability in the statement of financial position when 
the agency becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. A contract or contractual agreement 
refer to an agreement between two or more parties that 
has clear economic consequences that the parties have 
little, if any, discretion to avoid.

Initial recognition and measurement of financial assets 
and financial liabilities

The issuer of a financial instrument classifies the instrument 
on initial recognition as a financial liability, a financial asset 

or residual interest in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangement. An instrument is only a 
residual interest if the instrument includes no contractual 
obligation to delivery cash/another financial asset or to 
exchange financial assets/liabilities with another entity. A 
residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest 
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
The residual interest includes owner contributions.

A financial asset or liability is initially recognised at its fair 
value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of the financial instrument. 
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial 
instrument. It is an incremental cost is costs that would not 
have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or 
disposed the financial instrument.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

On subsequent measurement the agency measures all 
financial instruments as either -
a) Financial instruments at fair value; or 
b) Financial instruments at amortised cost; or 
c) Financial instruments at cost. 

Financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or 
cost are subject to annual impairment reviews.

A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a 
financial instrument is recognised in the surplus or deficit 
for the period. Identified gains or losses on financial 
instruments held at amortised cost or cost is recognised 
in surplus or deficit when the financial instrument is 
derecognised, impaired or amortised.

Financial assets

A financial asset is either cash; a residual interest of 
another entity or a contractual right to (i) receive cash 
or another financial asset from another entity; or (ii) 
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially 
favourable to the agency.

Financial assets are initially recognised by applying trade 
date accounting.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, in bank, 
on deposit and other short term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash 
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. 
Cash and cash equivalents are initially and subsequently 
recorded at cost.
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Receivables from exchange transactions
Trade and other receivables are measured at fair value. 
Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in surplus or deficit when there 
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, 
and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 
days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed 
at initial recognition.

Amortised cost refers to the initial carrying amount, plus 
interest, less repayments and impairments. Loans and 
advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They arise when the agency provides money, goods 
or services directly to a debtor with no intention to trade the 
receivable. In the case of the agency, all loans and advances 
are in the form of secured, partially secured or unsecured 
loans that are paid back in fixed equal instalments.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit is 
recognised in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. 
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against operating expense in surplus or deficit.

Loans to subsidiaries
The loans to subsidiaries are recognised initially at fair value 
plus direct transaction cost. These financial instruments are 
measured at amortised cost.

Loans to customers
Advances are classified as loans and receivables and are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less any impairment losses through the use 
of an allowance account whereby the amount of the losses 
are recognised in the statement of financial performance. 
Origination fees that are integral to the effective interest 
rate are capitalised to the value of the loan and amortised 
to the statement of financial performance over the 
contractual life of the loan using the effective interest rate 
method. Given the developmental mandate of the agency, 
the differences between the fair value and the transaction 
amount represents a subsidy granted on a concessionary 
loan in the execution of public policy and is recognised as 
an expense on initial recognition.

The prime overdraft rate is used as the fair market rate 
when determining whether a loan is concessionary. 
Advances, which are deemed uncollectible, are written off 
either fully or partially against the impairment allowance 
account for non-performing loans. Cash collected on loans, 
which have previously been written off and which remain 
off statement of financial position, is recognised in the 
statement of financial performance as bad debts recovered 
as and when the cash is received. Loans and advances are 
disclosed net of deferred administration fees (consisting 
of origination fees), impairment provisions and fair value 
adjustments arising on concessionary loans. The effective 
interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts/payments (including all fees receivable 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate) 
through the expected life of the financial asset/liability or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period. The investment under 
contingency policy is initially and subsequently recorded 
at fair value. Other investments, which are classified as 
available for sale, are initially and subsequently recorded 
at fair value.

Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual 
obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to 
another entity or to exchange financial assets or financial 
liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable 
to the agency.

Payables from exchange transactions
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method. Trade and other 
payables are categorised as financial liabilities held at 
amortised cost.

Loans from subsidiaries
The loans from subsidiaries are recognised initially at 
fair value plus direct transaction cost. These financial 
instruments are classified as financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost.

Net Assets

Amounts contributed by the Eastern Cape Provincial 
Government toward the capital of the group are recognised 
as net assets. Such contributions are recognised at the fair 
value of the net assets acquired. Accumulated surplus/
deficit is the surplus/deficit for the year plus the carried 
forward surplus/deficits.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2013



Fair value

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The best 
evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial 
recognition is the transaction price, i.e. the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable are included in the initial fair value 
of financial assets and financial liabilities. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the fair values of financial assets and 
liabilities are based on quoted market prices or dealer 
price quotations for financial instruments traded in active 
markets. If the market for a financial asset is not active or 
the instrument is an unlisted instrument, the fair value is 
determined by using applicable valuation techniques. 
These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, 
discounted cash flow analyses, pricing models and 
valuation techniques commonly used by market 
participants. Where the fair value is not stated in the notes 
to these consolidated annual financial statements, the 
carrying amount is approximately equal to the fair value.

De-recognition of financial instruments

The group derecognises a financial asset (or group of 
financial assets) or a part of a financial asset (or part of a 
group of financial asset) when:
•	 The	 contractual	 rights	 to	 the	 cash	flows	 arising	 from	

the financial asset have expired, are settled or waived; 
or 

•	 The	 group	 transfers	 the	 financial	 asset,	 including	
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset; or 

•	 Transfers	 the	 contractual	 rights	 to	 receive	 the	 cash	
flows from the financial asset; 

•	 It	retains	the	contractual	rights	to	receive	the	cash	flows	
of the financial asset, but assumes a corresponding 
contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to 
one or more recipients, and consequently transfers 
substantially all the risks and benefits associated with 
the asset; or 

•	 No	future	economic	benefits	are	expected.	

A financial liability (or group of financial liabilities) or a 
part of a financial liability (or part of a group of financial 
liabilities) is derecognised when and only when the liability 
is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

The difference between the carrying amount of a 
financial asset or financial liability (or part thereof ) that 
is derecognised and the consideration paid or received, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss for the period.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported on the statement of financial position where 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amount and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Income and expense items are offset only to the extent 
that their related instruments have been offset in the 
statement of financial position.

2.16. Impairment of assets
Cash-generating assets are those assets held by the agency 
with the primary objective of generating a commercial 
return. When an asset is deployed in a manner consistent 
with that adopted by a profit-orientated entity, it generates 
a commercial return.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits 
or service potential of an asset, over and above the 
systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s future 
economic benefits or service potential through 
depreciation or amortisation.

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is 
recognised in the statement of financial position after 
deducting any accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group 
of assets held with the primary objective of generating 
a commercial return that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating 
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use.

Cash-generating assets

The agency assesses annually whether there are any 
indications that the cash-generating assets may be impaired. 
External sources and internal sources of information are 
considered to identify possible impairment indicators. In 
the event that cash-generating assets should be impaired 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. If the 
recoverable value of the asset is less than the carrying 
value, the carrying value is reduced to the recoverable 
amount. The reduction is recorded in the surplus or deficit 
for the period as an impairment loss. After recognition of 
impairment losses the depreciation/amortisation charges 
of the asset are adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less residual values, on a 
systematic basis over the remaining useful life of the asset.
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If any impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
limited to the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
in the statement of financial performance.

Non-cash-generating assets

Non-cash generating assets are all assets other than cash-
generating assets.
The agency assesses annually whether there are any 
indications that an asset may be impaired. After considering 
the internal and external impairment indicators and when 
such indication exists, the recoverable service amount 
of the asset is estimated. A non-cash generating asset is 
impaired when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 
its recoverable service amount. If the recoverable amount 
of the asset is less than the carrying amount thereof, the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to the recoverable 
amount. The reduction is recognised in the period that it 
occurs in surplus or deficit. This reduction is classified as an 
impairment loss.

If any impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
limited to the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
in the statement of financial performance.

2.17. Retirement benefits
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit 
plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into 
a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 
are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the 
statement of financial performance when they are due. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the 
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments 
is available. The agency’s employees are members of the 
Metropolitan Rainmaker Provident Fund. The agency 
contributes a fixed percentage of each employee’s basic 
salary cost to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the 
benefits. Payments to this defined contribution retirement 
plan are expensed when they fall due.

2.18. Administered funds
Amounts received under service level agreements 
from government departments on an agency basis are 
recognised as a liability to the extent that the funds have 
not been disbursed.

2.19. Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets are capitalised to the cost of that asset unless it is 
inappropriate to do so. The entity ceases the capitalisation 
of borrowing costs when substantially all the activities to 
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are complete. 
It is considered inappropriate to capitalise borrowing 
costs where the link between the funds borrowed and the 
capital asset acquired cannot be adequately established. 
Borrowing costs incurred other than on qualifying assets 
are recognised as an expense when incurred.

2.20. Related parties
The group operates in an economic environment, together 
with other entities directly or indirectly owned by the 
South African Government. As a result of the constitutional 
independence of all three spheres of government in South 
Africa, only parties within the Eastern Cape provincial sphere 
of Government will be considered to be related parties. 
Senior (key) management is defined as individuals with 
the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the group. All individuals from 
the level of executive management up to the board of 
directors are regarded as key management per the definition 
of the standard. Close family members of key management 
personnel are considered to be those family members who 
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by key 
management individuals in their dealings with the group. 
Other related party transactions are also disclosed in terms 
of the requirements of the standard.

2.21. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

Contingent Liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 
from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the group. Contingent liabilities are not recognised and 
only disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Commitments

Items are classified as commitments where the group has 
committed itself to future transactions. Commitments arise 
when orders have been issued by the agency to suppliers 
and a commitment was raised to pay the supplier once the 
service/goods is rendered/delivered.

2.22. Contingent assets
Contingent assets are items which will result in future 
economic benefit to the organisation however the 
value of which cannot be measured with any degree of 
reliability. Contingent assets are not recognised in the 
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records of the organisation and are detailed in the notes 
to the financial statements.

2.23. Transfer of Functions between entities under 
common control
A transfer of functions is the reorganisation and/or the 
reallocation of functions between entities by transferring 
functions between entities or into another entity. For a 
transaction or event to occur between entities under 
common control, the transaction or event needs to be 
undertaken between entities within the same sphere of 
government or between entities that are part of the same 
economic entity. Entities that are ultimately controlled by 
the same entity before and after the transfer of functions are 
within the same economic entity. The agency accounts for 
the transfer of functions between entities under common 
control in accordance with GRAP 105, as follows:

When the agency is the acquirer:
As of the transfer date, the agency recognises the purchase 
consideration paid (if any) to the transferor and all the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a transfer of functions. 
The assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured 
at their carrying amounts per the transferor’s accounting 
records. The difference between the carrying amounts 
of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed ad the 
consideration paid (if any) to the transferor is recognised in 
accumulated surplus or accumulated deficit. Costs that the 
agency incurs to affect the transfer of function, including 
advisory, legal, accounting and other professional or 
consulting fees and general administrative expenses, are 
accounted for as expenses in the period in which the costs 
are incurred and the services are received.

When the agency is the transferor:
As of the transfer date, the agency derecognises from 
its consolidated annual financial statements, all the 
assets transferred and liabilities relinquished in a transfer 
of functions at their carrying amounts. The difference 
between the carrying amounts of the assets transferred, 
the liabilities relinquished and the consideration received 
(if any) from the acquirer is recognised in accumulated 
surplus or accumulated deficit.

2.24. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is expenditure that 
was made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised. Fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is accounted for as expenditure in the 
statement of financial performance and where recovered, 
it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the 
statement of financial performance.

2.25. Irregular expenditure
Irregular expenditure is recorded in the notes to the 
consolidated annual financial statements when confirmed. 

The amount recorded is equal to the total value of the 
irregularity unless it is impracticable to determine in which 
case reasons therefore is provided in the note. Irregular 
expenditure is removed from the note when it is either 
condoned by the relevant authority or transferred to 
receivables for recovery. Irregular expenditure is expenditure, 
other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in 
contravention of or that is not in accordance with applicable 
legislation which is not yet condoned or regularised by 
management. Irregular expenditure is accounted for as 
expenditure in the statement of financial performance 
and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as 
revenue in the statement of financial performance.

2.26. Comparitive information
When the presentation or classification of items in the 
consolidated annual financial statements is amended, 
prior period comparative amounts are restated. The nature 
and reason for the reclassification is disclosed. Where 
accounting errors have been identified in the current year, 
the correction is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, 
and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly. 
Where there has been a change in accounting policy in 
the current year, the adjustment is made retrospectively as 
far as is practicable, and the prior year comparatives are 
restated accordingly.

2.27. Statement of compliance
Given the basis of preparation set out above (i.e. GRAP), 
the consolidated annual financial statements have been 
prepared in full compliance with Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice.

2.28. Cash flow Statement
As required by GRAP 102, the cash flow statement has been 
prepared on the direct basis whereby the gross cash flow 
to and from the organisation, including cash flows which 
arise from administered funds, are disclosed.

2.29. Budget Information
Comparison of budget and actual amounts are presented 
in a separate additional annual financial statement: 
Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts. 
The entity only presents the final budget amounts. 
Differences (variances) between the actual amounts and 
budget amounts are also presented. The annual financial 
statements and budget are not presented on the same 
basis as the consolidated annual financial statements 
are prepared on the accrual basis and the budget on the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. A reconciliation 
between the surplus/(deficit) for the period as per the 
Statement of Financial Performance and budgeted surplus/
(deficit) is included in the Statement of comparison of 
budget and actual amounts.
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3. Critical Accounting Judgements 
and Key Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated annual financial 
statements in conformity with the basis of preparation 
requires management to make certain estimates, 
assumptions and judgements that affects the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses as well 
as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Actual results 
could differ from such estimates. Estimates and judgements 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The most significant judgements and 
estimates are summarised below:

Critical accounting judgements

Going concern basis of preparation
As is evident from these consolidated annual financial 
statements, the group and the agency receive an annual 
Government grant from the Eastern Cape Department 
Rural Development and Agrarian Reform. The group and 
the agency budget on the basis of such grant. The group 
and the agency are not able to generate cash flows from its 
core business of development finance sufficient to cover 
its annual total cash requirements. As such the group and 
the agency are dependent for its continued operation in 
the foreseeable future on continued Government financial 
support. The group is unable to fund the operations of 
the subsidiary companies that have been transferred and 
that will be transferred to it, acquisition through business 
combination without Government support. The Board of 
Directors have determined that such support is reasonably 
expected to continue and therefore have prepared these 
consolidated annual financial statements on the going 
concern basis.

Accounting treatment of fair value adjustments on 
concessionary loans
The agency has determined that the fair value of loans 
and advances that have been granted at concessionary 
rates on initial recognition should be determined based 
on the ruling Prime Overdraft Rate. The difference is a 
subsidy expense recognised on initial recognition in the 
statement of financial performance. The agency has used 
the Prime Overdraft Rate as the fair market rate, as this is 
the reference rate in the market and would approximate 
the average market rate for similar loans to customers with 
similar credit profiles.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment losses on loans and advances
The group reviews its loans portfolios to assess impairment 
at each reporting date. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of 
financial performance, the group makes judgements as 
to whether there is any observable date indicating that 
there is a measureable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease 
can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. 
This evidence may include observable data indicating that 
there has been an adverse change in the payment status 
of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the 
group. Management uses estimates based on historical 
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 
and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in 
the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both 
the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed 
regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates 
and actual loss experience.

Provision for insurance contracts
Management has based the measurement of the provision 
for insurance contracts on mortality rates, persistency 
assumptions and claims experience are in line with actuarial 
assistance obtained. Actual outcomes could differ from 
these estimates.

Depreciation rates, methods and residual values
Depreciation rates, depreciation methods adopted and 
residual values of assets requires judgements and estimates 
to be made. Changes in estimates are disclosed in the 
relevant notes where applicable.

Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values.

4. Changes in Presentation
Changes to prior year information are disclosed in the 
notes to the consolidated annual financial statements as 
and when they occur.
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5. Grap Standards

Accounting Standards which have been approved and are effective:

GRAP 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
GRAP 2 Cash Flow Statements
GRAP 3 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
GRAP 4 The effects of changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
GRAP 5 Borrowing Costs
GRAP 6 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
GRAP 7 Investments in Associates
GRAP 8 Interest in Joint Ventures
GRAP 9 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
GRAP 10 Financial reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 
GRAP 11 Construction Contracts
GRAP 12 Inventories GRAP 13 Leases
GRAP 14 Events after the Reporting Date 
GRAP 16 Investment Property
GRAP 17 Property, Plant and Equipment
GRAP 19 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
GRAP 21 Impairment of Non-cash generating Assets
GRAP 23 Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
GRAP 24 Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements 
GRAP 26 Impairment of Cash-generating assets
GRAP 100 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
GRAP 101 Agriculture
GRAP 102 Intangible Assets
GRAP 103 Heritage Assets 
GRAP 104 Financial Instruments 
IAS 12 Income Tax

Directives issued and effective:
Directive 1 Repeal of existing transitional provisions
Directive 2-4 Transitional Provisions for the adoption of Standards of GRAP
Directive 5 Determining the GRAP reporting framework
Directive 7 The application of deemed cost on the adoption of Standards of GRAP
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6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Cash at New Republic Bank Limited (under curatorship) - see below - - - -

Cash on call and deposit at commercial banks 45 888 095 149 071 114 45 937 992 150 845 971

Cash on current accounts at commercial banks 17 142 116 43 533 226 41 468 226 43 584 241

Cash on hand 747 4 090 747 4 862

63 030 958 192 608 430 87 406 965 194 435 074

The agency mainly places cash at the commercial banks at 
either Standard Bank, ABSA or First National Bank. Liquidity 
is managed to ensure that funds are readily in place to both 
fund the agency’s loan book and to meet administered funds 
contractual commitments. This often necessitates holding large 
cash balances in current accounts (earning low interest rates) or 
in call accounts (see below for rates of interest).

Rates of interest at 31 March 2013 were 1%-3,4% (2012: 1% - 3.9%) 
for funds on call, 5,6% for funds on deposit (2012: 5%-5.82% ), 
while Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary) 
Limited earns 5,6% (2012: 5.6%) for funds on call, of which the 
majority are placed at First National Bank. The other subsidiary 
companies have limited cash resources.

Proprietary composition of cash and cash equivalents:

Unspent funds received under non-exchange transactions (refer 
to Note 12) 

36 923 758 75 406 439 59 697 043 75 406 438

Funds committed under conditional grants (refer to Note 11.2) 11 357 943 24 389 369 23 947 565 37 009 005

Funds at commercial banks and on hand for own commitments 
and onlending

14 749 257 92 812 622 3 762 357 82 019 631

63 030 958 192 608 430 87 406 965 194 435 074

No cash and cash equivalents (or portions thereof ) was pledged as security for any financial liability.

Management considers that all the above cash and cash equivalent categories are of good quality. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 
the reporting date is the fair value of each class of cash and cash equivalent mentioned above.

The cash and cash equivalents were not pledged as security for any financial liabilities.

Except for certain large administered funds (liability arising from non-exchange transactions), the group does not maintain separate bank 
accounts for administered funds, but rather pools all administered funds and manages all cash on an aggregate basis. An administered 
funds ledger is maintained. The above analysis of cash and cash equivalents is achieved by subtracting the balance of administered funds 
from total cash and cash equivalents. Funds for own commitments and on-lending are utilised mainly to: i) fund further loans to customers 
ii) fund commitments to projects / internal initiatives for which accruals could not yet be raised.

The group does not have any overdraft or other loan facilities with any bank or other financial institution.

The funds held at New Republic Bank Limited are restricted and will be recovered in accordance with the curatorship process. These funds 
amount to R3 825 082 (2012: R3 825 082) and are 100% impaired. The bank was placed under curatorship on 29 January 1999 by the Minister 
of Finance. On 23 November 1999 New Republic Bank Limited became a subsidiary of Saambou Bank Limited, also under curatorship.

The amount of cash and cash equivalents (and the corresponding unspent administered funds balances) varies significantly from month 
to month and is dependant on the level of administered funds mandated to the group.
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7. Loans and Advances to Customers

Agency Agency

and Group and Group

2013 2012

R R

Loans and advances to customers 142 793 249 136 931 389

Customers with credit balances 1 746 107 1 646 514

Gross loans and advances to customers i 144 539 356 138 577 903

Less: Fair value adjustments arising on concessionary loans (6 125 171) (6 591 304)

Less: Specific credit impairments (87 853 186) (71 183 674)

50 560 999 60 802 925

Less: Unallocated loan repayments (1 209 349) (1 261 481)

Net carrying amount 49 351 650 59 541 444

Movement in specific credit impairments:

Balance at the beginning of the year 71 183 674 58 157 820

New impairments created 5 586 703 3 888 796

Impairment adjustment in respect of interest recognised on loans and

advances that are considered uncollectible 11 082 809 9 137 058

Balance at the end of the year ii 87 853 186 71 183 674

Balance at the end of the year expressed as a percentage of gross loans and advances 
to customers

(ii/i) 61% 51%

Contractual maturity analysis:

Repayable within 1 year 16 400 472 22 608 770

Repayable later than 1 year 128 138 884 115 969 133

144 539 356 138 577 903

The maturity analysis is based on the remaining period from the reporting
date to contractual maturity.

Sectoral analysis:

Agricultural 89 479 124 99 067 618

Non-agricultural 55 060 232 39 510 285

144 539 356 138 577 903

Exposure to credit risk (A):

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired 12 908 564 24 127 764

Loans and advances past due but not impaired 12 348 184 19 127 242

Loans and advances individually assessed as impaired 119 282 608 95 322 897

A 144 539 356 138 577 903

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.
There are no loans and advances that have been renegotiated that would otherwise have been past due and impaired.
Loans and advances that are past due but not impaired arise where the discounted collateral exceeds the carrying amount.
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Agency Agency

and Group and Group

2013 2012

R R

Collateral held against loans and advances (limited to customer balance 
outstanding) (B):

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired 12 908 564 17 390 176

Loans and advances past due but not impaired 12 348 184 19 127 242

Loans and advances individually assessed as impaired 25 304 252 20 810 417

B 50 561 000 57 327 835

Expressed as a percentage of the loan book (B/A) 34.98% 41.37%

The agency does not hold any bought in collateral at 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil).

Net exposure to credit risk after deducting collateral held (A - B): - 6 737 588

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired - -

Loans and advances past due but not impaired 93 978 356 74 512 480

Loans and advances individually assessed as impaired 93 978 356 81 250 068

Net exposure after specific impairments: - 6 737 588

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired - -

Loans and advances past due but not impaired 6 364 794 3 328 806

Loans and advances individually assessed as impaired 6 364 794 10 066 394

All loans and advances are of one type of product, being loans, but with different repayment periods, collateral, interest 
rates and other terms. None of the loans and advances carry a credit rating from an external credit rating agency. There 
are no renegotiated loans and advances. The group does not have a credit quality grading system. The payment status 
is used as the grading indicator. The group’s maximum credit exposure is the gross advances stated above, before taking 
into account the credit impairments and value of collateral held against such exposures.

Included in loans and advances are loans to staff, referred to as Staff Revolving Loans of R2 037 686 (2012: R3 143 375).

A portion of the the line-item “Customers with credit balances” may relate to balances which have legally prescribed. Such 
balances may be recognised as income. To date the entity has not recognised such amounts as income as the agency has 
not been successful in identifying and informing the specific customers that they are owed money by the agency.

Fair value adjustments arising on concessionary loans:
Loans at concessionary interest rates are regularly granted to encourage rural development and agrarian transformation 
as part of the agency’s developmental mandate. The difference between the present value and the nominal value of the 
loan represents a social benefit granted in the execution of public policy and is recognised as an expense in the reporting 
period that the loan is granted.

The Prime Overdraft Rate is used as the fair market rate when determining whether a loan is concessionary, and is also 
used to determine the present value of the loan. The present value of a concessionary loan is calculated at the end of 
the reporting period during which the loan was granted using the contractual cash flows. The difference between the 
nominal and the present value of the loan is unwound over the contractual period of the loan on a straight-line basis. 
The balance described as “Fair value adjustments arising on concessionary loans” represents the cumulative fair value 
adjustments (since incorporation) which have not yet unwound.
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Specific credit impairments
Loans and advances, which are deemed uncollectible, are written off either fully or partially and represent a reduction 
in the value of loans and advances. The agency reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at each reporting date. 
Collateral is considered when estimating the impairment loss. The present value of collateral is determined using the 
Prime Overdraft Rate, and is calculated on the assumption that is will take one year to foreclose against the collateral and 
receive the cash.

In some instances it may actually take longer than a one year to recover the value of the collateral. The agency has 
a developmental mandate and plays a role in the land redistribution, job creation and food security initiatives of the 
government. Accordingly, the corporation attempts to explore all avenues to try and recover the debt from the other 
role-players before foreclosing against collateral. Costs to foreclose against collateral are not taken into account when 
determining the present value of the collateral. These are not considered material and are recognised when they occur.

8. Receivables

8.1. Trade and Other Receivables

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

Interest accrued 201 004 19 832 201 004 19 832

Accrued administration fees due from Administered Funds 
(liability arising from non exchange transactions)

- 14 338 939 - 14 337 939

Deposits 440 598 428 476 513 967 428 476

Rent receivable 349 341 283 617 349 341 283 617

Trade receivables 899 387 899 388 1 702 643 1 099 587

Funds owed by the Departments for Administered Functions 58 414 842 - 58 414 842 -

Staff and other debtors 871 640 573 833 871 640 573 833

Prepaid expenses 224 261 38 301 224 261 38 301

South African Revenue Service - Value Added Tax (VAT) - - 64 630 383 380

61 401 073 16 582 386 62 342 329 17 164 965

Less: impairment of rent ( 346 650) ( 268 983) ( 346 650) ( 268 983)

Less: impairment of accrued fees due from Administered Funds - (14 338 939) - (14 338 939)

Net carrying amount 61 054 423 1 974 464 61 995 678 2 557 043

The agency signs cession as security for certain staff and former staff housing loan deposits. At year-end, R32 000 of such 
cessions related to loans which were in default. This may result in claims against the agency. The agency acts to recover 
such claims from the staff members in question.

The accrued fees receivable from Administered Funds have been impaired in full as the agency is uncertain that these fees 
will collected in the foreseeable future.

Not any of the terms and conditions attached to the financial assets were re-negotiated during the period under review.

The agency’s management considers that all the above trade and other receivables, that are not past due or impaired for 
each of the agency’s reporting dates under review, to be of a good credit quality.
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0 - 30 days 30 - 60 days 60 - 90 days over 90 days Total

Rent receivable is aged as follows: R R R R R

Agency - 2013 9 689 2 955 18 637 318 060 349 341

Agency - 2012 9 625 5 108 14 274 254 610 283 617

Impairment of rent receivable

Agency - 2013 ( 346 650)

Agency - 2012 ( 268 983)

0 - 30 days is considered not past due and over 30 days is considered past due. A specific impairment is carried against 
the latter (refer above).

The accrued administered fees due from Administered Funds (Liability from non exchange transactions) are recognised in 
accordance with the service level agreements. Settlement will take place against the funds. There are no trade and other 
receivables arising from non-exchange transactions at 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil).

8.2. Livestock Loans Receivable
The agency holds the cattle sold to community farmers, in terms of interest free loans, as collateral. Farmers are required 
to maintain herds of 30 cows and 1 bull. If the amount of cattle is not maintained, then any subsequent offspring may not 
be sold until such time as the herd is at the required level.

Agency Group

R R

Closing balance at 31 March 2010 - 8 208 000

New loans in 2011 - 1 751 040

Down payments on 2010 loans - ( 765 535)

Down payments on 2011 loans - ( 36 480)

Impairment loss - ( 145 025)

Closing balance at 31 March 2011 - 9 012 000

Down payments on 2010 loans - ( 371 113)

Reverse 2011 Impairment loss - 145 025

Impairment loss for 2012 - ( 154 915)

Acquired as part of business combination (refer to note 24) 8 630 997 -

Closing balance at 31 March 2012 (payable within 12 months: R7 191 178, after 12 months: R1 439 819) 8 630 997 8 630 997

Movement on loans in 2013 ( 351 535) ( 351 535)

Closing balance at 31 March 2013 8 279 462 8 279 462

Payable within 12 months 8 279 462 8 279 462

Payable after 12 months - -

8 279 462 8 279 462

The loans as at 31 March 2013 is secured by a total of 1316 cows, 36 bulls and 384 calves (31 March 2012: 1349 cows, 36 bulls 
and 430 calves).
Livestock loans pledged as security: Not any of the terms and/or conditions attached to the financial assets were re-
negotiated during the period under review. 
Credit quality of livestock loans: The agency’s management considers that all the above livestock loans are past due, but the 
herd is collateral for these loans.
In the 2013 year total downpayments of R394 518 was made on the loans. The agency started charging interest on these 
outstanding balances.
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8.3. Receivables Owing by the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Amounts outstanding from the Eastern Cape Department of 
Rural Development and Agrarian Reform

13 458 14 610 000 13 458 14 610 000

Written off receivable owed by Eastern Cape Department of 
Rural Development and Agrarian Reform

- (14 610 000) - (14 610 000)

13 458 - 13 458 -

The amount outstanding from the Department  of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform relates to prior year voted 
funds, which were never paid to the agency. The agency has been instructed to surrender funds to Provincial Treasury. 
It is currently considered unlikely that the voted funds will be received in the foreseeable future.

8.4. Investments

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Loan to Sundays River Citrus Company (Proprietary) Limited (see 
below)

- - - 398 135

First National Bank Investment - - - -

- - - 398 135

Sundays River Citrus Company (Proprietary) Limited
This company was formed in 2007 when the former co-operative was converted to a company. The members shares in 
the co-operative were converted to a loan. The loan is unsecured and repayable depending upon the financial position 
of the company and bears interest at the rate of CPIX + 2%.

The above investment is classified as available for sale. The investment with First National Bank has been placed on notice 
and the funds are now allocated to funds on call.

8.5. Receivable from Arengo 316 (Proprietary) Limited

7 410 378 7 380 363

The Receivable from Arengo 316 (Proprietary) Limited comprises:

Initial subscription for shares in the company and linked shareholder funding loan 5 000 000 5 000 000

Expenses borne on behalf of the company and intended to be settled through additional investment 
in the company.

2 410 378 2 380 363

7 410 378 7 380 363

The shares have not been issued to the Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary) Limited as at 31 
March 2013.
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8.6. Inventories

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Inventories comprise:

Consumables 140 938 158 901 140 938 158 901

Production Supplies - 68 400 46 789 68 400

140 938 227 301 187 727 227 301

Inventory consist of production supplies and consumables which will be utilised by the group in its daily business 
operations. The inventory is thus held at the lower of cost or net replacement value. Inventory has not bee pledged as 
security for any liabilities.

9. Biological Assets and Investments

9.1. Biological Assets and Agricultural Produce

Biological assets and agricultural produce comprise:

Agricultural produce - 321 987 - 376 966

Crops on land - - 892 684 5 049 372

Impairment of Crops on land - - - ( 642 000)

Harvested crop - Lucerne - - - 1 223 826

Citrus trees - - 8 550 000 8 550 000

- 321 987 9 442 684 14 558 164

Reconciliation of biological assets - 2013

Gains or

losses

Disposal arising from Cultivated Impairment

Opening through changes in during the of Crops on

balance operations fair value year land Total

Agricultural produce 376 966 ( 206 078) ( 115 909) ( 54 979) - -

Citrus trees 8 550 000 - - - - 8 550 000

Crops on land 4 407 372 - - - (3 514 688) 892 684

Harvested crop - Lucerne 1 223 826 (1 223 826) - - - -

14 558 164 (1 429 904) ( 115 909) ( 54 979) (3 514 688) 9 442 684

The losses on the biological assets (fair value adjustments) is the variance between the fair value of the biological asset 
and the actual value realised from the sale of the biological assets.

The losses as per the accounting standards should be considered in context with the groups mandate, schedule 3C listing 
status (thus implying a non-profit orientated focus) and the underlying intentions of the group’s adopted reinvestment 
model. The group focuses on rural development and community participation thus entrenching cooperative, sustainable 
and forward looking attitudes towards agriculture, not the profitability of the group, or its projects.
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Reconciliation of biological assets - 2012

Gains or

losses

Disposal arising from Cultivated Impairment

Opening through changes in during the of Crops on

balance operations fair  value year land Total

Agricultural produce 10 590 000 (10 276 834) 8 821 54 979 376 966

Citrus trees 8 550 000 - - - 8 550 000

Crops on land 1 695 348 (1 695 348) - 5 049 372 ( 642 000) 4 407 372

Harvested crop - Lucerne 1 148 836 (1 148 836) - 1 223 826 1 223 826

21 984 184 (13 121 018) 8 821 6 328 177 ( 642 000) 14 558 164

Non- financial information

Quantities of Citrus trees: Output: Agricultural produce (Citrus)

Lemons - 23 314 (2011: 23 314) Lemon 48.59 (tons per Ha)

Navels - 54 250 (2011: 54 250) Navels 26.98 (tons per Ha)

Valencias - 27 520 (2011: 27 520) Valencias 36.68 (tons per Ha)

Soft Citrus - 4 530 (2011: 4 530) Soft Citrus 30.40 (tons per Ha)

Other - 937 (2011 - 937) Other 52.14 (tons per Ha)

The losses as per the accounting standards should be considered in context with the group’s mandate, schedule 3C 
listing status.

The net realisable income, based on the yield estimate method, was used to determine the value of the agricultural 
produce as it is considered more representative of the “fair value”, especially due to the costs incurred exceeding the 
estimated realizable income.

Harvested crops were valued based on market price per ton at year end. Market price per ton for harvested lucerne at year 
end ranged between R700 and R1 050 per ton, depending on the grade in 2012. Crops on the land were valued based 
on the growth of the crop at year end. The expected tons were calculated by an expert and the expected grade was also 
estimated by the expert at year end. The market price per ton at year end was then applied to calculate the value of the 
crops on the land at year end.

Citrus trees at the Kangela Estate have been valued by M. Swart, Agricultural Valuer (Professional Associate Valuer #4915 
M. Agric, Nat Dip Property Valuation Registered Associate Valuer in terms of Act 47/2000), during February 2011 and has 
been carried at this value in the consolidated annual financial statements. The citrus trees are not insured. Management 
have not identified any change in legislation, market related demands, disasters or an improvement or deterioration of 
the trees to indicate a change in the fair value of the biological assets.

The biological assets held at 31 March 2013 by the ECRDA and it’s subsidiaries consist of the fruit trees at the Kangela 
Citrus Estate only. These biological assets are held in the normal operations of the company. The title to these biological 
assets are not restricted.
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9.2. Investments In Subsidiaries

9.2.1. Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary) Limited

The agency acquired a 100% interest in Sugar Beet RSA (Proprietary) Limited on 16 September 2006 for R5 million. 
The Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform negotiated the purchase (and the price) 
and settled the obligation to the vendors and the corporation recognised the R5 million as a grant in the statement of 
financial performance simultaneous with the recognition of the investment in the subsidiary for the same amount. When 
performing an allocation of the purchase price in order to apply purchase accounting for this business combination in 
the group annual financial statements, management determined to impair the investment to the extent of identifiable 
assets and liabilities acquired. The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired was assessed as equal to the net 
carrying amounts in the consolidated annual financial statements of the acquired company at the date of acquisition. As 
the acquired company was still in the product research stage and future cash flows could not be satisfactorily determined, 
the goodwill at acquisition was impaired and was recognised in the statement of financial performance. The company 
changed its name to Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary) Limited on 29 June 2009.

The goodwill carrying amount in the statement of financial position is as follows: Group

R

Net identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition ( 650 871) 

Purchase price, settled by the corporation via a grant 5 000 000

Goodwill arising on acquisition 4 349 129 

Impairment of goodwill (4 349 129)

Goodwill carrying amount -

This investment in the subsidiary is analysed as follows: Corporation

R

Shares - at cost 5 000 000 

Accumulated impairment at 31 March 2008 (3 786 564)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2008 1 213 436

Reversal of impairment 436 424

Carrying amount at 31 March 2009 1 649 860

Carrying amount at 31 March 2010 1 649 860

Carrying amount at 31 March 2011 1 649 860 

Impairment (1 649 860)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2012 -

Carrying amount at 31 March 2013 -

The company is incorporated under registration number 1999/001579/07 in the Republic of South Africa and is based 
in the Eastern Cape Province. The company is involved in a joint project to produce bio fuel from sugar beet and/or 
other alternative feedstock. The administrative costs of the company is funded by the ECRDA. The company has a 31 
March year end.

The company has received a disclaimer as anaudit opinion for the 2012/13 financial year based on a concerns surrounding 
the possibility for it to continue as a going concern in the future. The company has confirmation with respect to future 
funding for the 2013/2014 financial year of R5,3 million. The allocated funding limits the operations of the company. Due 
to the uncertainty and losses incurred, the investment in subsidiary had been fully impaired.
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9.2.2. Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited

On 29 May 2009 the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform transferred its 51% interest in 
Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited to the agency. The balance of the shares are held by a workers’ empowerment 
trust, which also owns the land on which the subsidiary company operates. This company is the farming operator of the 
citrus orchards and vegetable plantations. This transfer is a common control transaction. The company has outsourced 
the management of the business to South African Fruit Exporters (SAFE).

The company is incorporated under registration number 2003/030011/07 in the Republic of South Africa and is based in 
the Eastern Cape Province. The company has a March year end.

A fair value of Nil has been placed on this investment at acquisition, given that the liabilities exceed the assets of the 
company and the company has sustained losses, and will in all likelihood continue to sustain losses for the foreseeable 
future. A turnaround strategy is in place to secure the future of the company.

The company is the beneficiary of a grant from the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform 
- refer to Note 11.2.

9.2.3. North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited

On 22 June 2009 the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform transferred its 100% interest 
in North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited to the agency. This company is dormant and not operating. This transfer 
is a common control transaction.

The fair value of the company’s liabilities exceeded its assets at the date of acquisition and therefore a value of Nil has 
been placed on this investment in subsidiary.

The company is incorporated under registration number 1983/090159/07 in the Republic of South Africa and is based in 
the Eastern Cape Province. The company has a March year end.

The company is the beneficiary of a grant from the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform 
- refer to Note 11.2.

9.2.4. AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited

On 1 April 2010 the Eastern Cape Office of the Premier transferred to the corporation its 100% interest in AsgiSA - Eastern 
Cape (Proprietary) Limited. The company is incorporated under registration number 2005/008/163/07 in the Republic of 
South Africa and is based in the Eastern Cape Province. The company has a March year-end and is now dormant.

In the 2012 financial year an agreement was undertaken whereby all the staff, assets and liabilities have been transferred 
from AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited to Eastern Cape Rural Finance Corporation Limited as from 1 March 
2012.

Refer to Notes 24 - 25 for an analysis of net assets acquired.

9.3. Investment Under Contingency Policy
This represents accumulated amounts paid to Guard Risk Insurance Company Limited under a contingency policy. The 
investment earns interest at wholesale money market rates (4% at 31 March 2013 and 6.08% at 31 March 2012). In terms 
of the policy while in force, the agency may only access the funds through lodging claims incurred under its contracts of 
insurance. The agency has never claimed against this fund as it has been settling any obligations to date out of its own cash 
resources, given that it intends building this fund to an acceptable level to meet future obligations for performance under its 
contracts of insurance. The carrying amount of the investment at 31 March 2013 was R7 293 387 (2012: R6 892 175).
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10. Investment Property and Property, Plant and Equipment
10.1. Investment property

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 1 951 738 1 989 955 1 951 738 1 989 955

Cost 2 388 564 2 388 564 2 388 564 2 388 564

Accumulated depreciation ( 436 826) ( 398 609) ( 436 826) ( 398 609)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Additions - - - -

Acquisition through business combination (Refer to Note 24) - - - -

Transfer (to)/from other assets - cost - - - -

Disposals - - - -

Depreciation charge ( 38 204) ( 38 217) ( 38 204) ( 38 217)

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer - - - -

Carrying amount at end of the year 1 913 534 1 951 738 1 913 534 1 951 738

Cost 2 388 564 2 388 564 2 388 564 2 388 564

Accumulated depreciation ( 475 030) ( 436 826) ( 475 030) ( 436 826)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Investment property consists of:

A commercial office building (situated at 52 Sprigg Street, Erf 1997 Mthatha Magisterial District) was acquired on 25 
0ctober 2000 for R2 388 564. Title to the property was transferred to the agency on 22 August 2001.

The latest valuation was performed on 30 March 2012 by G. Wiley, a registered valuator, who valued the investment 
property at R14 000 000, using the discounted cash flow method on potential rent. The property earns income from 
renting out office space. As this valuation was done a year ago there was no new valuation performed in 2013.

Included in the deficit for the year is operating expenditure, inclusive of repairs and maintenance, to the amount of R815 
344 which arose from investment property that generated rental revenue of R1 045 992 during the period.

Pledged as security:  No assets are pledged as security.
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10.2. Property, plant and equipment

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

10.2.1. Land

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 558 808 558 808 622 608 622 608

Cost 558 808 558 808 622 608 622 608

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Additions - - - -

Acquisition through business combination (Refer to Note 24) - - - -

Transfer (to)/from other assets - cost - - - -

Disposal - - - -

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - - -

Carrying amount at end of the year 558 808 558 808 622 608 622 608

Cost 558 808 558 808 622 608 622 608

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Land consists of the cost of erven in King William’s Town (R555 
000) and Whittlesea (R3 808).

Refer to Note 10.2.2 for details of land in a subsidiary company.

10.2.2. Buildings Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 2 730 763 2 795 405 2 911 721 2 987 673

Cost 3 684 002 3 684 002 3 910 202 3 910 202

Accumulated depreciation ( 519 734) ( 455 092) ( 564 976) ( 489 024)

Accumulated impairment ( 433 505) ( 433 505) ( 433 505) ( 433 505)

Additions - - - -

Acquisition through business combination (Refer to Note 24) - - - -

Transfer (to)/from other assets - cost - - - -

Disposal - - - -

Depreciation charge ( 73 680) ( 64 642) ( 84 990) ( 75 952)

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer - - - -

Carrying amount at end of the year 2 657 083 2 730 763 2 826 731 2 911 721

Cost 3 684 002 3 684 002 3 910 202 3 910 202

Accumulated depreciation ( 593 414) ( 519 734) ( 649 966) ( 564 976)

Accumulated impairment ( 433 505) ( 433 505) ( 433 505) ( 433 505)
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Land and buildings consist of:
1) An office building situated at 128 Alexandra Road, Erf 893 King William’s Town was acquired on 30 July  2004 at a cost 

of R3 761 375 (allocated to land of R555 000 and buildings of R3 206 375). The property was valued at R5 000 000 by a 
registered valuator, G.Wiley on 30 March 2012, using the discounted cash flow method on potential rent. 

2) Property on Erf 327 and Erf 328 situated in the Cradock magisterial district purchased on 23 June 2004 at a cost of 
 R290 000 (allocated to land of R63 800 and buildings of R226 200). The property was last valued on 3rd November 2011 

by Messrs A de Villiers and R Ferreira, registered valuators, at R1 050 000, using the comparable market sales method. 

3) A prefabricated structure consisting of office premises, shelter for security guards and perimeter security fence 
acquired during October 2007 in Whittlesea at a cost of R481 435 (allocated to land of R3 808 and buildings of R477 
627). The building was subsequently written down by R433 505 as it did not meet normal building standards and did 
not comply with local municipality bylaws. The plot was valued at R285 000 by a registered valuator, G.Wiley on 30 
March 2012, using the discounted cash flow method on potential rent, adjusted for costs to bring the property to a 
rentable position. 

10.2.3. Plant and equipment 
(including all farming equipment)

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 2 443 740 86 885 5 019 460 7 158 414

Cost 4 414 194 349 218 10 074 016 9 180 055

Accumulated depreciation (1 970 454) ( 262 333) (5 054 556) (2 021 641)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Additions 49 675 34 939 91 863 883 106

Acquisition through business combination (Refer to Note 24) - 4 039 501 - -

Adjustment of cost in Business Combination from NBV to 
original cost

- - - 931 445

Transfer (to)/from other assets - cost 219 638 - 219 638 ( 295 586)

Disposal - cost ( 971 750) ( 9 464) ( 971 750) ( 625 004)

Revaluation - - - -

Depreciation charge ( 848 215) ( 105 663) (1 778 836) (1 746 958)

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - ( 3 135) -

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer 184 886 8 633 184 886 424 469

Accumulated depreciation on Business Combination - (1 611 091) - -

Accumulated depreciation on business combination assets in 
previous years

- - - (1 710 426)

Carrying amount at end of the year 1 077 974 2 443 740 2 762 126 5 019 460

Cost 3 711 758 4 414 194 9 262 245 10 074 016

Accumulated depreciation (2 633 784) (1 970 454) (6 500 119) (5 054 556)

Accumulated impairment - - -

The disposal charges of R567 226 relates to various transfers and transactions and can be summarised as follows: R

Assets transferred to the Keiskammahoek Community Project 338 064

Assets transferred to the Livestock Project 18 096

Assets transferred to the Community 27 530

Write off of obsolete/irrepairable assets - Plant & Machinery and Office Equipment 180 875

564 565
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10.2.4. Equipment under finance leases Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 315 321 295 143 315 322 295 143

Cost 1 731 251 1 380 018 1 731 251 1 380 018

Accumulated depreciation (1 415 930) (1 084 875) (1 415 929) (1 084 875)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Additions 92 294 241 180 92 294 241 180

Acquisition through business combination - cost (Refer to Note 24) - 219 624 - -

Transfer (to)/from other assets - cost ( 220 804) - ( 220 804) 219 624

Disposal - cost ( 1 181) ( 109 571) ( 1 181) ( 109 571)

Depreciation charge ( 231 542) ( 227 275) ( 231 542) ( 294 382)

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - - -

Accumulated depreciation on Business - ( 213 522) - -

Combination

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer 220 804 109 742 220 804 ( 36 672)

Carrying amount at end of the year 174 892 315 321 174 893 315 322

Cost 1 601 560 1 731 251 1 601 560 1 731 251

Accumulated depreciation (1 426 667) (1 415 930) (1 426 667) (1 415 929)

Accumulated impairment - - -

The	agency’s	obligations	under	the	finance	leases	are	secured	by	the	lessors’	title	over	the	leased	equipment	–	refer	to	
Note 13.
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10.2.5. Vehicles Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 4 209 710 3 037 894 5 325 027 5 384 479

Cost 5 234 745 3 089 764 8 098 076 5 907 786

Accumulated depreciation (1 025 035) ( 51 870) (2 773 049) ( 523 307)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Additions - 111 181 - 350 015

Acquisition through business combination (Refer to Note 24) - 2 033 800 - -

Adjustment of cost in Business Combination from NBV to 
original cost

- - - 2 067 043

Transfer (to)/from other assets - cost - - -

Disposal - cost ( 98 607) - ( 98 607) ( 226 768)

Revaluation - - - -

Depreciation charge (1 299 160) ( 466 199) (1 644 268) (1 014 425)

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - - -

Accumulated depreciation on Business Combination - ( 506 966) - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer 29 452 - 29 452 1 190

Accumulated depreciation on business combination assets in 
previous year

- - - (1 236 507)

Carrying amount at end of the year 2 841 395 4 209 710 3 611 604 5 325 027

Cost 5 136 138 5 234 745 7 677 361 8 098 076

Accumulated depreciation (2 294 743) (1 025 035) (4 065 757) (2 773 049)

Accumulated impairment - - -

Change in estimate (2012)

The agency changed the estimate of the residual value of vehicles. The movement in surplus caused by this change is as 
follows:
Effect on 2012 year: Increase in surplus of R203 663;
Effect on future years: Decrease in surplus of (R203 663)
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10.2.6 Computer equipment Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 1 487 830 396 281 1 497 223 1 837 954

Cost 4 925 125 1 716 199 4 939 826 4 018 746

Accumulated depreciation (3 437 295) (1 319 918) (3 442 603) (2 180 792)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Additions 586 577 761 743 586 577 827 861

Acquisition through business combination (Refer to Note 24) - 2 570 690 - -

Adjustment of cost in Business Combination from NBV to 
original cost

- - - 410 037

Transfer (to)/from other assets - cost - - - -

Disposal - cost ( 258 352) ( 123 507) ( 258 352) ( 316 818)

Depreciation charge ( 547 286) ( 366 952) ( 552 186) ( 920 339)

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - - -

Accumulated depreciation on Business Combination - (1 873 628) - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer 196 192 123 203 196 192 131 211

Accumulated depreciation on business combination assets in 
previous year

- - - ( 472 683)

Carrying amount at end of the year 1 464 961 1 487 830 1 469 454 1 497 223

Cost 5 253 350 4 925 125 5 268 050 4 939 826

Accumulated depreciation (3 788 389) (3 437 295) (3 798 596) (3 442 603)

Accumulated impairment - - - -
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10.2.7 Office furniture and fittings Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 1 356 616 764 471 1 512 641 1 755 007

Cost 2 272 757 1 092 805 2 499 133 2 241 973

Accumulated depreciation ( 916 141) ( 328 334) ( 986 492) ( 486 966)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Additions 38 297 30 937 62 490 30 937

Acquisition through business combination (Refer to Note 24) - 1 177 113 - -

Adjustment of cost in Business Combination from NBV to 
original cost

- - - 270 253

Transfer (to)/from other assets - cost - - - 75 962

Disposal - cost ( 102 195) ( 28 098) ( 102 195) ( 119 992)

Depreciation charge ( 228 896) ( 120 073) ( 273 011) ( 299 945)

Accumulated depreciation on Business Combination - ( 489 527) - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer 52 599 21 793 52 599 59 581

Accumulated depreciation on business combination assets in 
previous year

- - - ( 259 162)

Carrying amount at end of the year 1 116 421 1 356 616 1 252 524 1 512 641

Cost 2 208 859 2 272 757 2 459 428 2 499 133

Accumulated depreciation (1 092 438) ( 916 141) (1 206 904) ( 986 492)

Accumulated impairment - - -
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10.2.8 Leasehold improvements Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 188 599 7 033 188 599 248 962

Cost 390 972 72 138 351 792 373 130

Accumulated depreciation ( 202 373) ( 65 105) ( 163 193) ( 124 168)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Additions - 12 571 - 14 200

Acquisition through business combination (Refer to Note 24) - 341 801 - -

Transfer (to)/from other assets - cost - - - -

Disposal - cost ( 9 118) ( 35 538) ( 9 118) ( 35 538)

Depreciation charge ( 70 499) ( 7 840) ( 70 499) ( 70 302)

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - - -

Accumulated depreciation on Business Combination - ( 160 705) - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer 6 836 31 277 6 836 31 277

Accumulated depreciation on business combination assets in 
previous year

- - - -

Carrying amount at end of the year 115 817 188 599 115 818 188 599

Cost 381 854 390 972 381 854 351 792

Accumulated depreciation ( 266 036) ( 202 373) ( 266 036) ( 163 193)

Accumulated impairment - - -

10.2.9 Total property, plant and equipment Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 13 291 387 7 941 920 17 392 600 20 290 240

Cost 23 211 854 11 942 952 32 226 904 27 724 745

Accumulated depreciation (9 486 962) (3 567 527) (14 400 798) (6 910 773)

Accumulated impairment ( 433 505) ( 433 505) ( 433 505) ( 433 505)

Additions 766 843 1 192 551 833 224 2 257 072

Acquisition through business combination - cost (Refer to Note 
24)

- 10 382 529 - -

Adjustment of cost in Business Combination from NBV to 
original cost

- - - 3 678 778

Disposal - cost (1 442 369) ( 306 178) (1 442 369) (1 433 691)

Revaluations - - - -

Depreciation charge (3 299 278) (1 358 644) (4 638 467) (4 422 303)

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - - -

Accumulated depreciation on Business Combination - (4 855 439) - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer 690 772 294 648 690 772 611 056

Accumulated depreciation on business combination assets in 
previous year

- - - (3 678 778)

Carrying amount at end of the year 10 007 351 13 291 387 12 835 756 17 392 600

Cost 22 536 328 23 211 854 31 183 307 32 226 904

Accumulated depreciation (12 095 472) (9 486 962) (17 914 046) (14 400 798)

Accumulated impairment ( 433 505) ( 433 505) ( 433 505) ( 433 505)
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No estimated useful lives were changed during the current year (2012: None).

The cost of agency owned property, plant and equipment that has been fully depreciated, but is still in use (i.e. excluding 
scrapped items), at 31 March 2013 is R4 595 767 (2012: R3 645 895). All property, plant and equipment acquired during 
the year was purchased out of the group’s own funds (including the transfer payments for operations) or through finance 
lease arrangements, not from a specific asset grant.

Refer to Note 12 for details of a property (Shortland’s farm) to which the agency has legal title as the Eastern Cape Rural 
Development Agency does not derive economic benefit from it, but has not been recognised as property, plant and 
equipment in these consolidated annual financial statements.

Pledged as security:  No assets are pledged as security and there are no contractual commitments on these assets.

10.3. Intangible assets
Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Computer software

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 1 609 806 - 1 789 715 596 554

Cost 2 252 756 - 2 428 640 936 196

Accumulated depreciation ( 642 950) - ( 638 925) ( 339 642)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Additions 1 844 144 1 419 391 1 844 144 1 492 444

Acquisition through business combination (Refer to Note 24) - 833 365 - -

Revaluation of Packing Rights at Kangela Citrus Farms - - -

Disposal ( 319 117) - ( 319 117) -

Depreciation charge ( 913 286) ( 14 685) ( 914 695) ( 299 283)

Accumulated depreciation on disposal/transfer 231 470 231 470

Impairment (recognised)/reversed - - - -

Accumulated depreciation on Business Combination - ( 628 265) - -

Carrying amount at end of the year 2 453 017 1 609 806 2 631 517 1 789 715

Cost 3 777 783 2 252 756 3 959 358 2 428 640

Accumulated depreciation (1 324 766) ( 642 950) (1 327 841) ( 638 925)

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Pledged as security: No assets are pledged as security and there are no contractual commitments on these assets.

The intangible assets held by the Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency have not been considered to be assets held 
with an indefinate live.
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11. Trade and Other Payables, Deferred Grant Income, Loans and Commitments

11.1. Trade and Other Payables

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

South African Revenue Service - Pay As You Earn (PAYE) - 494 855 9 605 494 855

South African Revenue Service - Tax and VAT - - 138 516

Amounts due to customers 1 746 107 2 200 720 1 746 107 2 200 720

-Credit balances for farm purchases - former Ciskeian 
Agricultural Bank

- 273 903 - 273 903

-Other borrower credit balances - former Ciskeian Agricultural 
Bank

- 280 303 - 280 303

-Amounts due to loan customers with credit balances 1 746 107 1 646 514 1 746 107 1 646 514

Unclaimed savings deposits taken over from predecessor 
institution

- 383 440 - 383 440

Rent received in advance 67 882 66 812 67 882 66 812

Retention fees - 16 739 - 16 739

Other payables and rent deposits 1 323 792 3 159 312 2 336 409 3 913 042

Accrued exit packages - 5 089 502 - 5 089 502

Accruals 16 741 296 321 914 16 768 576 969 811

UIF Accrual - 31 647 - 31 647

Leave Pay Accrual 3 116 935 2 799 560 3 690 005 3 251 693

Bonus Accrual 1 093 894 642 271 1 093 894 642 272

Operating lease straight line adjustments 270 846 317 195 270 846 317 195

24 360 752 15 523 967 26 121 839 17 377 728

There are no trade and other payables arising from non-exchange transactions at 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil).

There are no trade and other payables with extended payment terms at 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil).

The accrued exit packages relate to employees that opted not to transfer employment to the Eastern Cape Rural Finance 
Corporation Limited (now the Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency) from AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited. 
The matter went to court and judgement was in the agency’s favour. The possibility of appeal still exist.

None of the repayment terms attached to contracts have been renegotiated in the last year.

Refer to Note 12 for liabilities on the administered funds.
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11.2.  Deferred Grant Income Arising From Non-Exchange Transactions

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Liabilities arising to the extent that the conditions on non-
exchange transfer receipts have not yet been fulfilled:

Grant from the Eastern Cape Provincial Government as a subsidy 
for the restructuring of the group.

- - - -

Grant from the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development 
and Agrarian Reform in respect of bio fuel

- - - -

Grant from the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development 
and Agrarian Reform in respect of the investment into Arengo 
316 (Proprietary) Limited.

- - 12 589 622 12 619 637

Grant from the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development 
and Agrarian Reform in respect of support for North Pondoland 
Sugar (Proprietary) Limited.

- - - -

Grant from the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development 
and Agrarian Reform in respect of support for Kangela Citrus 
Farms (Proprietary) Limited.

- - - -

MAFISA grant 11 357 943 8 781 372 11 357 943 8 781 372

MAFISA grant not yet disbursed in loans and advances - - - -

Liability for an equitable 1/8th share in interest earned on 
MAFISA loans

1 527 690 913 447 1 527 690 913 447

Liability arising from interest earned on cash deposits on 
unspent funds

9 830 253 7 867 925 9 830 253 7 867 925

Unspent grant received from the Eastern Cape Department 
of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform for farmer’s 
rehabilitation support. These funds are to be spent exclusively 
on farmer rehabilitation and support.

- 28 407 997 - 28 407 996

11 357 943 37 189 369 23 947 565 49 809 005

Comprised of the following assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Refer to Note 6) 11 357 943 24 389 369 23 947 565 37 009 005

Funds not yet received from the Eastern Cape Department of 
Rural Development and Agrarian Reform.

- 12 800 000 - 12 800 000

11 357 943 37 189 369 23 947 565 49 809 005

The unspent grants may only be used for expenditure under the conditions of grant and must be returned to the grantor 
if not utilised. The cash balances for onlending are subjected to the same conditions. Also refer to note 12.
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11.3. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

At the reporting date the agency and group had commitments amounting to R11 386 019 (2012: Rnil) which relates to 
projects implementation and R1 273 028 committed in respect of an awarded tender on operation costs to which orders 
have been issued and agreements have been entered.

Contingent liabilities

At the reporting date, contractual disputes to the value of R1 757 604 are in progress (2012: R1 757 604 ). The legal fees 
to resolve the disputes are unknown and cannot be estimated to be included in the contingent liability. The contractual 
disputes arose in 2011 when the cropping programmes had to be stopped by the board of the former AsgiSA-EC as no 
funding was availed to the entity for the financial year or the following years. The planned amalgamation thus restricted 
all funding. The board had no choice but to avoid any losses while there was no funds available to continue the project. 
These contractors decided to take the entity to court for contract breach and thus claimed the remainder of the contract 
fees. The court cases are still continuing. The finalisation date of these cases and the outcome thereof is not known 
to management. The total cost that may be charged to the agency should these cases be successfull also cannot be 
established due to the unknow legal fees and timing of the court procedures. At 31 March 2013 estimated legal fees 
confirmed by the attorney dealing with one of these cases amounted to R503 116. The orginal summons on this claim 
was for R1 296 884.

Contractual agreements have been entered by the former board of the AsgiSA-EC with employees whom opted to opt 
out of the organisation and not form part of the amalgamated entity, the ECRDA. From the 5 contracts entered into, 2 
were paid out to the senior management staff involved. The 3 staff members that have not been paid out took the agency 
to court but lost the lawsuit. At reporting date these employees still had an opportunity to appeal the judgement. Should 
the employees appeal and their case be successful a total payout of R2 954 399 need to be processed.

In terms of the Treasury Regulations, at each reporting date, the agency is required to surrender or to apply for a roll over 
of unspent grants to the relevant Treasury. Refer to Note 11.2 for unspent grants and Note 8.3 for grants accrued, but not 
received at 31 March 2013 . Application for roll over, where necessary, is in progress (2012: application submitted). Also 
refer to Note 24.

Confirmation is outstanding surrounding the repayment terms of the MAFISA grant of R80 000 000. There is a possibility 
that it is repayable on the request of MAFISA.

The agency signs cession as security for certain staff and former staff housing loan deposits. At year-end, R32 000 of such 
cessions related to loans which were in default. This may result in claims agains the agency. The agency acts to recover 
such claims from the staff members in question.

11.4. Loans

Loan from South African Fruit Exporters (SAFE)
The loan of R18 083 542 (2012: R15 595 015; 2011: R10 250 611) from South African Fruit Exporters (SAFE) is interest 
free, unsecured and operated on a current account basis. South African Fruit Exporters is the managing agent of the 
Kangela Citrus estate and has been funding the operations of the estate pending seasonal harvesting. South African Fruit 
Exporters takes cession of the produce once harvested.
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12. Liabilities Arising from Non-Exchange Transactions

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Total funds under administration and cash and cash equivalents 
belonging to administered funds (refer to Note 6) 36 923 758 75 406 439 59 697 043 75 406 438

Reconciliation of total funds under administration:

Balance at beginning of the year 75 406 438 78 129 288 75 406 438 112 532 875

Receipts from fund owners 52 873 281 41 116 527 75 646 566 61 304 190

Additional funding allocated 3 201 056 - 3 201 056 5 103 001

Interest capitalised on administered funds 1 309 651 4 034 565 1 309 651 5 112 338

Additional Liabilities recorded as Administered Funds through 
the business combination.

- 27 957 093 - -

Reclassification of administered funds from agency to principal 
basis on consolidation of subsidiaries

- - - 960 038

Reclassification of administered funds from agency to principal 
basis on consolidation of subsidiaries

- - - 38 695

Funds disbursed (67 544 659) (67 402 401) (67 544 659) (100 958 051)

Payments made returned - - - 66 808

Commission due to group for administration of land claims - - - ( 324 823)

Surrender of administered funds (28 322 010) (8 428 633) (28 322 010) (8 428 633)

Total administered funds 36 923 758 75 406 439 59 697 043 75 406 438

Comprising:

Land claims liabilities arising from non-exchange transactions 28 106 442 35 088 280 28 106 442 35 088 280

Other liabilities arising from non-exchange transactions 8 817 316 40 318 159 31 590 601 40 318 158

36 923 758 75 406 439 59 697 043 75 406 438

Tranches not paid/disbursed to subsidiaries
Included in the adminstered funds balance is a tranch of R6 million that was received for Kangela Citrus. This amount was 
not recognised as a receivable by the subsidiary and was not committed to the subsidiary. There is also a balance of R8 
312 366 due to Magwa Tea. The funding will be surrendered to Treasury post year-end.

Land Claims Liabilities arising from non-exchange transactions
The Department of Land Affairs (DLA) appointed the group and / or individual subsidiaries as an implementing agent for 
the payment of land claims to specified communities / beneficiaries in the Eastern Cape. The Department of Land Affairs 
remains responsible for identification and verification of the beneficiaries as well as the awarded amounts. The Department 
of Land Affairs requires that the funds be held in a ring-fenced account. The group and /or individual subsidiaries have no 
rights to the funds, except for the agency fee claimed.

Other liabilities arising from non-exchange transactions
Administered funds are in the control of the Funder and the amounts are disbursed in terms of the Memorandum of 
Agreement with the Funder or subsequent instructions received. This subsequent instruction also includes the transfer 
of funds to alternative administered funds. The Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform 
instructed the agency to redirect the use of certain of their funds.
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The following were the transfers that took place during the year based on the instruction from the Eastern Cape 
Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform:

Original fund Redirected Agency 2013
R

Agency 2012
R

Mechanization of 
Ploughing Fund

Masibambisane Presidential visit to Mhlonto Municipality. The objective of the 
campaign is to encourage the direct participation of community members 
through ploughing and planting land.

- 3 719 978 

Mechanization of 
Ploughing Fund

Financial assistance to Magwa Tea.   The MEC of the Eastern Cape Department 
of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform agreed to assist Magwa Tea with 
their payment of salaries.

- 4 300 000 

Mechanization of 
Ploughing Fund

Financial assistance to  Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Propri-
etary) Limited .  The subsidiary company of the corporation encountered cash 
flow problems during the year and the Eastern Cape Department of
Rural Development and Agrarian Reform agreed to assist with funding.

- 2 000 000 

Total redirected 
funds - 10 019 978

Included in the liability are accrued disbursements of R1 352 344 at 31 March 2013 (2012: R1 451 784). Interest earned on 
cash balances in administered funds has been capitalised and forms part of the Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency 
(ECRDA)’s liabilities in respect of these funds. The administration fees received in cash by the group are included in the 
disbursements out of administered funds.

The balance on administered funds represents the amounts that have not been disbursed at the reporting dates. These amounts 
are under the authorisation of the project sponsor and are to be paid out in terms of each project’s service level agreement. The 
balance also represents commitments of R8 589 573 (2012: R1 043 578) at reporting date for future disbursements.

The administered funds, excluding the Land Claims Liabilities, are primarily received from the Eastern Cape Department 
of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform (ECDRDAR)under service level agreements in terms of which the corporation 
operating under its development division, Vulithuba, acts as the implementing agent for specific projects. This 
arrangement is specifically dealt with under section 3(4) of the Corporation’s Act. These projects are targeted at specific 
initiatives and interventions for agricultural development in the Eastern Cape. The ECDRDAR and its co-funding partners 
for the cropping project, changed its mode of funding this particular project from making funds available ahead of 
implementation, to re-mbursing production inputs paid by ECRDA to suppliers. This has resulted in the recognition of 
revenue from non-exchange transactions being restricted to the amounts actually received from the funders, and the 
remainder of disbursements yet to be re-imbursed being disclosed as receivables. Receivables from the cropping co-
funders amount to R43 017 856 at 31 March 2013.

The agency acted as a warehousing agent for the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform in 
respect of a farming project known as Shortland’s Farm. The Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian 
Reform identified a farm to be purchased for a local community who approached the government for support in acquiring 
a farm to further develop in the Grahamstown area. In order to do this, an entity was established to own and operate the 
farm for the community. As at the date of sale of the farm from the vendor, this entity was not appropriately established 
and the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform instructed the corporation to take transfer 
pending final transfer to the entity. This was done to accommodate the strict timeframes for the implementation of the 
project. The farm has since transfer, been under the control of the ultimate beneficiary community who have the risks and 
rewards of ownership. The R3.2 million purchase price was funded by the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development 
and Agrarian Reform. The purchase agreement was dated 27 September 2007.

At 31 March 2013 (since 31 March 2009), the transfer of the farm to the entity is in progress, but not complete. The agency has 
accounted for this transaction as an administered fund and has not recognised the farm in its statement of financial position, but 
as an asset of the fund administered on behalf of the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform.
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13. Finance Lease Obligations

Agency Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

Finance lease liabilities R R R R

Capitalised finance lease liability 203 045 367 246 292 522 476 634

Less: Current portion (151 927) (227 585) (173 474) (245 844)

Non-current portion 51 118 139 661 119 048 230 790

Reconciliation of future 
minimum lease payments to 
their present value

Agency Group

Minimum lease
payments

Present value of
minimum lease

payments

Minimum lease
payments

Present value of
minimum lease

payments

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R R R R R

No later than 1 year 159 767 287 180 151 927 227 585 193 601 303 057 173 474 245 844

Later than 1 year and not later than 
5 years

58 957 243 513 51 118 139 661 140 724 304 497 119 048 230 790

218 724 530 693 203 045 367 246 334 325 607 554 292 522 476 634

Less: future finance charges ( 15 679) ( 163 447) ( 41 803) ( 130 920)

Present value of minimum lease 
payments 203 045 367 246 292 522 476 634

Fair value
The fair value of the finance lease liabilities is approximately equal to their carrying amount.

Security
The entity’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets (refer to Note 10.2.4).

Terms
The entity recognises finances leases where, at the inception of a lease, the present value of the minimum lease payments 
amounts to substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset. The typical lease period is 5 years. Such arrangements are 
summarised below:

Finance lease agreements

The approximate aggregate monthly instalment on finance leases is Nill (2012: R13 202) and the majority of contracts 
carry an interest rate of approximately 21% at 31 March 2012.

Communication equipment other than above (i.e. PABX and mobile  technology)

The agency has capitalised such arrangements at the ruling Prime Overdraft Rate at inception of each lease. The 
approximate aggregate monthly instalment is R17 263 (2012: R12 011 at 31 March 2012).

The finance lease of the subsidiary, Kangela Citrus Farms, is a company motor vehicle with an average lease term of 6 
years. The average effective borrowing rate on this lease was 15% for the year (2012: 15%)
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14. Provision for Insurance Contracts

Agency Agency

and Group and Group

2013 2012

R R

Balance at beginning of the year 70 699 82 000

Movement for the year - ( 11 301)

Balance at end of the year 70 699 70 699

The provision for insurance contracts represents the value of the expected future cash outflows in respect of insurance 
contracts in force at each reporting date. The effect of discounting is not significant and therefore the provision has not 
been discounted.

Management has commissioned Guardrisk - Actuarial Services Unit to prepare the measurement of the provision for all 
years presented. Mortality rates have been adjusted for the prevalence of HIV/AIDS and a 20% margin was added to the 
final claims rate to cater for the volatility of this type of business.

The provision varies in direct proportion to the level of contracts in issue (which is based on the qualifying loans). Given 
the fact that arrears are excluded from cover under the contracts of insurance (and as the premiums are not being paid in 
such circumstances), the provision may change significantly. in line with the arrear status of the qualifying loan book.

15. Capital Contributed

Agency Agency

and Group and Group

2013 2012

R R

Capital consists of the value of the net of assets taken over from the Agricultural Bank of Transkei 
and the Ciskeian Agricultural Bank on 1 July 2000.

25 232 691 25 232 691

The equity contribution relates to the funds received from the Eastern Cape Department of 
Rural Development and Agrarian Reform utilised to fund the advance to Kangela Citrus Farms 
(Proprietary) Limited.

15 680 000 15 680 000

This contribution was acquired prior to the formal establishment of the corporation and relates to an 
amount transferred from trade payables previously owing to the Department of Internal Affairs for 
farms purchased by clients of the former Ciskeian Agricultural Bank approximately 17 years ago.

1 076 355 1 076 355

Contribution  of  100%  of  North  Pondoland  Sugar  (Proprietary)  Limited  by  the  Eastern  Cape
Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform (Refer to Note 9.2.3).

- -

Contribution of 51% of Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited by the Eastern Cape 
Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform (Refer to Note 9.2.2).

- -

Contribution  of  100%  of  AsgiSA  -  Eastern  Cape  (Proprietary)  Limited  by  the  Eastern  Cape
Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform (Refer to Note 9.2.4).

- -

41 989 046 41 989 046
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In terms of the former Eastern Cape Rural Finance Corporation Act (no 9 of 1999), the corporation is established with an 
initial authorised share capital of R10 million (comprising one thousand ordinary shares with a par value of ten thousand 
Rand each). In these consolidated annual financial statements, the amount contributed through the Eastern Cape 
Provincial Government by the assets taken over (see above) is treated as a capital contribution. The agency has not 
registered its share capital and does not have a share register as it has not issued any shares. The newly established Eastern 
Cape Rural Development Agency will not be in a position to register share capital as the Provincial Treasury claimed the 
funds used to establish the former ECRFC.

Restriction on distributions
In terms of the above Act, whilst the government is the sole shareholder, the agency may not distribute any of its profits 
or gains to any other person and must use its funds solely for the furtherance of its objectives.

Aside from the assumption of the net liabilities in connection with the acquisition of North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) 
Limited and Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited from the net asset holder, no distributions were made during the 
year (2012: Nil).

16. Risk Management

16.1. Capital risk management
The group is currently dependent on the Eastern Cape Provincial Government, its sole equity holder, for subsidies to 
fund loan advances and to cover operating expenses. The size and quality of the loan book is not sufficient to finance the 
increased demand for agricultural loans and to generate income sufficient to defray operating costs.

The agency is not in a position to fund the operations of the subsidiary companies that have been transferred to it by the 
Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform and is therefore dependant upon financial support 
from the department for the ongoing support of these subsidiaries.

The late payment of grant income (transfers) from the Department has placed the entity under significant financial strain, 
which is evident from Note 6 on the proprietary analysis of cash and cash equivalents given that deferred grant income 
exceeds the “own” funds of the corporation, which is evident that such funds have been used to run the agency pending 
receipt of transfer grant income (refer to Note 8.3).

The above is evidence of the under capitalisation of the group.

16.2. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparties will not repay obligations on time and in full as expected or contracted, resulting 
in a financial loss to the group. The board of directors manages credit risk through a credit committee and credit policy.

The core business of the agency is to support the farming community in the Eastern Cape, specifically targeting emerging 
farmers. Non-agricultural loans are also provided to mitigate the credit risk inherent in this market. The target market is at 
the upper end of credit risk fragility in the agricultural sector with high sensitivity to climatic conditions and unpredictable 
agricultural commodity prices.

The lending activities of the group are regulated by the National Credit Regulator.

The default rate on loan obligations is higher in this industry and, to mitigate this, the group encourages mentorship 
programmes to assist farmers in managing their crops and markets for their harvests and finances.

The group uses various techniques to reduce credit risk. The most fundamental is performing an assessment on the 
borrower’s ability to service the amount advanced and obtaining collateral (i.e. security based lending).

In line with its mandate, the group has a concentration risk in its credit profile, given that its loan book is in the Eastern 
Cape only and largely in the agricultural sector.
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16.3. Financial guarantee contracts
A part from the provision of credit facilities in the normal course of business which have been granted, but not to date 
been disbursed, the group does not issue any guarantees or commitments neither in relation to its lending activities 
nor in any other capacity, save for the insurance contracts set out in the accounting policies and save for the cession 
of deposits for certain staff and former staff housing loans set out in Note 8.1. The agency assumes obligations under 
insurance contracts issued on the lives of its borrowers as set out in Note 2.6.8. The agency manages this risk by placing 
the insurance premiums in an investment account, set aside to meet such obligations. The agency monitors the level of 
exposure. Such exposure is typically limited given that cover falls away when the borrower’s account is in arrears.

The agency has ceded an amount of R32 000 with First National Bank in favour of an employee. This is not considered to 
be a material risk to the Corporation as should the employee default the loan the amount would be deducted from the 
employees monthly salary.

16.4. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will change or fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Save for a holding of unspent foreign exchange on hand in the subsidiary, the group does not have exposure to currency 
risk or other price risk.

The group has little exposure to market risk other than interest rate risk, but to a limited extent. Agricultural loans are 
largely advanced on fixed interest rates, while certain non-agricultural loans carry variable interest rates. For this reason, 
the group is not significantly exposed to interest rate risk.

Refer to Note 7 for certain sensitivity analyses.

16.5. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.

As a result of a significant increase in loans and advances to customers over the past few years and an increase is overhead 
expenses, the group has been placed under heavy liquidity strain. Repayment of agricultural loans tend to follow a 
seasonal trend rather than scheduled dates, rendering reliance on repayments to fund further advances ineffective. The 
Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency strives to maintain a buffer reserve (6 months loan requirements) to fund time-
sensitive supplies of seeds, chemicals and fertilisers. Government transfers are typically paid in equal quarterly amounts.

As at 31 March 2013, approximately 72.7% (2012: 68.3%) of the entity’s cash and cash equivalents was deposited at The 
Standard Bank of South Africa Limited. Standard Bank’s local currency deposit ratings at 31 March 2012 were: Moody’s 
Baa1 (C-); Fitch Ratings BBB+, both with a negative investors outlook.

Refer to Note 11.4 for loans to the group. These are not financial institution loans with a maturity schedule, but are due 
on demand.

16.6. Other risks
As set out in Note 9.1, the biological assets are not insured for loss due to fire, theft or other loss.
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17. Notes to the Statement of Financial Performance

17.1. Other Income

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Discount received 107 569 99 850 107 569 99 850

Funding - other (ring-fenced) - - - 2 132 836

Insurance contract income 86 807 176 099 86 807 183 826

Loan written off to income - - - -

Private telephone calls recovered 292 117 195 268 292 117 195 268

Recovery of loans and advances previously written off 105 946 464 179 105 946 464 179

Gain recognised on acquisition of a subsidiary - - - -

Sundry income 151 434 71 678 727 093 3 732 085

743 873 1 007 074 1 319 532 6 808 044

17.2. Administrative Expenses

Accounting fees - internal audit 443 898 860 865 452 398 874 491

Bank charges 219 898 153 445 253 906 280 974

Contingent insurance policy administration fee 42 000 42 000 42 000 42 000

Directors’ remuneration - fees 3 978 787 1 031 250 3 978 787 1 031 250

Directors’ travelling and subsistence - non-executive 1 475 704 353 121 1 526 325 1 736 580

Entertainment - - 17 812 52 158

Fines and Penalties 43 779 - 79 373 -

General expenses 14 148 166 754 20 306 936 775

Insurance 381 949 273 069 568 089 866 406

Legal expenses 339 892 81 924 484 508 182 129

Printing and stationery 1 098 800 267 023 1 139 970 524 970

Relocation - staff - 1 715 - 1 715

Staff recruitment 60 099 - 77 199 4 104

Staff refreshments 230 120 113 256 240 664 118 694

Staff training 1 557 893 441 032 1 685 942 846 114

Staff welfare 74 316 323 124 74 316 353 319

Subscriptions 72 728 38 036 73 866 232 482

Workmen’s compensation 70 630 52 332 93 413 127 677

10 104 640 4 198 946 10 808 874 8 211 838

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2013



17.3. Other Operating Expenses

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Bad debts - rental and other income 77 667 57 640 103 109 57 640

Bad debts - Loans 5 586 703 - 5 586 703 -

Cleaning 357 996 189 917 359 554 236 866

Commission - - 50 044 19 919

Communitty capacity development 4 500 - 4 500 535 980

Computer maintenance 1 200 473 413 229 1 218 090 440 263

Crop production/ harvesting/ irrigation expenses - - - 30 097 619

Debt collection service fees 89 186 91 268 89 186 91 268

Depreciation of investment property and property, plant 5 569 043 4 786 215

and equipment 4 237 094 1 411 548

Donations 9 733 - 11 070 -

ECRDA Establishment cost 2 655 962 - 2 655 962 -

Fair value adjustment on the sale of crop 115 909 - 4 854 423 -

Fertiliser, seeds and insecticides - - 629 646 2 362 540

Impairment loss 6 391 - 6 391 -

Insurance contract claims 10 842 14 997 10 842 14 997

Interest rebate - 533 - 533

Leasing charges - operating lease for equipment 7 400 - 61 177 1 214 744

Loan application screening 26 535 39 092 26 535 39 092

Minor assets expensed and write off of insured assets

stolen/damaged 10 967 27 930 35 948 81 558

Motor vehicles: fuel and maintenance 567 793 214 559 584 300 1 299 340

Municipal services - rates, water and electricity 834 464 702 075 1 256 163 2 948 666

Postages 113 090 114 940 118 493 127 750

Professional fees 537 427 128 363 723 871 5 596 491

Protective clothing and uniforms - - 16 795 35 750

Rental charges on land and buildings 2 450 649 1 355 600 2 482 565 1 740 772

Rent of equipment - - 51 891 -

Repairs and maintenance - buildings 15 353 16 223 15 353 16 223

Repairs and maintenance - general 261 985 192 959 852 175 1 464 403

Security 1 100 921 831 990 1 218 693 1 010 514

Stakeholder management 504 086 25 000 504 086 25 000

Telephone calls and data lines 3 238 447 1 982 567 3 305 638 2 822 398

Material loss through criminal conduct - - 122 158 -

Transport and freight of produce - - - 2 669 508

Travelling and subsistence 3 651 568 1 263 109 4 273 364 2 862 080

Value chain development (livestock) - - - -

27 673 141 9 073 539 36 797 769 62 598 126
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17.4. Staff Costs

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Salaries - medical aid contributions 1 153 216 954 671 1 153 216 1 016 851

Salaries - provident fund contributions 3 347 128 2 491 691 3 347 128 2 491 691

Salaries and wages 42 887 803 24 553 421 51 089 101 56 247 255

47 388 147 27 999 783 55 589 445 59 755 797

17.5. Taxation

In terms of section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act, 1962, the Commissioner for the South African Revenue Service 
(SARS) has granted the Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency exemption from income taxation.  In terms of Treasury 
Regulations and agreement with SARS, the agency is also exempt from registration for Value Added Taxation.

The subsidiary, North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited, has an estimated tax loss of R2 766 699 (2012: R2 766 699) 
available for set off against future taxable income. A deferred tax asset has not been raised given the uncertainty of 
earning future income.

The subsidiary, Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited, has not been assessed for tax for an extended period of time and 
management is in the process of regularising its tax and audit affairs. Management of Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) 
Limited believe that the company does  not  have  a  current  tax  liability  at  31  March  2013  but  have  included  the  
taxation calculations and is likely in an assessed tax loss position, which is not raised as a deferred tax asset given the 
uncertainty of earning future taxable income.

The subsidiary, Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary) Limited, is exempt from taxation in terms of 
s10(1)(cA)(ii) of the Income Tax Act.  The company was granted exemption in the last year and as a result the income tax 
liabilities as at 31 March 2011 was reversed in 2012.
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Group Group

2013 2012

R R

Income Tax ( 390 295) ( 133 569)

Current year - normal taxation ( 80 061) -

Deferred taxation relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences and tax rates 
changes

( 310 234) ( 133 569)

Deferred tax

Balance at beginning of the year (1 541 557) (1 675 126)

Deferred taxation on a rate change ( 399 000)

Reversal of Deferred tax balance - Not a tax entity -

Acquired through business combinations (Refer to Note 24)

Deferred taxation in respect of originating and reversing

temporary differences 31 094 133 569

Balance at end of the year (1 909 463) (1 541 557)

Comprising:

Assets in Agrarian Research and Development Agency

(Proprietary) Limited -

Liabilities in Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited (1 909 463) (1 541 557)

(1 909 463) (1 541 557)

Deferred tax relates to leave pay accrual, operating lease straight line adjustments and property, plant and equipment.

Group Group

2013 2012

R R

Current tax

Balance at beginning of the year - -

Charge for the year - -

Acquired through business combinations (Refer to Note 24)

Taxation (paid)/ refunded - -

Balance at end of the year - -

Comprising:

Assets in Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited - -

Liabilities in Agrarian Research and Development Agency

(Proprietary) Limited - -

- -
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17.6. Operating Lease Arrangements

As at the reporting date the group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable leases, which fall due as follows:

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

Operating leases where the agency/group is the lessee R R R R

Lease of office premises 2 577 766 3 954 367 2 577 766 3 954 367

Up to 1 year 2 282 037 1 920 615 2 282 037 1 920 615

1 to 5 years 295 729 2 033 752 295 729 2 033 752

More than 5 years - - - -

The leases of office premises in King Williams Town and Queenstown have escalation clauses of 10% per annum.
The offices in East London escalates at 9% per annum.

Operating leases where the agency is the lessor

The entity earns income from the lease of office premises at the investment property at 52 Sprigg Street, Mthatha. All 
lease agreements are for a 12 month period. Income from office lease rentals for the 12 months from 1 April each year will 
approximate the rentals earned for the previous year.

A subsidiary, Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary) Limited, rents out excess office space in Cradock 
on a 12 month basis for an amount approximately equal to the rentals earned for the previous year.

17.7. Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Interest Paid and Land Claim payment 11 931 1 450 11 931 1 450

Security costs Whittlesea property 204 403 - 204 403 -

Cost of damages to hired vehicles - not covered by short term 
insurance

31 000 - 31 000 -

Penalties and Interest 22 705 - 22 705 194 584

Penalties and fines of subsidiaries - 35 594

Insurance on disposed vehicles - - - 4 362

Total fruitless and wasteful expenditure for the year 270 039 1 450 305 633 200 396

Less: condoned by the board - -

Expenditure not condoned by the board - for the year 270 039 1 450 305 633 200 396

Expenditure not condoned by the board - carried forward 1 450 - 200 396 -

Expenditure not condoned by the board - brought forward 271 489 1 450 506 029 200 396

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012
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Expenditure due to for submission to the Board for condonement 271 489 1 450 506 029 200 396

17.8. Irregular Expenditure/Payments (Own Funds)

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Procurement of goods and services where procurement 
procedures not strictly applied

963 877 2 988 640 963 877 2 988 640

Total non-compliant expenditure for year (irregular expenditure 
upon payment) 

963 877 2 988 640 963 877 2 988 640

Less: current year expenditure/payments condoned by the board ( 304 190) - ( 304 190)

Expenditure/payments not condoned by the board - for the year 963 877 2 684 450 963 877 2 684 450

Expenditure/payments not condoned by the board - brought 
forward

2 684 450 1 867 241 2 684 450 1 867 241

Less: carried forward expenditure/payments condoned by the board - (1 867 241) - (1 867 241)

Expenditure / payments not condoned by the board - carried 
forward 3 648 327 2 684 450 3 648 327 2 684 450

Payment instructions to the value of R13 907 753 in respect of cropping activities committed by the Department of Rural 
Development and Agrarian Reform were submitted to the agency before year-end. The Eastern Cape Rural Development 
Agency (ECRDA) was appointed by the Department to administer projects on their behalf. The incurred expenses are not 
governed by the signed agreements yet the Department instructed payment to be made.

The expenditure items related to cropping activities undertaken in the furtherance of the rural development mandate of 
the Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency (ECRDA) as administrator for the Department. The expenditure items have 
been accrued, but have not yet been paid by the ECRDA at financial year-end.

The Accounting Authority conducted an investigation into the occurrence of the expenditure and the Department 
authorised it. The irregular expenditure was thus incurred by the Department and not the agency.

The irregular expenditure of R963 877 relates to payments on lease contracts that either have not been formally renewed 
due to the uncertainties to the branches of the ECRDA and lease contracts where the ECRDA did not follow the Treasury 
Regulations in prior years.

The 2011/12 Irregular expenditure mainly relates to expired contracts where the Eastern Cape Rural Finance Corporation 
Limited has opted to enter into month to month rentals until the transitional phase of establishing the Eastern Cape Rural 
Development Agency has been finalised. The Board is yet to approve the month to month premise. The original contracts 
giving rise to these transactions were not considered to be irregular in the prior years.

The Board has approved management’s submission for request for deviation from the Supply Chain Management 
Policy where a single source and preferred provider exists. Such request and approval is submitted from time to time 
as circumstances dictate. The Supply Chain Management Policy allows for approval of deviations by delegated officials 
within certain parameters.

Expenditure not condoned by the Board was indentified during the audit process.
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18. Board Member and Senior Management Remuneration

18.1. Board Member Remuneration

Directors of Directors of

Corporation Corporation

paid by paid by

Agency Agency subsidiaries subsidiaries

Board committee members 2013 2012 2013 2012

(appointed 15 November 2012) R R R R

Burn-Ncamashe Z., Prince (appointed 1 January 2010) 1 000 329 388 850 - -

Kali B., Ms (appointed 1 January 2010) 447 439 128 700 - -

Pietersen C.J., Mr (appointed 1 January 2010) 214 064 73 150 - -

Mkile F.F., Ms (appointed 20 January 2010) 422 836 28 050 - -

Mkosana V.M., Dr (appointed 15 November 2012) * 320 697 - - -

George X., Mr (appointed 15 November 2012) 121 708 - - -

Jarana V., Mr (appointed 15 November 2012) 73 046 - - -

Le Roux A., Mr (appointed 15 November 2012) 144 914 - - -

Mbalekwa S.W., Mr (appointed 15 November 2012) 140 134 - - -

Semane Z., Ms (appointed 15 November 2012) 114 380 - - -

Tonga M., Mr (appointed 15 November 2012) 115 558 - - -

Mrwebi L. Dr (appointed 15 November 2012) ** - - - -

Fees for services rendered 3 115 105 618 750 - -

Former board committee members

Manase Z., Ms (appointed 1 January 2010) - - - 20 061

Manjezi A., Mr 44 868 78 100 - -

Mboya M., Mr (appointed 1 January 2010, redeployed on 10 
April 2011)

- - - -

Molo C., Ms (appointed 1 January 2010, deceased 9 August 2011 ) - 5 500 - -

Msoki M., Mr (appointed 1 January 2010, resigned 31 May 2011) - 9 350 - -

Nobatana M., Adv (appointed 1 January 2010) 16 200 6 600 - -

Ranuga N., Nkosi (appointed 20 January 2010 173 232 23 100 - -

Saziwa M., Mr (appointed 1 January 2010) 116 865 103 400 - 89 936

Simukonda N., Mr (appointed Acting CEO on 11 April 2011) - - - -

Sparg C., Mr (appointed 1 January 2010) 83 555 44 000 - -

Tseka N., Ms (appointed 1 January 2010) 221 010 142 450 - -

Mhlawuli N. D., Mr (appointed 26 May 2012, vacated 15 
November 2012

141 870 - - -

Swana M.M. (appointed 26 May 2012, vacated 15 November 2012) 80 802 - - -

Fees for services rendered 878 402 412 500 - 109 997

* Chairperson of the Board of Directors
** The Chief Executive Officer is also a director of the agency
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18.2. Senior Management Remuneration

Agency - 2013 Salary Provident Other Total

fund benefits

R R R R

Hlongwane N., Mrs - Executive Manager - Subsidiary Liaison 
(from 01 April 2012)

149 098 - - 149 098

Mashologu T., Mr - Acting COO (from 01 March 2012) 621 449 - 71 187 692 636

Mrwebi L., Dr - Interim CEO (from 01 July 2012)* 605 520 - - 605 520

Simukonda N., Mr - Acting CEO (from 11 April 2011) 914 447 112 548 112 547 1 139 542

Baxter J., Mrs - from 1 March 2012 1 229 621 - 84 017 1 313 638

Sangqu C., Mr - from 1 March 2012** 245 855 - - 245 855

3 765 990 112 548 267 751 4 146 289

* Dr. L. Mrwebi is the Interim CEO, seconded by the Department. The agency is only responsible for the top-up portion 
on his salary. 

* Mr. C. Sangqu opted for the exit package as accrued in the prior year. Negotiations were only finalised during the 2013 
year whereafter payment was effected. 

Agency - 2012 Salary Provident Other Total

fund benefits

R R R R

152 015 8 116 9 714 169 845

Almahi T., Mrs - CFO (Resigned on 30 April 2011) 768 279 76 764 76 764 921 807

Masanabo J., Mr - Acting CFO (from 03 May 2011) 44 592 - - 44 592

Mashologu T., Mr - Acting COO (from 01 March 2012) 7 643 - - 7 643

Mboya M., Mr - Acting CEO (rejoined OTP on 11 April 2011) 932 253 100 216 100 216 1 132 685

Simukonda N., Mr - Acting CEO (from 11 April 2011) 96 277 - 5 000 101 277

Baxter J., Mrs - from 1 March 2012 78 193 - 8 200 86 393

Sangqu C., Mr - from 1 March 2012 2 079 252 185 096 199 894 2 464 242

Mr. N. Simukonda was appointed as acting CEO on expiry of Mr. M. Mboya’s secondment contract.
Mrs. T. Almahi left the corporation on 30 April 2011, and Mr. J. Masanabo was appointed to act in the vacant position of 
CFO from May 2011.

Subsidiaries - 2013 Gross Salary Other Benefits Allowances Exit Packages* Total

R R R R

Crew R., Mr (ARDASA) 1 562 067 159 000 1 721 067

1 562 067 - 159 000 - 1 721 067

The management functions of Kangela is performed by the management company, SAFE.
ARDA does not have a CFO or COO. The salary information of the CEO is included in the note.
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Subsidiaries - 2012 Gross Salary Other Benefits Allowances Exit Packages* Total

R R R R

Crew R., Mr (ARDASA) 1 453 940 - 161 000 - 1 614 940

Somdyala S., Mr (AsgiSA - Eastern Cape 
(Proprietary) Limited)

1 675 310 10 231 275 000 1 159 351 3 119 892

Baxter J., Mrs (AsgiSA - Eastern Cape 
(Proprietary) Limited) (1 April 2011 to 

1 418 055 5 591 55 000 - 1 478 646

Sangqu C., Mr (AsgiSA - Eastern Cape 
(Proprietary) Limited) (1 April 2011 to 
29 February 2012)

1 104 328 4 616 90 200 1 104 569 2 303 713

5 651 633 20 438 581 200 2 263 920 8 517 191

* Exit packages relates to the payment of packages to employees who opted not to form part of the Eastern Cape Rural 
Development Agency. Negotiations have not been finalised with Mr. S. Somdyala.

18.3. Related Party Transactions

Agency Agency

2013 2012

R R

18.3.1. Summary of transactions during the year

Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform (operating grant) 155 000 000 37 072 000

ARDA - 2 000 000

Department of Forestry and Fisheries 16 174 479 -

Industrial Development Trust 34 189 271 -

Department of Rural Development and Land Affairs 16 400 000 -

Magwa Tea 34 000 000 -

Majola Tea 5 000 000 -

White Citrus 370 723 -

ECDC 562 000 -

18.3.2. Transactions with the Eastern Cape Provincial Government during the year

The agency received (and accrued) a grant of R155 000 000 (2011: R37 072 000) from the Eastern Cape Department of 
Rural Development and Agrarian Reform during the year for operating activities. R105 000 000 of the allocated funding 
was received to fund the operations of the agency. A total of R50 000 000 was received in respect of payment to the 
subsidiaries and dependent entities of the agency.

The agency implements projects and administer the expenses of the allocated project on behalf of Departments. The 
following projects were managed and implemented during the financial year and expenses were incurred on behalf of 
these Departments:

Department of Forestry and Fisheries
Project implementation and cropping expenditure of R16 174 479 was incurred during the year on behalf of the 
Department. Subsequent to incurring these expenses the agency invoices the Department to be reimbursed.
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Industrial Development Trust
Project implementation is done on behalf of the IDT. In the financial year a total of R34 189 271 was paid on behalf of the 
IDT. Subsequent to incurring the expenses on their behalf, the agency invoices the IDT to be reimbursed.

Department of Rural Development and Land Affairs
A total of R16 400 000 was paid to the agency during the year to manage on behalf of the Department. Project 
implementation is done at Amadlelo Dairy; Qamata and Bilatye for the Department.

Department of Land Affairs
Funds were paid to the agency in the 2010 and 2011 financial year to be managed on behalf of the Department. From 
the managed funds the agency pays land claim grants to beneficiaries. The grants communicated by the Department 
was paid by the agency in agreement with the contractual arrangements agreed upon. The Provincial Treasury however 
claimed all these funds during the year.

Other transactions entered into with Government:

Magwa Tea
A total of R34 000 000 was allocated and paid to the Tea establishment as per the budget allocation.

Majola Tea
A total of R5 000 000 was allocated and paid to the Tea establishment as per the budget allocation.

White Citrus Farm
A total of R370 723 was allocated and paid to the establishment as per the budget allocation from Rural Development.

Eastern Cape Development Corporation
Expenses to the value of R562 000 was incurred on behalf of the Eastern Cape Development Corporation (ECDC) during 
the year. The agency invoiced the ECDC and was reimbursed for the expenses incurred. The agency is working with the 
ECDC on the Job’s Fund.

18.3.3. Administered Funds

The agency administers funds on behalf of various departments (mainly the Department of Rural Development and 
Agrarian Reform) of the Eastern Cape Government. Refer to the note on non-exchange transactions for further details 
(note 12). The agency is also entitled to an administration fee levied as a percentage of the fund administered and/or to 
invest the funds and receive the interest on such funds until disbursed in terms of the agreement. Refer to the Statement 
of Financial Performance for commission fee income and to Note 8.1 for amounts due for commission fees receivable at 
the reporting date (and comparative information).

Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary) Limited received a grant of R nil (2012: R2 049 240) from the 
Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform during the year.

18.3.4. Transactions between the corporation and Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary) Limited 

The grant of R5 000 000 allocated by the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform was 
paid to the subsidiary (2012: R2 000 000). Transactions other than the payment of the grant was not incurred with the 
subsidiary. 

18.3.5. Transactions between the corporation and Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited 

A total of R6 000 000 was allocated to the subsidiary but have not been paid over by the agency (2012: Nill). The funds were 
controlled by the agency on behalf of the subsidiary in the financial year. This subsidiary is partly owned by the agency. 
This grant (disclosed in the statement of financial performance and deferred in the statement of financial position) is from 
the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform under its administered funds program.
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18.3.6. Transactions between the corporation and North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited

There were no transactions or balances between the entity and this wholly owned subsidiary during the year (2012: Nil), 
apart from the agency basis on which the agency managed the grant (disclosed in the statement of financial performance 
and deferred in the statement of financial position) from the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and Agrarian 
Reform under its administered funds program.

19. Retirement Funding

Defined contribution plan

Employees of the agency are members of the non-contributory Rainmaker

Provident Fund. The employees of the former AsgiSA-EC belongs to the Sanlam Provident Fund.

At 31 March 2013 the membership of the Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency Agency

Agency’s employees of the provident fund was as follows: 2013 2012

Number of Number of

employees employees

Members of Rainmaker Plus Provident Fund 103 76% 104 73%

Sanlam Provident Fund 21 16% 21 15%

Non-members 11 8% 17 12%

Total staff complement 135 100% 142 100%

Refer to Note 17.4 for the agency’s contributions to the fund.

Retirement benefits

Provident fund benefits are related to the member’s fund credit at retirement. The fund credit consists of the employer’s contribution 
plus declared yield on such contributions.

Funding

The  provident  fund  is  a  defined  contribution  fund  with  the  following contribution rates as a percentage of determined 
base salary:

Employee Agency

Rainmaker Plus Provident Fund 0% 15%

Sanlam Provident Fund 15% 0%

The subsidiary companies do not have any post retirement obligations.
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20. Reconciliation Between Budget Surplus with the Surplus in the 
Statement of Financial Performance
As the budgets that are approved by the boards are not prepared on the same basis as set out in Note 2 to these 
consolidated annual financial statements, the following reconciliation is provided:

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

(Deficit) / Surplus for the year (refer to the statement of financial 
performance)

51 299 798 (95 906 070) 42 365 931 (100 139 777)

Adjusted for:

Initian Fees/Net Margin on Loans (1 689 191) - (1 689 191) -

Subsidy costs on concessionary loans 766 878 721 360 766 878 721 360

Unwinding of discount on concessionary loans (1 233 011) (1 518 513) (1 233 011) (1 518 513)

Profit / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 839 478 8 134 847 423 505 604

Bad debts - rental and other income 77 667 - 77 667 -

Bad debts - Loans 5 586 703 - 5 586 703 -

Fair value adjustment on sale of biological assets 115 909 - 115 909 -

Fee - MAFISA Scheme 614 243 - 614 243 -

Impairment loss 6 391 - 6 391 -

Minor assets expensed 10 967 - 10 967 -

Commission fees for managing projects (accrued) (2 457 477) - - -

Movement in provision for insurance contracts - ( 11 301) ( 11 301)

Government Grant Received excluded from budget - (37 072 000) (37 072 000)

Depreciation not included in budget - 1 411 548 - ( 589 736)

Valuation adjustment associated with biological assets ( 8 821) (10 499 530)

Impairment of subsidiaries - 66 189 572 - -

Impairment of Department of Rural Development and Agrarian 
Reform receivable

- 14 610 000 - 14 610 000

Impairment Reversed on Receivables (12 800 000) - (12 800 000) -

Impairment of fees receivable from administered funds - 14 338 939 - 14 338 939

Net under/(over) budgeting of expenses/over/(under) 
budgeting of income

1 542 342 165 152 (3 867 915)

Surplus per approved budgets 42 680 698 (37 072 001) 34 669 909 (123 436 786)

Also refer to the ‘Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts’ on page 144.

No budget information is included for North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited and Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) 
Limited (i.e. taken as Nil).

The ECRDA compares its actual performance against the budgeted performance in the Medium Term Expenditure 
Framework based on a modified cash basis. The comparison of the estimated outcomes of the MTEF cash flow statement 
to the AFS cash flow statement is as follows -
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Comparison to Cash Flow Statement 2012/13 Basis Entity Timing

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Per AFS (43 983 210)

Per MTEF Budget estimated outcomes 21 532 298

Difference (22 450 912) x

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Per AFS (2 766 781)

Per MTEF Budget estimated outcomes (6 485 000)

Difference 3 718 219 x

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Per AFS (82 827 481)

Per MTEF Budget estimated outcomes (95 502 000)

Difference 12 674 519 x

Total (6 058 174)

21. Post Reporting Date Events

None

22. Standards and Interpretation not yet Effective as at 31 March 2013
The following is a list of Standards of GRAP approved but for which the Minister of Finance has not yet determined an 
effective date:

Reference Topic
GRAP 105 Transfer of Functions Under Common Control
GRAP 106 Transfer of Functions Between Entities Not Under Common Control
GRAP 107 Mergers

Approved Standards of GRAP which entities are not required to apply:

Reference Topic
GRAP 18  Segment Reporting

The accounting policy detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements details the list of all GRAP Standards effective and 
adopted by the agency.

The following International Accounting Standard is considered by the agency:

IAS 12  Income Tax
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24. Business Combinations

24.1. AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited
On 1 March 2012, the functions comprising all operations, employees, assets and liabilities of the wholly-owned subsidiary, 
AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Propietary) Limited were transferred to the agency (then the ECRFC). The transfer was undertaken 
in order to unlock synergies between the two entities, as both entities had a mandate of rural development and agrarian 
reform. The transfer of functions has been accounted for in accordance with the agency’s policy on the transfer of functions 
between entities under common control, which is consistent with the applicable standard of GRAP (GRAP 105).

The agency acquired / assumed the following assets / liabilities on 1 March 2012, as part of the transfer of functions from 
AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Propietary) Limited:

2013 2012

Assets acquired: R R

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment - 5 527 086

Intangible assets - 205 100

Livestock	loans	receivable	–	non-current - 1 439 818

- 7 172 004

Current assets

Inventories - 73 629

Trade	and	other	receivables	–	exchange	transactions - 1 039 153

Trade	and	other	receivables	–	non-exchange	transactions - 343 374

Biological assets and agricultural produce - 313 166

Livestock	loans	receivable	–	current - 7 191 179

Cash and cash equivalents - 51 232 953

- 60 193 454

Total assets - 67 365 458

Liabilities acquired:

Current liabilities

Finance lease liabilities - ( 7 040)

Trade	and	other	payables	–	exchange	transactions - (1 811 684)

Trade	and	other	payables	–	non-exchange	transactions - (6 519 443)

Operating lease liability - ( 268 323)

Administrative funds liability - (27 357 713)

Total liabilities - (35 964 203)

Net assets acquired
- 31 401 255

Consideration paid - -

Gain from transfer of functions between entities under common control - 31 401 255
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As a result of the business combination with the AsgiSA-EC, the agency has the following contingencies at 31 March 2012:

Contingent liabilities
Contractual disputes amounting to R1 757 604 was identified at reporting date as a contingent liability. Legal advisors 
have been appointed and the success rate of winning the implied legal action was estimated at 50% at 1 March 2012. A 
third contractual dispute was identified which has not yet been quantified by the claiming party.

Contingent assets
Bad debts to the value of R645 501 is being recovered by the legal department. An acknowledgement of debt was 
signed by the one customer after which there was failure to implement action against him when there was a default on 
payment. The legal department is persuing matters and communicating with the respective customers to recover the 
monies due.

25. Subsequent Events
Management has assessed the operations of the agency, the ongoing business operations and all correspondence and 
contractual obligations that have been exercised during the financial year; the events between the financial year-end 
and the date of approving the financial statements and have not identified any subsequent events that impacts on the 
financial statements presented.

26. Subsidiaries

The following are the subsidiary companies of the group at the reporting date and the groups 
effective holding therein.

2013 2012

% %

Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary) Limited 100 100

Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited 51 51

North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited 100 100

AsgiSA-Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited (amalgamated with the former ECRFC to form the 
Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency)

100 100

All subsidiary companies are directly held by the agency. Also refer to Note 9.

On 1 April 2010, the agency acquired a 100% interest in AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited for zero consideration, 
by transfer from the Eastern Cape Office of the Premier.

On 1 March 2012, the functions comprising all operations, employees, assets and liabilities of the subsidiary were 
transferred to the agency for zero consideration. The investment was impaired to net asset value immediately before the 
transfer took place.

The company (AsgiSA-EC) is incorporated under registration number 2005/008/163/07 in the Republic of South Africa 
and is based in the Eastern Cape Province. The company has a March year-end.
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This investment in the subsidiary is analysed as follows: Agency

R

Shares - at cost -

Gain on acquisition 95 940 968

Carrying amount at 31 March 2011 95 940 968

Impairment of investment at 29 February 2012 (64 539 713)

Carrying amount at 29 February 2012 31 401 255

Transfer of functions between entities under common control on 1 March 2012 (31 401 255)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2012 -

Carrying amount at 31 March 2013 -

27. Financial Instruments Per Category

27.1. Financial Assets by Category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below

Agency

2013

Amortised

Fair Value Cost Cost

Cash and cash equivalents - 63 030 958

Trade and other receivables 61 054 423 - -

Receivables owing from the Eastern Cape Department of Rural Development and 
Agrarian Reform

13 458 - -

Loans and advances to customers - 49 351 650 -

Investments under contingency policy - 7 293 387

61 067 881 56 645 037 63 030 958

Agency

2012

Amortised

Fair Value Cost Cost

Cash and cash equivalents - 192 608 430

Trade and other recievables 1 974 464 - -

Loans and advances to customers - 59 541 444 -

Investments under contingency policy - 6 892 175

1 974 464 66 433 619 192 608 430
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27.1. Financial Assets by Category (continued)

Group

2013

Amortised

Fair Value Cost Cost

Cash and cash equivalents - 87 406 965

Trade and other receivables 61 995 678 - -

Receivables owing from the Eastern Cape Department of

Rural Development and Agrarian Reform 13 458 - -

Loans and advances to customers 49 351 650 - -

Investments under contingency policy - 7 293 387

Investments - - -

Receivable owing from Arengo 316 (Proprietary) Limited 7 410 378 - -

Investment in Agrarian Research and Development Agency

(Proprietary) Limited - - -

Investment in Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited - - -

Investment in North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited - - -

Investment in AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited - - -

118 771 164 7 293 387 87 406 965

Group

2012

Amortised

Fair Value Cost Cost

Cash and cash equivalents - 194 435 074

Trade and other receivables 61 054 423 - -

Receivables owing from the Eastern Cape Department of

Rural Development and Agrarian Reform - - -

Loans and advances to customers 59 541 444 - -

Investments under contingency policy - 6 892 175 -

Investments - 398 135 -

Receivable from Arengo 316 (Proprietary) Limited 7 410 378 - -

Investment in Agrarian Research and Development Agency

(Proprietary) Limited - - -

Investment in Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited - - -

Investment in North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited - - -

Investment in AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited - - -

128 006 245 7 290 310 194 435 074
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27.2. Financial liabilities by Category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below

Agency 
2013 

Amortised Cost

Trade and other payables 24 360 752

24 360 752

Agency
2012

Amortised Cost

Trade and other payables 15 523 967

15 523 967

Group

2013

Amortised Cost

Trade and other payables 26 121 839

Loan from South African Fruit Exporters (SAFE) 18 083 542

44 205 382

Group

2012

Amortised Cost

Trade and other payables 17 377 728

Loan from South African Fruit Exporters (SAFE) 15 595 015

32 972 743

28. Going Concern
In terms of the PFMA excess funds should be surrendered to the Provincial Treasury. Provincial Treasury took action to 
ensure compliance on this requirement during the 2013 financial year. Refer to note 28 for more detail.

The excess funds and all adminsitrative funds controlled on behalf of other Government Departments were surrendered 
to the Provincial Treasury. The agency has a legal obligation to perform in terms of the entered agreements with the Land 
Claims Department and the Department of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform. Subsequent to the surrender of the 
funds, the agency had to use own funds to facilitate these committed expenses.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2013



29. Comparative Figures

The comparative figures have been re-stated. Certain transactions by a subsidiary, Kangela Citrus, was amended on the 
separate financial statements. Adjustments include a finance lease that was recognised, intangible assets in the form of 
packaging rights were accounted and a VAT debtor was corrected. The changes affects the comparative figures as follows:

Balance

previously Restated balance

Statement of Financial Performance reported (Group) (Group) Error corrected

Finance costs 584 428 602 592 18 164

Other operating expenses 6 008 386 6 000 959 -7 427

Depreciation of investment property and property, plant and

equipment 4 759 807 4 786 215 26 408

Leasing charges 1 248 579 1 214 744 -33 835

Administrative expenses (Workmen’s compensation) 52 331 127 677 75 346

Total impact on expenses 86 083

Reclassification of income items*

Other income (non-exhange revenue) 16 952 301 6 808 044 -10 144 257

Commission fees for managing projects (non-exhange) 3 792 676 - -3 792 676

Fair value adjustments (exchange) - 10 144 257 10 144 257

Commission fees for managing projects (exhange) - 3 792 676 3 792 676

Total impact on income -

* The ‘Commission fees for managing projects’ and the ‘Fair value adjustment’ income items were reclassified from non-
exchange revenue to exchange revenue in the current financial year. The comparative figures were amended accordingly.

Balance previously Restated balance

Statement of Financial Position reported (Group) (Group) Error corrected

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 26 219 577 26 309 804 90 227

Intangible assets 1 611 215 1 789 715 178 500

Current assets

VAT receivable 546 705 383 381 -163 324

Trade and othe receivables 1 278 087 1 099 587 -178 500

Liabilities

Finance lease obligation - non-current 139 661 230 790 -91 129

Finance lease obligation - current 227 585 245 844 -18 259

Trade and other payables 17 233 015 17 377 728 -144 713

Equity

Accumulated Surplus 155 804 872 156 132 070 327 198
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On the revaluation reserve R4 238 was charged in respect of other comprehensive income on the capitalisation of the 
intangible asset. The expense items affected by the errors have been updated accordingly.

Unspent funds were surrendered to the Provincial Treasury as required by Section 38(1)(b) of the PFMA. The liability was 
accrued in the 2012 balances. The effect of this adjustment is:

Balance previously Restated balance

Statement of Financial Position reported (Group) (Group) Error corrected

Liabilities

Current portion of unspent conditional grants and receipts - -79 169 829 -79 169 829

A detailed breakdown of surrendered funds are included. The R79 169 829 relates to operations of the ECRDA. The 
remaining balance of R44 121 690 is already disclosed as liabilities in the administered funds note.

Administered Project Surrendered Balance

Administered Farm Rescue Funds 15 607 997

Ostrich Project Fund 572 510

Irrigation Funds 2 688 074

Qamata Maize Fund 16 404

IDT Loan Fund 158 351

Zanyokwe Irrigation Fund 254 142

Keiskammahoek Dairy Fund 383 860

Ploughing Fund 213 611

Pineapple Fund 1 617 817

Massive Food Interest 14 040 268

Macadamia Funds 7 000 000

Disaster Funds 273 076

AsgiSA funds 1 103 896

Total Administered Funds surrendered 43 930 006

Department of Land Affairs’ funds 17 682 774

Department of Rural Development Fund 6 315 468

Non-Government funds that belongs to private investors 763 177

24 761 419

Own Reserves/Establishment Capital 14 663 269

Total surrendered to Treasury 83 354 694

Reduction in Government Grant 40 700 000

Total funds surrendered to Treasury 124 054 694

By surrending the seed capital of the agency, the agency is not in a financial viable position to grant loans to assist 
upcoming farmers. The operations of the entity is directly affected by the surrendering of available funds.
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The Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency (ECRDA) publicly disclosed budget is prepared on the cash basis whilst the Annual 
Financial Statements is prepared on the accrual basis. The budget is classified per strategic goal regardless of the underlying 
operating expenditure items whereas the ECRDA consolidated annual financial statements is based per income and expenditure 
line items. Both the Annual Financial Statements  and the budget covers the period 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013.

The comparison of budget and actual amounts are based on the MTEF Budget narrative as presented to the Department 
of Rural Development and Agrarian Reform and the Eastern Cape Provincial Treasury.

There was no adjustment estimate approved by Provincial Treasury during the year under review.

Actual 2011/12 Actual 2012/13 Budget 2012/13 Variance

Revenue 45 837 207 162 050 196 159 368 000 2 682 196

Sale of goods and services 4 313 290 3 169 866 - 3 169 866

Interest, dividends and rentals 3 780 720 3 082 088 1 747 000 1 335 088

Other non-tax revenue 671 197 798 242 2 621 000 -1 822 758

Transfer received 37 072 000 155 000 000 155 000 000 -

Expenses 45 236 226 119 369 498 157 269 000 -37 899 502

Compensation of employees 27 999 782 29 578 887 50 908 000 -3 519 853

Goods and services 14 396 252 29 578 881 48 752 000 -19 173 119

Depreciation 1 411 548 4 237 094 4 367 000 -129 906

Interest, dividends and rentals 1 428 643 2 477 742 3 242 000 -764 258

Transfers and Subsidies - 35 687 634 50 000 000 -14 312 366

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 600 981 42 680 698 2 099 000 -35 217 310

Reason(s) for material variances
i) Interest earned exceeded the budgeted amount due to actual cash flows being different from planned cash flows 

during the year. Significant expenditure took place during the fourth quarter. 

ii) Revenue from donations and non-government grant and discounts received were lower than expected.  The ECRDA 
brand has not attracted contributions from other sources and the cash flow situation of the ECRDA during the year 
prevented payments taking place earlier than normal terms.

iii) Compensation of employees was less than budget due to resignations during the financial year and the vacancies in 
the organogram. 

iv) Expenditure on goods and services for ECRDA’s own projects was less than budgeted due to cash flow constraints. 
The ECRDA implemented projects on behalf of other departments. The funding model was that the ECRDA pays the 
project expenses from its own government tranches and then claim it from the departments. The funding that should 
be utilised for ECRDA projects was thus tied up in debtors. 

v) The tranches to subsidiaries and dependent entities take place upon request. Kangela Citrus (Property Limited) requested 
the agency not to transfer any funds until the entity has reconsidered its internal arrangements. Similarly, the whole 
tranche was not transferred to Magwa Tea Estate as the tea estate has not yet defined a turnaround strategy. 
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Reconciliation between the detailed income statement and the budget versus actual comparison:

Actual 2011/12 Actual 2012/13

Total Income as per Income Statement 46 357 432 180 229 874

Less:

Results from Lending activities (13 022) (2 922 200)

Impairment reversed (deferred grant) ** - (12 800 000)

Commission fees for managing projects (accrued) - (2 457 477)

Revenue from non-exchange transactions (507 203) -

Total Income for comparison of budget and actual income 45 837 207 162 050 196

Total Expenses as per Income Statement 142 263 500 129 930 076

Less:

Bad debts - rental and other income (57 640) (77 667)

Bad debts - Loans - (5 586 703)

Fair value adjustment on sale of biological assets - (115 909)

Fee - MAFISA Scheme (543 952) (614 243)

Impairment loss - (6 391)

Impairment of receivable owing by DRDAR (14 610 000) -

Impairment of fees receivable from administered funds (14 338 939) -

Impairment of subsidiary investment (66 189 572) -

Scrapping of obsolete property, plant and equipment (8 134) (839 478)

Minor assets expensed (27 930) (10 967)

Project expenses (529 750) (1 542 342)

Social benefit from concessionary loans (721 360) (766 878)

Total Expenses for comparison of budget and actual income 45 236 223 119 369 498

Net result 600 981 42 680 698

Statement of Comparison of the Budget and Actual 
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Unaudited supplementary schedule

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

INCOME
Interest income on loans and advances 13 999 023 4 144 295 13 999 023 5 389 523

Net credit impairment charge (11 124 518) (4 189 873) (11 124 518) (7 651 510)

Credit impairment charge (11 082 809) (3 888 796) (11 082 809) (4 326 049)

Write off of irrecoverable loans and advances (1 380 666) ( 765 256) (1 380 666) (3 789 640)

Interest on concessionary loans 1 233 011 - 1 233 011 -

Recovery of loans and advances previously written off 105 946 464 179 105 946 464 179

Net interest margin on lending activities 2 874 504 (45 578) 2 874 504 (2 261 987)

Loan initiation fees 47 696 58 600 47 696 58 600

Result from lending activities 2 922 200 13 022 2 922 200 (2 203 387)

Interest income on loans and advances / Average
gross loans and advances 2.47% 3.07% 2.47% 3.99%

Insurance contract income 86 807 176 099 86 807 183 826

Insurance contract claims ( 10 842) ( 14 997) ( 10 842) ( 14 997)

Movement in provision for insurance contracts

Result from insurance activities 75 965 161 102 75 965 168 829

Other income 22 231 708 9 111 308 43 180 303 68 083 758

Commission fees for managing projects 2 457 477 3 792 676 2 457 477 3 792 676

Discount received 107 569 99 850 107 569 99 850

Fair value adjustment - 8 821 - 10 144 257

Funding - other (ring-fenced) - - - 2 132 836

Government grant income (conditional) - 511 793 - 889 635

Interest income on cash and investments * 2 037 691 2 734 728 2 091 240 3 196 841

Impairment reversed (deferred grant) ** 12 800 000 - 12 800 000 -

Impairment of investment in subsidiary reversed - - 14 345 -

National Skills Fund 171 156 143 299 171 156 143 299

Private telephone calls recovered 292 117 195 268 292 117 195 268

Rental income from investment property 1 044 396 1 045 992 1 044 396 1 174 370

Revenue from non-exchange transactions - 507 203 - 7 409 468

Revenue on planned sale of asset 9 390 - 9 390 -

Reversal of impairment 2 954 399 - 2 954 399 -

Sale of goods 206 078 - 20 511 120 35 173 174

Sundry income 151 434 71 678 727 093 3 732 084

Government grant from Eastern Cape Department of Rural 
Development and Agrarian Reform for operations

155 000 000 37 072 000 155 000 000 37 072 000

TOTAL INCOME 
and balance carried forward

180 229 874 46 357 432 201 178 467 103 121 200

** The impairment reversal relates to an impairment raised in the 2012 year on funds owed by the Department (non-exchange). The 
funds were however deferred so the impairment was reversed to defer the expected grant.

* Interest received on cash and cash equivalents does not include interest received on an agency basis on behalf of the administered 
funds. Such interest is credited to administered funds as set out in Note 12.
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Unaudited supplementary schedule

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Balance brought forward 180 229 874 46 357 432 201 178 467 103 121 200

EXPENSES

Accounting fees - internal audit 443 898 860 865 452 398 874 491

Audit fees 3 024 371 2 843 585 3 304 310 5 104 983

Bad debts - rental and other income 77 667 57 640 103 109 57 640

Bad debts - Loans 5 586 703 - 5 586 703 -

Bank charges 219 898 153 445 253 906 280 974

Contingent insurance policy administration fee 42 000 42 000 42 000 42 000

Cleaning 357 996 189 917 359 554 236 866

Commission - - 50 044 19 919

Communitty capacity development 4 500 - 4 500 535 980

Communication and public relations - - - -

Computer maintenance 102 322 23 154 119 939 50 187

Computer software maintenance 1 098 151 390 076 1 098 151 390 076

Cost of Sales 206 078 - 16 015 050 28 074 375

Crop production/ harvesting/ irrigation expenses - - - 30 097 619

Donations 9 733 - 11 070 -

Debt collection service fees 89 186 91 268 89 186 91 268

Depreciation of investment property and property,

plant and equipment 4 237 094 1 411 548 5 569 043 4 786 215

Directors’ remuneration - fees 3 978 787 1 031 250 3 978 787 1 031 250

Directors’ travelling and subsistence - non executive 1 475 704 353 121 1 526 325 1 736 580

ECRDA Establishment costs 2 655 962 - 2 655 962 -

Entertainment - - 17 812 52 158

Fair value adjustment on sale of biological assets 115 909 - 4 854 423 -

Farmers’ rehabilitation 151 049 326 307 151 049 326 307

Fee - MAFISA Scheme 614 243 543 952 614 243 543 952

Fertiliser, seeds and insecticides, farming costs - - 629 646 2 362 540

Finance costs 27 980 72 510 238 648 602 592

Fruit production - - - -

General expenses 14 148 166 754 20 306 936 775

Insurance 381 949 273 069 568 089 866 406

Interest rebate - - - -

Impairment loss 6 391 - 6 391

Impairment of inventory - - - 3 332 439
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Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Impairment of receivable owing by the Eastern

Cape Department of Rural Development and

Agrarian Reform - 14 610 000 - 14 610 000

Impairment of fees receivable from administered funds - 14 338 939 - 14 338 939

Impairment of subsidiary investment - 66 189 572 - -

Leasing charges 7 400 - 61 177 1 214 744

Legal expenses 339 892 81 924 484 508 182 129

Loan application screening 26 535 39 092 26 535 39 092

Scrapping of obsolete property, plant and equipment 839 478 8 134 847 423 505 604

Marketing 494 092 588 085 535 672 2 226 899

Minor assets expensed 10 967 27 930 35 948 81 558

Motor vehicles: fuel and maintenance 567 793 214 559 584 300 1 299 340

Municipal services - rates, water and electricity 834 464 702 075 1 256 163 2 948 666

Penalties and Fines 43 779 - 79 373 -

Postages 113 090 114 940 118 493 127 750

Printing and stationery 1 098 800 267 023 1 139 970 524 970

Professional Fees 537 427 128 363 723 871 5 596 491

Project expenses 1 542 342 529 750 1 655 248 529 750

Project expenses - (DAFF, Joe Gqabi & Tourism) - - - 1 692 540

Balance carried forward 31 377 778 106 670 847 55 869 323 128 352 064
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Unaudited supplementary schedule

Agency Agency Group Group

2013 2012 2013 2012

R R R R

Balance Brought Forward 31 377 778 106 670 847 55 869 323 128 352 064

Protective clothing and uniforms - - 16 795 35 750

Rebate of Interest - 533 - 533

Relocation - staff and offices - 1 715 - 1 715

Rental charges on land and buildings 2 450 649 1 355 600 2 482 565 1 740 772

Rental of equipment - - 51 891 -

Repairs and maintenance - general 261 985 192 959 852 175 1 464 403

Repairs and maintenance - buildings 15 353 16 223 15 353 16 223

Subsidiary grants 35 687 634 - 30 687 634 -

Salaries - medical aid contributions 1 153 216 954 671 1 153 216 1 016 851

Salaries - provident fund contributions 3 347 128 2 491 691 3 347 128 2 491 691

Salaries and wages 42 887 803 24 553 421 51 089 101 56 247 255

Security 1 100 921 831 990 1 218 693 1 010 514

Skills levy 420 843 234 037 420 843 234 037

Staff recruitment 60 099 - 77 199 4 104

Staff refreshments 230 120 113 256 240 664 118 694

Staff training 1 557 893 441 032 1 685 942 846 114

Staff welfare 74 316 323 124 74 316 353 319

Stakeholder management 504 086 25 000 504 086 25 000

Subscriptions 72 728 38 036 73 866 232 482

Social benefit from concessionary loans 766 878 721 360 766 878 721 360

Taxation expense condoned - - - -

Telephone calls and data lines 3 238 447 1 982 567 3 305 638 2 822 398

Material loss through criminal conduct - - 122 158 -

Transport and freight of produce - - - 2 669 508

Travelling, accommodation and subsistence 3 651 568 1 263 108 4 273 364 2 862 082

Value chain development ( livestock) - - - -

Workmen’s compensation 70 630 52 332 93 413 127 677

TOTAL EXPENSES 128 930 076 142 263 502 158 422 241 203 394 546

(DEFICIT) / SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION 51 299 798 (95 906 070) 42 756 226 (100 273 346)

TAXATION - - 390 295 133 569

(DEFICIT) /SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION 51 299 798 (95 906 070) 42 365 931 (100 139 777)

Composition:

ECRDA 51 299 798 (95 906 070)

Agrarian Research and Development Agency (Proprietary)

Limited (5 741 821) (4 065 597)

Kangela Citrus Farms (Proprietary) Limited (3 221 576) (4 657 996)

North Pondoland Sugar (Proprietary) Limited 29 530 298 988

AsgiSA - Eastern Cape (Proprietary) Limited - 4 190 895

42 365 930 (100 139 779)
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